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This report has been prepared to assist shareholders to assess the Board’s strategies 

and their potential of success. The statements contained herein may include declarations 

of future expectations and other forward-looking statements that are based on 

management’s current views and assumptions. These involve risks and uncertainties 

that could cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially from those 

expressed or implied in such statements.   

Readers are advised not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements 

these statements rely on assumptions and hypotheses which inherently represent an 

accuracy risk. Actual results, performance and events may differ from those in such 

statements due to general evolution of economic, political and industry conditions, 

interest rate levels, currency exchange rates as well as changes in laws and regulations 

and the extent of competition and technological factors. In addition, MCB Group 

Limited does not undertake to update any forward-looking statement that may be made 

from time to time by the organisation or on its behalf.
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Dear Shareholder,

The Directors of MCB Group Limited are pleased

to present its Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The Annual Report was approved by the Board of Directors

on 29 September 2015.

J. Gérard HARDY

Chairperson

Pierre Guy  NOEL

Chief Executive
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About this 

Annual Report
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Demonstrating our  Value Creation
MCB Group Limited (hereinafter referred to as ‘MCB Group Ltd’ or ‘Company’) embraces the principles of 

integrated reporting. Through the latter, the Group (with the term ‘Group’ signifying the consolidation of all the subsidiaries 

and associates of MCB Group Ltd) provides a clear and intelligible overview of its commitment to long-term value creation 

for the benefit of its multiple stakeholders. Besides, by providing transparent, comprehensive and balanced insights on the 

functioning and performance of our businesses, we ensure that readers of this report readily find the information that they 

are looking for.

Scope and Materiality
The report covers the period spanning 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015. Wherever deemed relevant, the report also extends 

beyond the financial reporting boundary for a better understanding of the Group.

Specifically, the report provides an overview and appraisal of the operating background, governance structure, inherent 

functioning, strategic and market positioning and achievements, as well as the financial performances and prospects of 

the subsidiaries and associates held by MCB Group Ltd. The nature and extent of information delivered depend on the 

significance of each entity to the Group.  Thus, banking activities catered for in and from Mauritius and undertaken under 

the aegis of  The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited – with the appellation being interchanged with ‘MCB Ltd’, ‘MCB’ or the 

‘Bank’ designation – are prominently covered throughout the report. Focus is laid, throughout the report, on initiatives and 

performance outcomes that are deemed to be material enough to notably impact our strategic realisations and stakeholders’ 

assessments of our ability to consistently meet their requirements.

Responsibility and Assurance 
Due care has been taken to ensure that the contents of the report comply with the obligations and requirements falling 

under relevant laws, regulations, codes and standards of good practices. Specifically, the financial statements, which have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and relevant regulatory requirements, have 

been externally verified by our auditors.
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Jun 15 Jun 14 Jun 13 Jun 12 Jun 11

Income Statement (Rs m)

6,526 4,946 5,040 4,885 5,082

5,722 4,365 4,345 4,125 4,491

280,013 240,886 216,528 191,283 172,689

167,181 154,471 150,604 138,125 122,129

219,681 186,088 166,113 150,877 136,210

5,556 5,409 - - 1,279

35,933 30,968 28,506 25,315 23,729

2.2 1.9 2.1 2.3 2.7

17.1 14.7 16.1 16.8 20.4

78.8 86.4 93.2 93.7 92.1

41.8 43.1 44.5 46.0 42.6

12.8 12.9 13.2 13.2 13.7

17.3 16.3 13.1 12.8 14.5

of which Tier 1 14.5 13.3 12.2 11.9 12.8

10,755 11,711 7,779 6,277 4,346

NPL ratio 6.2 7.3 5.0 4.4 3.4

5,900 6,225 4,232 3,272 3,276

54.9 53.1 54.4 52.1 75.4

Notes: 

Highlights
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Distribution of total assets

17.1%

RETURN ON

EQUITY

Rs  24.04

EARNINGS

PER SHARE

31.1%2.4%

Rs 8.00
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PER SHARE

24.0%
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Rs173.1 bn 

GROSS LOANS

7.7%

Rs 219.7bn 

DEPOSITS

18.1%
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Rs13.2 bn 

OPERATING

INCOME

7.7%

Rs 5.7 bn 

ATTRIBUTABLE

PROFIT

31.1%

MCB Ltd - Segment A

MCB Ltd - Segment B

Foreign banking subsidiaries & associate

Non-banking financial & Other investments

Note: Segment B refers to the provision of international financial 
services that give rise to foreign-sourced income while Segment 
A relates to locally-sourced earnings.

Rs 280 bn

62%

25%

7%
6%

Rs 5.7 bn 39%

44%

11%

6%
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During FY 2014/15, the Group made further headway in sharpening its local market footprint, broadening 

its international involvement and boosting its non-bank activities. Towards these ends, it further enriched 

its value proposition, reinforced the quality of its customer relationships, enhanced its risk management 

proficiencies, bolstered its internal capabilities, and attained higher operational efficiency levels.

• Elaboration, with the assistance of international consultants, of a Medium Term Growth Strategy by the Bank to underpin 

the materialisation of its business development aspirations

• Consolidation of retail and corporate customer segments; widened base of foreign premium clients

• Provision of the second edition of preferential credit facilities named ‘Green Loans’, pursuant to the new loan agreement 

signed with Agence Française de Développement

• Further deployment of the Group’s ‘Bank of Banks’ initiative towards upholding its positioning as a regional platform for 

providing adapted solutions to banking peers

• Opening of a Representative Office in Kenya by the Bank; increased activity on the African syndicated loan market and 

secondary market for purchase and sale of risks; enhanced appeal of the Bank as a privileged partner for asset-based 

structured trade finance 

• Reinforced market position of MCB Capital Markets Ltd in respect of corporate finance on the domestic scene and 

increasing focus being laid on tapping into opportunities in Africa

• Continued build-up of assets under management by MCB Capital Markets Ltd

• Further development of the business network of MCB Consulting Services Ltd

• International Card Processing Services Ltd securing interesting partnerships with new banks in Africa and the Indian 

Ocean

• Agreement signed with Société Générale for participation by the latter in the equity of MCB Moçambique
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Strengthening foundations for market expansion and diversification
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• Improved specificities/functionalities of MCB’s retail offerings; active utilisation of the Net Promoter Score to effectively 

assess the evolution of customer satisfaction levels

• Reinforced appeal and array of features with respect to our ‘Juice’ mobile payments platform

• Deployment of Self Service Kiosks and Bunch Note Acceptors in selected branches

• Revamped set-up of lounges meant for premium clients

• Enhanced brand and relationship-building through corporate events, roadshows and sponsorship of international 

conferences

• Strengthened support to small and medium enterprises (SMEs), notably with the full-fledged operation of a ‘Knowledge 

Centre’ 

• Launch of new funds by MCB Capital Markets Ltd, e.g. successful structuring and marketing of capital-guaranteed 

products by the latter

• Capital restructuring leading to an increase in the core capital level of MCB Ltd

• Merger of the Bank’s International and Corporate segments initiated to form a new Corporate and Institutional Banking 

Strategic Business Unit

• Upgrading of the risk management framework, tools and systems across the Group

• Implementation of the new Core Banking System at MCB Madagascar and seamless upgrade of the platform at MCB Ltd, 

MCB Maldives and MCB Moçambique; revamping of other technological platforms; enhanced display and functionalities 

of the Group’s websites

• Further streamlining of processes for enhanced internal and sales efficiency levels

• Tailored programmes executed to attract, retain and develop human capital; conduct of specialised training at MCB 

Development Centre; upgrade of the Performance Management System

• Full-fledged execution of the Bank’s Business Continuity Management framework

• Strategic partnerships forged by MCB Consulting Services Ltd with leading international solutions providers

• MCB Forward Foundation becoming the first CSR Foundation to be ISO 9001:2008 certified
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Promotion of superior customer relationships and experiences

Reinforcement of growth enablers and improved operational excellence



Rankings

The Banker Top 1000 World Banks
(July 2015)

(in terms of Tier 1 capital)

625th
Among the

Top 1000 Banks 1st In East Africa

18th In Africa

36th in Africa in terms of assets (MCB Ltd)
(Jeune Afrique Top 200 Banks, The Africa Report 2014)101st

in Africa in terms of 
market capitalisation
(African Business Top 250 Companies, May 2015)

in terms of operating income and profitability
(l’Eco Austral Top 500 de l’Océan Indien, June 2015)

LEADING

REGIONAL

BANK
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Awards and recognitions 
by Group entities

Best Bank in Mauritius and

Best product launch in Africa for ‘Juice’
(EMEA Finance African Banking Awards 2015)

Best Bank in Mauritius
(Euromoney Awards for Excellence Survey 2015)

Best Private Bank for Mauritius
(Wealth & Money Management Awards 2015)

Best Private Bank
(PWM/The Banker Global Private Banking Awards 2014)

Best Local Trade Finance Bank in Mauritius
(Global Trade Review 2014)

Overall winner in the SEM-10 category and Best online reporting for MCB Group Ltd;

Overall winner in the financial institutions and Best Risk Management Disclosures for MCB Ltd 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers Corporate Reporting Awards 2015)

Performance Excellence Award
attributed by Citibank, J.P. Morgan Chase and Deutsche Bank 

for MCB’s straight-through processing rate for payments and transfers  

Banking and Financial Services Award 2014
awarded to MCB Seychelles Ltd 

(Seychelles Chamber of Commerce and Industry)

Best Investment Management Company in Mauritius for 2015
attributed to MCB Investment Management Co. Ltd

(World Finance Investment Management Awards 2015 for Mauritius) 

Commercial Bank of the Year for Mauritius
(International Banker 2015 Banking Awards)
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Our Vision

OUR CORE VALUES

Integrity
Honest and trustworthy at all times

Customer care
Delivering unrivalled service

Teamwork
Working together towards a common goal

Our Mission

We will keep finding ways to meet the needs of our customers

We will listen to them and help them achieve their goals

We will help people with ideas to be entrepreneurs

We will be worthy of our shareholders’ confidence

We will do what we can to make the world a better, greener place

And we will never go away

Everyday, we will help make  

Innovation
Proactively seeking out new opportunities

Knowledge
Believing in lifelong learning

Excellence
Being the best we possibly can
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  something happen
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Corporate information

Overview of the Group

Leveraging its 177-year history, MCB Group is an integrated banking and financial services player, with over 

3,000 employees. It offers a wide range of tailored and innovative solutions through dedicated local and 

foreign subsidiaries and associates.

Building on its sound business model, extensive channel capabilities and high service quality, the Group actively assists in the advancement 

of individuals and corporates. At the domestic level, the Group has cemented its position as the leading banking sector player, thus playing a 

key role in promoting the socio-economic development of Mauritius over time. Moreover, underpinned by its ambitious, yet sensible, market 

diversification strategy, the Group has carved out an increasingly prominent position in the region and has expanded beyond, while broadening 

its footprint in the non-financial field. Additionally, the Group acts as a ‘sustainable’ organisation, with initiatives adopted for promoting social 

welfare and natural resource protection.

MCB Group Ltd is listed on the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius since its inception in 1989. It has a broad and diversified 

shareholder base, with more than 18,000 shareholders. It has the largest market capitalisation on the local bourse, with a share of some 23%.

BBB-

F3

Baa3 Support Rating 3

A3.za BB+

Baa2.za
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The above illustration depicts the structure of the Group as it is currently shaped pursuant to the organisation restructuring exercise which was 

initiated last year. The subsidiaries and associates of MCB Group Ltd operate under three distinct clusters, namely ‘Banking’, ‘Non-banking financial’, 

and ‘Other investments’, in line with international standards and domestic regulatory requirements. While MCB Group Ltd is the ultimate holding 

company of the Group’s entities, MCB Investment Holding Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MCB Group Ltd, acts as the holding company 

of all the banking investments of the Group, namely MCB Ltd and the foreign banking subsidiaries and associate. The transfer of the investments in 

the foreign banking subsidiaries from MCB Ltd to MCB Investment Holding Ltd is subject to regulatory approvals being obtained from the national 

authorities. As at the date of this report, approval has been obtained for MCB Seychelles and MCB Maldives and it is expected that the transfer 

of these entities will be effected before the end of calendar year 2015. Approvals in respect of MCB Madagascar and MCB Moçambique are still 

being awaited. In respect of the latter, MCB Group Ltd has signed a partnership agreement with Société Générale aimed at boosting its operations 

and furthering its market expansion. Subject to relevant conditions being met, this joint-venture will lead to Société Générale becoming the main 

shareholder of MCB Moçambique by means of a capital injection. Concurrently, MCB Moçambique will become an associate of MCB Group Ltd.

BANKING*

MCB INVESTMENT HOLDING LTD (100%)

MCB Seychelles Ltd (100%)

MCB Madagascar SA (85%)

MCB Moçambique SA (95%)

MCB (Maldives)
Private Ltd (100%)

Banque Française Commerciale
Océan Indien (Associate)

(49.99%)

MCB Capital Markets Ltd (96%)

MCB Equity Fund Ltd (100%)

MCB Factors Ltd (100%)

Credit Guarantee
Insurance Co. Ltd
(Associate) (40%)

Fincorp Investment Ltd (57.73%)

MCB Properties Ltd (100%)

International Card
Processing Services Ltd (80%)

MCB Consulting Services Ltd  (100%)

MCB Forward Foundation (100%)

Blue Penny Museum (97.88%)

MCB Ltd (100%)

MCB GROUP LTD

NON-BANKING FINANCIAL* OTHER INVESTMENTS*
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Our sound and diversified business model in support of our long-term strategy

Commitment to our core mission, vision and values

Our strategic orientations

Enablers for growth

Delivering sustainable and superior financial performance Generating value for providers of capital and for the 
benefit of our stakeholders

Consolidate our domestic position

• Strong brand image and solid franchise
• Broad-based and diversified market positioning
• Sensible risk management
• High quality customer relationships and experiences

• Innovative and tailored products and services
• Modern and extensive channel capabilities
• Judicious business networking and partnerships
• Sustained internal capacity building

Expand our non-bank activities Grow our international footprint



19MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Banking

Under the aegis of MCB Ltd, domestic markets are catered for by the following business segments.

Local

Foreign

Retail Key facts and figures

Backed by its wide-ranging channel network and enriched value 
proposition, MCB Retail caters for the day-to-day needs and 
requirements of various customer segments, including the high net 
worth clients. Besides, the segment seeks to assist small and medium 
enterprises across economic sectors to realise their needs, while acting 
as an ideal coach for supporting their initiation and development.

Corporate

Through the Corporate and Institutional Banking SBU, MCB Ltd provides 
companies across established and emerging economic sectors with 
flexible and innovative financial solutions and dedicated advice to meet 
their business development ambitions, thus helping to transform 
opportunities into winning strategies and supporting clients in their 
growth endeavours.

Cards

By means of its comprehensive offerings, advanced technology, global 
partnerships and extensive merchant network, MCB Cards acts as a 
one-stop-shop for meeting all cards-related needs of its clients.

• Over 930,000 individual and institutional customers

• Market shares of some 40% in respect of domestic credit to the

  economy and local currency deposits and nearly 50% of cards issued 

• Network of 40 branches/kiosks redesigned as per world-class ‘store’

  concept

• 166 strategically-located ATMs  (of which 8 forex ATMs),

  representing 36% of the national park

• Above 6,700 Point of Sale (POS) terminals, many of which are

  multi-currency and wireless

• Nearly 115,000 registered Internet Banking customers (market share

  of 36%)

• Wide range of mobile services: SMS Banking, Airtime refill through

  mobile phones, Mobile Banking and Mobile Payments (around 40,000

  registrations for ‘Juice’ mobile service)

• Workforce of over 2,500 employees

Foreign involvement Key facts and figures

Via the Corporate and Institutional Banking SBU and assisted by 
representative offices located in Johannesburg, Paris and Nairobi, MCB
Ltd leverages its customised solutions, network of international 
correspondents and access to global finance to widen its footprint in 
sub-Saharan Africa and internationally. Notably, it is an active promoter
of the ‘Bank of Banks’ initiative, while coordinating the delivery of 
services structured by other units of the Group to regional clients. 
Beyond MCB Ltd, the Group’s foreign banking subsidiaries in 
Madagascar, Maldives, Mozambique and Seychelles as well as its overseas 
associate, i.e. Banque Française Commerciale Océan Indien (BFCOI - 
operating in Réunion Island, Mayotte and Paris) provide clients with 
individual and corporate banking solutions that are adapted to local 
market realities, while capitalising on the core capabilities and internal 
synergies within the Group.

• Network of over 1,600 correspondent banks globally
• Around 60 clients being serviced by the Bank in the context of the 

‘Bank of Banks’ initiative
• Active participation in loan syndication as well as structured commodities 

and project financing
• Workforce of some 380 at the level of foreign banking subsidiaries and 

around 400 at BFCOI
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6 6 2 1

170 109 59 43

8.0 3.5 2.1 4.2

Key facts and figuresBeyond the direct banking and non-banking financial services spheres, the 
Group is engaged in consulting services, investment and ancillary under-
takings, while having appropriate structures to promote its actions in the 
corporate social responsibility and philanthropic fields.

• Workforce of some 140 employees in related subsidiaries
• MCB Consulting Services Ltd providing expert business solutions in  
  10 countries
• Some 25 regional clients being serviced by International Card    
  Processing Services Ltd in respect of their cards outsourcing needs
• Rs 67 million entrusted to MCB Forward Foundation; some 75 CSR  
  projects undertaken by the latter over FY 2014/15

Non-banking financial

Other investments

Key facts and figuresThe Group has entrenched its participation in the non-banking financial 
services field. In addition to offering leasing and factoring solutions, the 
Group, through its investment banking arm i.e. MCB Capital Markets Ltd, 
provides end-to-end solutions under one roof to clients seeking advice 
on their strategic and capital market transactions, alongside arranging for 
a broad range of financing tools as well as structuring and placing equity 
and debt instruments with investors. In these respects, our business 
activities, which target both the domestic and regional markets, include 
corporate finance advisory, asset management, stockbroking, private 
equity and registry.

• Workforce of around 125 employees across entities
• MCB Capital Markets Ltd: (i) total assets under management attaining
  around Rs 19 billion; and (ii) 17 dedicated funds and structured
  products being offered
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Everyday Banking
 

Card Products
 

Banking Channels
 

Investment-Related Services  

Securities Services | Corporate Finance Advisory 

Branch Network | ATM

SMS Banking | Mobile Banking | Internet Banking  

Trade Finance  

Business Services  

Checking Facilities | Payroll Services | Secretarial 
Services | Share Registry Services | Confidential Reports |

 

Financing Solutions 

Short and Long-term Financing | Bridging

Loans | Overdrafts | Debentures | Factoring |
‘Green Loans’ | Private Equity  

 

Financing Solutions  

Housing Loans | Personal Loans | 

Education Loans | Car Loans 

Current Account | Savings Account | 
Fixed Deposit | Foreign Currency 

Account | Safe Deposit Lockers | 
Bank Drafts | Forex Transactions

 

Foreign Exchange Services
 

Currency Swaps | Spot & Forward Deals | 

Interest Rate Swaps | International

Transfers & Remittances
 

Debit | Credit Cards |

Pre-paid

 

Payment Services  

Standing Instructions | Direct Debits | Book Transfers | 

Local Bank Transfers | Traveller’s Cheques | 
International Money Transfers | Mobile Payments |

Airtime Refill via Mobile Phones | Bill Payments

 

Education Plan | Retirement Plan  

Dedicated Packages

 

Junior Savings Account | Pack 18:25 | 

MCB Select | Private Banking

 
Financing Solutions

 

Leasing: 
Operating & 

Finance Leases
 

Cards Services  

Point of Sale/Acquiring 
Services | E-Commerce  

International Services  

Global Business  

Custody International 
Transfers 

E-Commerce 

Credit Facilities 

Payments  

SWIFT Services 
 

Multi-Currency Accounts 

Syndicated Loans  

Standard & Structured 
Trade & Commodities 

Financing  Secondary 
Assets Trading

Consultancy
         Services

 

Cards Business 
Outsourcing 

L/C Re-issuance / 
Confirmation 

Financing | Import | Export | Credit 
Protection | Bank Guarantees 

Cross Border 
Project Financing  

MCB Funds | 
Investment Advisory 
Services | Brokerage 
Services | Portfolio 

Management | Custodian

Services | Structured Products | 

Wealth Management

 

Cash Mangement 
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   Employees

   Corporate social responsibility

   Government

   Expansion and growth

Wealth created: Rs 10.9 bn

   Providers of capital

28%

11%

15%

45%

1%
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Our stakeholder engagement

Activities underpinning income generation

Our value creation cycle

We build solid relationships with our 
clients and help them meet their 

ambitions by means of our distinctive 
value proposition

The success of our stakeholders 
allows us to further protect and grow 
our business for future value creation

We ensure that our involvement 
generates sustainable revenue by 

Group entities

Through returns generated, we create 
long-term value for our multiple 

shareholders

Key sources of business activity shaping up our on- and
off-balance sheet positions Income statement impact

Income after credit impairments

Expenses

Share of profit of associates

Income tax expense

Net profit Dividends to shareholders Retained earnings

We provide lending/leasing/factoring facilities to our clients, within the limits of regulatory 
capital and prescribed regulatory requirements and by taking into consideration the 
customer’s credit-worthiness, industry dynamics and the economic climate. Furthermore, 
investments are made in treasury securities and funds are placed with banks.

We invest in engaging, developing and retaining our employees to create a solid foundation to 
execute our strategic thrusts and to foster the attainment of customer service excellence.

We invest in establishing and modernising our functioning and operational set-up so as to 
underpin the smooth and effective running of our strategic activities, with costs incurred 
relating notably to information technology systems and physical infrastructures.

Interest income and credit impairment charges

Staff costs

Other operating expenses

In addition to retail and corporate loan facilities, we offer a multitude of products and 
services. In particular, our offerings comprise: transactional, trade-related and risk 
mitigation facilities, portfolio, wealth and asset management as well as investor-related 
services, and business/outsourcing solutions. Furthermore, income is derived from profit 
arising from dealing in foreign currencies and dividend received from investments. 

Non-interest income
=

[Net fee and commission revenue
+

Trading revenue
+

Other revenue]

We source funding from deposits placed by individual and corporate customers as well as 
public sector entities. Besides, we leverage wholesale funding markets when required, 
including the capital and debt markets as well as international financial organisations.

Interest expense
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Board of Directors and 

Committees of the Board



26 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Board of Directors and 

Committees of the Board

Board of Directors

Non-Executive Independent Directors

J. Gérard HARDY (Chairperson)

Sunil BANYMANDHUB

Jean-Jacques DUPONT DE RIVALZ DE ST ANTOINE (as from November 2014)

Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K.

Jean-Louis MATTEI

Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO

Margaret WONG PING LUN

Executive Directors

Pierre Guy NOEL

Gilbert GNANY

Secretary to the Board

MCB Registry & Securities Ltd
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Committees of the Board

Risk Monitoring Committee

Jean-Louis MATTEI (Chairperson)

Jean-Jacques DUPONT DE RIVALZ DE ST ANTOINE

Gilbert GNANY

J. Gérard HARDY

Pierre Guy NOEL

Audit Committee

Sunil BANYMANDHUB (Chairperson)

Margaret WONG PING LUN

Remuneration and 

Corporate Governance Committee

J. Gérard HARDY (Chairperson)

Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K.

Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO 

Pierre Guy NOEL
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Chairperson’s Statement

Strong performance anchored on key foundations

Attributable profits of the Group increased by some 31% to reach Rs 5.7 

billion on the back of continued rise in operating income, contained growth 

in operating costs and a significant drop, as anticipated, in impairment charges.  

This performance is ever more encouraging considering that entities of 

the Group were exposed to difficult conditions in their operating context, 

characterised, inter alia, by challenging economic conditions, excess liquidity 

in the Mauritian banking system and heightened competitive pressures. 

In fact, the Group maintained its business expansion and diversification 

drive, contributing to earnings growth being broad-based, with the share 

of foreign-sourced income in particular increasing to some 55% of Group 

results.

In our quest to promote balanced and sustained development of our 

business, we continued to attach foremost importance to the refinement of 

the key enablers for growth.  On the basis of a customer-centric approach, 

the value proposition has been further upgraded with the objectives of 

improving service quality and addressing the growing needs of clients in 

increasingly sophisticated markets. In parallel, the Group maintained its 

investment in technology and human capital while simplifying processes 

for enhanced operational efficiency. Moreover, the expansion of our 

international involvement, a key axis of which remains the ‘Bank of Banks’ 

initiative, is also being underpinned by strengthened business partnerships 

and correspondent banking relationships as well as greater market visibility,  

with a notable achievement during the year being the setting up of the Bank’s 

Representative Office in Nairobi.  Another highlight of the year relates to 

the signature of an agreement with Société Générale for its participation 

in the equity of MCB Moçambique, in a bid to bring our operations there 

to new heights. Besides, adoption of good corporate governance and risk 

management principles lie at the core of our undertakings. In this context, 

the restructuring exercise has paved the way for better ring-fencing of 

activities, whereby the entities operate within an autonomous and flexible 

structure. We hope to complete the exercise very soon with the transfer 

of the foreign banking subsidiaries to MCB Investment Holdings Ltd, in 

respect of which a key development lately has been the appointment of its 

Chief Executive who will have an important role in enhancing coordination 

across the Group. As for the risk management framework, it has again 

been reinforced to ensure that business endeavours being undertaken 

or contemplated to meet our medium term ambitions remain within the 

precincts of the appetite set by the Board. In this respect, I am pleased 

to report that the Group has witnessed an appreciable improvement in 

its financial soundness metrics, notably in terms of capitalisation and asset 

quality. 

In line with our sound financial health as well as investors’ perceptions, the 

share price of MCB Group Ltd continued to trade favourably as compared 

to the all-share index, notwithstanding some volatility in line with market 

trends. Our share price even reached an all-time high at Rs 225 in July 

2015. On the whole, MCB Group Ltd consolidated its leadership position 

on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (SEM), as epitomised by its market 

capitalisation of around Rs 51.7 billion as at 30 June 2015, representing a 

The Group has performed remarkably well during FY 2014/15 

despite facing a tough environment. Whilst highlighting the 

commitment and dedication of our people, last year’s achievement 

validates that our strategy is working and demonstrates that we 

have the right business model to deliver sustained value for our 

shareholders as well as other stakeholders. 

The year has been marked by further headway made in entrenching 

our business development agenda across markets, with continued 

emphasis laid on reinforcing the foundations for ongoing and 

future growth.
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market share of 23%. Further reflecting our strong credentials, MCB Group 

is ranked 625th worldwide and is positioned at the 18th spot in Africa while 

being the top banking institution in East Africa according to the latest Top 

1000 World Banks listing of The Banker magazine. The Group has won 

several other awards and recognitions in relation to the excellent services 

provided in private banking, investment management, and trade finance 

as well as its corporate reporting. Interestingly, EMEA Finance recently 

conferred the‘best product launch in Africa’ prize to the Juice application. 

Promoting corporate responsibility 

In addition to sustaining its efforts to promote employee engagement in 

line with its philosophy to be an employer of choice, the Group has pursued 

its mission as a caring and responsible corporate citizenship. MCB Forward 

Foundation, which became the first CSR Foundation to be ISO 9001:2008 

certified, was entrusted with a fund of some Rs 67 million during the last 

financial year. 74 projects were financed in favour of absolute poverty 

alleviation and community empowerment as well as socio-economic 

development through support to vulnerable groups alongside promoting 

education, health and the welfare of children amongst others. The Group 

also made further inroads in the pursuit of its internally-generated ‘Initiative 

175’ programme aimed at fostering environment-friendly practices. 

Being embedded in our culture and corporate values, these sustainable 

orientations have underpinned the Group’s selection for the newly launched 

SEM Sustainability Index (SEMSI), in respect of which it was ranked among 

the top 3 performers.

Poised for future growth 

In spite of indications of a relative improvement in some areas such as 

the domestic money market, the Group is likely to be confronted with a 

still delicate operating environment amidst the modest and uneven pace of 

economic recovery on the global scene and the prevalence of structural 

weaknesses across geographies where it is involved. Nonetheless, the Group 

remains well positioned to meet its growth ambitions moving forward. 

Indeed, whilst adopting a sufficiently prudent stance and ensuring adherence 

to regulatory norms as well as international codes where applicable, the 

Group will strive to further entrench the deployment of its multi-pronged 

strategic intents. We will seek to strengthen our positioning within existing 

businesses while carving out an increasingly prominent foothold in emerging 

and niche market segments. In particular, our regional expansion strategy will 

be actively furthered by leveraging our competencies, business relationships 

and intra-Group synergies alongside increasing our brand visibility.  On 

the whole, Group results are expected to grow further in FY 2015/16, 

supported by headway in both banking and non-banking operations.

On a concluding note … 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my appreciation to our 

customers and shareholders for their continued trust in our institution. I 

would also want to thank the management teams and staff of the organisation 

for their hard work towards achieving this year’s excellent results and to 

my fellow directors for their support and contribution. I am confident that, 

together, we will uphold the growth momentum of the Group anchored on 

our quest for excellence, in the process creating long-term wealth for the 

benefit of all our stakeholders.

Before ending, I would like to join other Board members to put on record 

our sincere gratitude to the prodigious contribution that Mr Jean-François 

Desvaux De Marigny provided in fostering the Group’s development during 

the 29 years he spent with MCB Group before retiring this year.  At the same 

time, we would extend our warm welcome to Mr Jean-Jacques Dupont De 

Rivalz De St Antoine, who recently joined the Board and look forward to 

benefiting from his wide-ranging experience.

J. Gérard HARDY 

Chairperson 

MCB Group Limited
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Chief Executive’s Statement

Reinforced fundamentals despite a delicate environment

The Group achieved a strong performance during the year in spite of being 

again confronted with challenging market conditions. Indeed, the global 

economy is yet to resume a firm recovery path whilst being characterised by 

volatility in the financial and currency markets as well as in commodity prices. 

Furthermore, activities of the Group’s entities were exposed to country-

specific difficulties in several markets. In Mauritius, economic growth has been 

restrained in particular by yet another contraction in private investment, 

which continued to impact demand for credit in the banking sector. Margins 

have remained under pressure on account of the excess liquidity situation and 

heightened competitive pressures especially in the retail segment. At another 

level, in line with global trends, banks continue to operate within a highly 

regulated environment.

We have effectively tackled these challenges by pursuing our strategic 

orientations in a sensible manner, leading to sustained business growth. 

Attributable profits for the year were up by 31% to reach Rs 5,722 million, 

with earnings per share rising from Rs 18.34 to Rs 24.04. Operating income 

sustained a resilient growth, underpinned by an increase of 12.4% in net 

interest income and a rise of 16.5% in net fees and commissions whilst 

growth in ‘other income’, excluding non-recurrent gains on sale of securities 

at MCB Ltd level in FY 2013/14, remained relatively flat with a slight drop 

being experienced on the profit on exchange front. With growth in operating 

expenses being well contained, the cost to income ratio dropped to 41.8%. 

Operating profits before provisions thus improved by 10.1%, effective growth 

being of the order of 16.9% when excluding non-recurrent gains on sale of 

securities. Group results for the year also benefited from a significant drop 

in impairment charges at the level of the Bank from the peak attained in FY 

2013/14.  A major source of satisfaction was the foreign-sourced income of the 

banking cluster of the Group, which now accounts for 55% of Group profits 

in spite of a decline in the contribution from our overseas associate BFCOI. 

In the same vein, reflecting business inroads made, the share of non-banking 

operations stood at an appreciable 6% despite the reduced contribution from 

our local associated company, PAD Group.  

The Group’s financial soundness indicators have continued to evolve positively 

during the year under review. Asset quality improved with the gross non-

performing loan ratio falling by nearly 120 basis points at the level of MCB Ltd 

to reach 5.90%, while at Group level an improvement of 108 basis points was 

witnessed. Capital adequacy ratios increased further to reach 17.3% at year 

end, of which 14.5% by way of Tier 1 Capital, while strong funding and liquidity 

positions were maintained, thus providing the Group with a solid foundation 

for the achievement of its future growth ambitions.

Fostering broad-based and sound growth

During the last financial year, the entities within the organisation maintained 

their momentum in implementing their growth initiatives, with intra-Group 

synergies being duly promoted. In the banking cluster, MCB Ltd has bolstered its 

leadership position domestically and effectively responded to the needs of its 

individual and corporate clients on the basis of its continuously enriched offer 

across segments and upgraded channel capabilities with emphasis being laid on 

its digital transformation.  Furthermore, the Bank has established a widening 

market position beyond our local shores. In addition to further headway 

made vis-à-vis international clients in the field of wealth management, the 

Bank continued to reap the benefits of past and ongoing endeavours aimed at 

strengthening its credentials as a privileged partner for loan syndication as well 

The last financial year has been encouraging both from a financial 

perspective and on the operational front. The Group has moved 

ahead with the execution of its expansion strategy, backed by 

enhanced growth enablers and the unflinching support of its people. 

Overall, underlying fundamentals have strengthened despite the 

difficult operating context. 

A key highlight of the year pertains to the improved contribution 

of the banking cluster’s foreign-sourced earnings, whose share in 

Group results has, for the first time, exceeded the 50% mark in line 

with our market diversification endeavours.
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as structured commodities and project financing, particularly in sub-Saharan 

Africa.  As for the Group’s foreign banking subsidiaries, they have pursued 

their balance sheet growth through active measures undertaken to widen 

the range of activities, backed by reinforced risk management. The proposed 

partnership agreement signed with Société Générale, whereby it will inject 

new equity and reinforce the management team of MCB Moçambique, should 

contribute to strengthen the latter’s operations while giving it the means 

to actively participate in the financing of the business avenues linked to the 

country’s appealing economic prospects. In respect of non-banking activities, 

the Group has further extended its domestic market footprint in areas 

such as leasing and factoring, while MCB Capital Markets experienced good 

growth across all its operations while firming up its market visibility, alongside 

increasing the appeal of its value proposition, as evidenced by the launch of 

new funds. The company concluded several corporate finance transactions 

and was able to successfully tap into other investment-related markets in 

Mauritius and in Africa, with key end-results being the notable increases in 

the number of clients attended to and assets under management. Spanning 

the organisation as a whole, further progress has been made in showcasing 

our ‘Bank of Banks’ proposal aimed at positioning the Group as a regional 

hub for handling trade finance, payments and cards operations outsourcing 

services, alongside offering business solutions to financial service providers in 

Africa and Asia, in respect mainly of project management, change management 

and high-end IT services. In this respect, MCB Consulting Services has, during 

the year, leveraged on its expertise and strategic partnerships with leading 

international solution providers to broaden its client base and pursue its 

business development thrust.

While making due allowance for applicable regulatory stipulations, the 

entities of the Group have moved forward on the back of their robust 

risk management infrastructure and clearly-defined risk appetite. Towards 

reinforcing its capitalistic fundamentals, the Group also proceeded with a 

capital restructuring exercise that led to an increase in the core capital at 

the level of MCB Ltd in order to support the Bank’s medium-term growth 

ambitions. Furthermore, market initiatives put in place by our entities have 

been underpinned by an improvement in the agility of their functioning and 

operations. A prominent accomplishment relates to the seamless upgrade of 

or the migration to core banking systems across all our banking subsidiaries, 

which now operate on similar platforms. Alongside enabling them to reinforce 

their operational efficiency and better manage risks, the technological 

enhancement, in the process, assisted our banking entities in registering with 

the US Internal Revenue Service as Participatory Foreign Financial Institutions 

to the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA), to which the relevant 

subsidiaries and funds under MCB Capital Markets Ltd are also registered. 

On another front, the Group sustained its efforts to promote its brand and 

reinforce its business relationships, notably via the organisation of corporate 

events and in participating and sponsoring of international roadshows and 

conferences as well as regional sport events such as the Indian Ocean Games. 

The Bank has also set up a Representative Office in Kenya that should help 

boost our market presence in East Africa. 

Beyond market-based activities, the Group has further entrenched its 

stakeholder engagement by deploying wide-ranging initiatives in favour of 

poverty alleviation, social welfare promotion, natural resource protection and 

energy preservation as part of its CSR initiatives.

Looking ahead

The operating context is set to stay challenging in the short term at least. Global 

growth remains moderate and is subject to downside risks whilst activities 

of the Group across markets are exposed to country-specific difficulties, 

even though the current initiatives to manage excess liquidity domestically 

bodes well for the future. Against this backdrop, alongside being watchful to 

regulatory developments, the Group will maintain its disciplined approach 

to the execution of its strategic plans. Hence, MCB Group will forge ahead 

with its business expansion agenda in conformity with its set risk appetite. 

It will gear up for business opportunities that could arise in the advent of 

a sustained upturn in economic activity in Mauritius and pursue its regional 

diversification drive, backed by heightened market visibility, growing business 

network and adapted financial solutions amongst others. Hence, the ‘Bank of 

Banks’ initiative will be actively promoted while efforts will be maintained to 

consolidate our franchise as a key player for the initiation and materialisation 

of cross-border deals and transactions. Specifically, the Group will step up its 

involvement in business areas where it has garnered long-standing expertise, 

such as international project financing in targeted sectors and energy and 

commodities financing. In support of its growth ambitions both locally and 

beyond, the Group is committed to invest in the latest technology, relentlessly 

aim for operational excellence and be proactive in fostering a optimum work 

environment which is conducive to attracting and nurturing the best talents. 

Furthermore, it will strive to judiciously exploit the synergies across the 

organisation and will seek to optimise capital consumption. Ultimately, we 

ambition to deliver superior customer service at every touch point within the 

Group and in every market in which we operate in order to meet our  clients’ 

needs in line with their expectations.

Words of appreciation

The achievement of these excellent results would not have been possible 

without the unwavering support of our stakeholders. I would thus like to 

extend my gratitude to our customers for partnering with us and to our 

shareholders for their faith in our ability to create value for them.  I would 

also want to thank the members of the various Boards of the Group for their 

contribution and direction in meeting set goals. My appreciation goes to all 

our staff members and management teams for their hard work and dedication 

to meet set objectives and for their commitment to our shared values.

Pierre Guy NOEL 

Chief Executive 

MCB Group Limited
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In our capacity as Company Secretary, we hereby certify that, to the best of our 

returns as are required of the Company under the Companies Act 2001 in terms of 
section 166(d).

Name of Public Interest Entity (‘the PIE’): MCB Group Limited 
Reporting Period: 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015

the Company has complied with the obligations and requirements under the Code of 
Corporate Governance in all material aspects.

Marivonne OXENHAM

Company Secretary

29 September 2015

J. Gérard HARDY    Pierre Guy NOEL
Chairperson     Director

29 September 2015

Company secretary’s certificate

Statement of compliance
(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act)
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Corporate governance report

of the Group. Besides, the non-executive and independent directors’ role 
is to collectively contribute to the development of the strategy as well as 
to analyse and monitor the performance of management against the set 
objectives.

Board Effectiveness

Necessary steps are taken to ensure that the directors execute their 
duties in the most productive manner.  As such, an induction programme is 
conducted for newly appointed directors by the Board in collaboration with 
the management.  The programme includes discussions with executives 
and management, reading materials and presentations which cover their 
roles and responsibilities alongside providing them with an overview of the 
Group’s activities, strategy, structure and major policies. Furthermore, the 
Board Charter provides for the institution of a mechanism to evaluate the 
performance of Board members.  To this end, assessment of the directors 
of MCB Group Ltd will be performed by an external independent 
facilitator in November next on the basis of a detailed questionnaire to be 

of the Board, its structure, size and composition are so established as to 
achieve an appropriate balance of skills and expertise.

Stakeholder Engagement

By promoting sound principles of corporate governance, MCB Group 

corporate culture and brand image of the organisation. In fact, while seeking 
to optimise shareholder value, the Board of MCB Group Ltd strives to 
secure long-term and ethical stakeholder relationships by striking a balance 
between achieving sustainable business growth for the Group and meeting 
the expectations of clients, regulators and society as a whole. To this end, 
the Group has always supported the generally higher risk businesses 
associated with new economic initiatives and start-ups whilst contributing 
to the well-being of the community through an extensive involvement in 

Our Governance Framework

The Board is responsible for the overall stewardship of the Group. It sets 
out the strategic directions and establishes the procedures and practices 
for effective capital and internal controls alongside ensuring adherence 
of the Company and its subsidiaries to relevant legislations and policies. 
To help it carry out its duties and responsibilities, the Board has set up 

which matters affecting the affairs and reputation of the Group are duly 
escalated by the Chairpersons of these committees and the boards of 
subsidiaries. In fact, the framework provides for delegation of authority and 
clear lines of responsibility while enabling the Board to retain adequate 
control and maintain an effective oversight process. Due emphasis is laid 
on risk management through the adoption of appropriate practices and 
structures by Group entities, with respective risk committees playing an 
active role in ensuring that risk-taking activities remain within the precincts 
of the appetite approved by the Board, taking into consideration the sector 

ring-fencing of activities, as gauged by the segregation of banking and non-
banking operations. 

Clear Allocation of Responsibilities

The day-to-day running of the business is entrusted to the management 
executives with the Board regularly monitoring compliance thereof to set 
objectives and policies. In this respect, the Board Charter provides a clear 

and non-executive directors. Hence, amongst others, the Chairperson’s 
role is to make sure that the Board is effective in its duties of setting out 
and implementing the Group’s direction and strategy alongside providing 
leadership thereto while supporting and supervising the Chief Executive. 
The latter’s mandate spans the development and execution of the Group’s 
plans and strategy in line with the policies set by the Board, in addition to 
being responsible for the day-to-day operations. In this respect, executive 

Good corporate governance practices represent a key pillar of the way in which MCB Group operates and conducts business. Indeed, the Board of MCB 
Group Ltd is committed to upholding the highest standards of corporate governance, by promoting principles of integrity, accountability and transparency 
across the organisation, with the aim of maximising the long-term value creation for its stakeholders. Adherence to advocated norms is viewed as being crucial 
to effectively cope with the challenges posed by the increasingly exigent operating environment.

Introduction
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the Group, the Board places due emphasis on the provision of timely and 
accurate information to its stakeholders through adapted communication 

auditing as from FY 2015/16, pending the approval of same at the next 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 

Compliance with Rules and Legislations

The Board of MCB Group Ltd encourages a culture that promotes business 
integrity, fair dealing and professionalism throughout the organisation, 

provision for a corporate code of conduct at the Company level as well as by 
endeavours of the Group’s entities to abide by the highest advocated standards. 
All subsidiaries comply with the provisions of relevant legislations with 
entities in Mauritius also subscribing to the Code of Corporate Governance 
(2003). Moreover, the banking subsidiaries adhere to the underlying Basel 
principles while a Whistleblowing Policy has been adopted in May 2015 
whereby employees can report matters of concern with respect to potential 

With the operating environment remaining challenging from a governance 
and regulatory perspective, the directors continuously monitor and adapt 

of the opinion that MCB Group Ltd complies with the requirements of the 
Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius in all material aspects.

Constitution of MCB Group Limited
The salient features of the Constitution, adopted on 1 April 2014, are 
highlighted below:
•  The Board may, subject to the Companies Act 2001 (“Act”) and its 
Constitution and the terms of issue of any existing shares, issue shares of 
any Class at any time, to any person and in such numbers as the Board may 
approve.  The Board shall not issue further shares unless such issue has been 
approved by ordinary resolution; 

• fully paid-up shares are freely transferable;
•  the shareholders shall approve any issue of shares that are not pro-rata to 

existing shareholding;
•  the Company may purchase or otherwise acquire its own shares in 

accordance with, and subject to, sections 68 to 74, and 108 to 110 of the Act 
and may hold the acquired shares in accordance with section 72 of the Act;

on reasonable grounds that the Company will satisfy the Solvency Test 
immediately after the distribution;

• the quorum for a meeting of the Board is a majority of the directors;

maximum of twelve (12) directors;
•  a director who has declared his interest in a transaction or proposed 

transaction with the Company, shall not be counted in a quorum 
present at the meeting;

•  the directors have the power at any time to appoint any person to 

existing directors but so that the total number of directors shall 

next Annual Meeting of Shareholders and shall then be eligible for 
re-election;

•  the Board shall not vote on a shareholders’ resolution of The 
Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd which would trigger shareholders’ 
rights under sections 105, 108 or 114 of the Act without prior 
consent of the shareholders of MCB Group Ltd. Such shareholders’ 
resolution includes: 

       •  adoption of a Constitution or the alteration or revocation of 
the Constitution;

       •  reduction of the stated capital of the Company under section 
62 of the Act;

       • approval of a major transaction;
       •  approval of an amalgamation of the Company under section 

246 of the Act; 
       • putting the Company into liquidation; and
       • variation of rights attached to a class of shares.
•  the quorum for shareholders’ meeting is twelve (12) shareholders 

present or represented;
•  the Chairperson of a Meeting of Shareholders shall be entitled to a 

casting vote;
•  at each Annual Meeting, one-third of the directors for the time being, 

or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest 

eligible for re-election. The directors to retire every year shall be 
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Board Governance Structure
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Board of Directors

Audit Committee

(AC)

Risk Monitoring

Committee (RMC)

Remuneration and

Corporate Governance

Committee (RCGC)

In accordance with the Constitution of MCB Group Ltd, the objective of the Board is to define the Company’s purpose, strategy and value and determine all 

matters relating to the directions, policies, practices, management and operations of the Company and all its subsidiaries locally and abroad. The Board shall 

thereafter ensure that the Group is being managed in accordance with the directions and delegations of the Board. The Board is ultimately responsible for 

the affairs of the Company. The Company’s Constitution provides that the minimum number of directors shall be five and the maximum number twelve.

The RMC shall assist the Board in setting up risk 

strategies and to assess and monitor the risk 

management process of MCB Group Ltd and all 

its subsidiaries. The Committee shall also advise 

the Board on risk issues and shall monitor the 

risk of the different portfolios against the set 

risk appetite in the case of banking subsidiaries.

Shall consist of at least three members including 

the Chief Executive and at least one independent 

non-executive director.

The Chairperson of the Committee should be a 

non-executive director and shall not be the 

Chairperson of the Board. 

The AC shall assist the Board in the oversight of 

MCB Group Ltd and its subsidiaries, in matters 

relating to the safeguarding of assets, the 

monitoring of control processes and the 

effectiveness of systems, and the preparation of 

accurate financial reporting and statements in 

compliance with all applicable legal requirements 

and accounting standards. 

Shall consist of a minimum of two non-executive 

members, with a majority of independent 

directors from whom the Chairperson shall be 

nominated.

The RCGC shall assist the Board in the 

discharge of its duties relating to all 

remuneration aspects, corporate governance 

matters and nomination of directors and senior 

executives of MCB Group Ltd. 

Shall comprise between three and four 

members with a majority of non-executive 

directors.  The Chairperson of the Committee, 

who shall be an independent non-executive 

director,  shall preferably be the Chairperson of 

the Board. 

The Chief Executive Officer may be a member 

of the Committee. 
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Board of Directors

The methods through which the Board exercises its powers and discharges its responsibilities are set out in the Board Charter of MCB Group Ltd, which 
provides, among others, for the following: 
•  the composition of the Board with an appropriate balance of executive, non-executive and independent directors; 
•  the Chairperson of the Board to be a non-executive or independent non-executive director; 
• the creation of Committees;
•  a corporate code of conduct addressing, inter alia
•  the approval of strategic objectives, policies and corporate values as well as their communication throughout the organisation; 
•  the monitoring of management in respect of the implementation of Board plans and strategies, and compliance with set policies;
•  the existence of clear lines of responsibility and accountability throughout the organisation and compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and codes of 

business practice; 
• Board performance evaluation; 
• a formal and transparent directors’ remuneration policy; 
•  the review of procedures and practices to ensure effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems; and
•  the provision of timely and accurate information to shareholders, relevant authorities and the public. 

and establishing the remuneration of directors and chief executives. The Board presently comprises 9 directors, namely 2 executives and 7 non-executives, 
all of whom are independent.
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The main topics discussed at Board level during the year revolved around, but not limited to, the following:

Strategy and performance
non-banking entities of the Group

• Discussed the downgrade of the ratings of MCB Ltd by Moody’s
• Monitored progress with respect to the unbundling of the overseas banking subsidiaries 

from MCB Ltd  
• Considered and signed an agreement with Société Générale for investment by the latter in 

the share capital of MCB Moçambique

Finance, capital and liquidity

• Approved the transfer of the Floating Subordinated Notes from MCB Ltd to MCB Group Ltd

Governance and risk • Approved charters of the Board and its sub-committees  

• Discussed the risk appetite for MCB Ltd 

• Directors briefed on the principles and requirements in the dealings of the Company’s 

Other
• Discussions held on developments in the operating environment including measures 

contained in the National Budget 2015/16

Board focus areas in FY 2014/15

Committees of the Board

Each committee has its own charter, approved by the Board, setting out its role, composition, powers, responsibility, structure, resources and 
any other relevant matters. Through the deliberations and reporting of its various committees, the Board ensures that the Company and its 
subsidiaries are being managed in line with the Board’s objectives.

Corporate governance report



41MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Risk Monitoring Committee Audit Committee Remuneration and Corporate
Governance Committee

members namely the Chief Executive, the 

executive independent directors, including 
the Chairperson of the Board. It meets at 
least quarterly and on an ad hoc basis when 
required.

Its main responsibilities include:
• overseeing the development of an effective 

risk management framework for the Group 
by implementing rigorous internal processes 
and controls which identify, monitor, measure 
and report different types of risks;

• reviewing the principal risks, including credit, 
market, liquidity, operational, compliance 
and reputational risks as well as the actions 
taken to mitigate them;

•  reviewing regular information on risk 
exposures and risk management activities, 
and make appropriate recommendations to 
the Board;

• setting risk exposure limits, as well as the 
delegation and authorisation procedures;

• monitoring risk portfolios against set limits 
with respect to, inter alia, risk concentration, 
asset quality, large and foreign country 
exposures, in compliance with regulations 
and internal policies;

•  ensuring that clear lines of responsibility 
and accountability exist and are enforced 
throughout the organisation;

• ensuring that the Group complies with all 
the relevant laws, regulations and codes of 
business practice; and

• reviewing any legal matters that could have a 

subsidiaries’ business.

Consisting of two independent non-executive 
directors, the committee meets at least four 
times a year corresponding to the Company’s 
quarterly reporting cycle. In particular, it 
reviews the quarterly results and annual 

approval by the Board. Of note, to effectively 
carry out its duties, the Committee holds 
consultations with audit committees of 
subsidiaries as deemed appropriate.

Its main responsibilities, amongst others, 
include:
•  reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s 

internal control and reporting systems;
• monitoring the effectiveness of the internal 

audit function;
•  assessing audit matters pertaining to the 

Company and its subsidiaries;

in accordance with prescribed standards;
• making recommendations to the Board on 

the appointment of external auditors;
• monitoring the effectiveness and independence 

of external auditors and assessing the 
implications of the supply of non-audit 
services;

• reviewing the overall scope and deliverables 
of external auditors as well as their 
remuneration; and

•  ensuring compliance by the Company and 
its subsidiaries, with the requirements 
of relevant constitutions, legislations and 
regulations.

Presided by the Chairperson of the Board 
who is an independent non-executive 
director, the committee currently comprises 
four members including the Chief Executive. 
The committee meets at least twice a year 
and on an ad hoc basis when required.

Its main responsibilities include:
• identifying and recommending suitable candidates 

for the boards and committees of the Company 
and its subsidiaries while ascertaining that 

•  reviewing the Board structure, size and 
composition to achieve an appropriate 
balance of skills and expertise, with a 
majority of independent non-executive 
directors;

•  establishing clear criteria for selecting 
prospective directors and evaluating the 
performance of current directors;

• setting and developing the Group’s general 
policy concerning the remuneration of 
directors;

•  reviewing the remuneration of directors, 
taking into account their responsibilities and 
workload;

•  making recommendations to the Board 
regarding the use of incentive plans and 
equity-based remuneration;

•  reviewing the succession plan of senior 
executives and the list of talents;

•  determining and developing the Group’s 
general policy on corporate governance 
in accordance with the applicable Code of 
Corporate Governance; and

exists/arises in conducting business.

The key responsibilities/activities of each of the Board Committees are described hereafter.
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Directorate

The Board comprises 9 directors who have a proven track record in various fields, with the average age of directors standing at 61 years.

J. Gérard HARDY - Age 71

Non-Executive Independent Director and Chairperson
 

Gérard has experienced an enriching career in France, having spent 8 

years with KPMG and 17 years with the IP Group before setting up his 

own consultancy firm there. He returned to Mauritius in June 2001 and 

was appointed to the Board of MCB Ltd in 2002, on which he was elected 

Vice President. In July 2003, at the request of the Board of the Bank, he 

chaired its Management Committee until its dissolution at the beginning 

of 2005. He was President of the Board of MCB Ltd until March 2014 

when he joined the Board of MCB Group Ltd following the restructuring 

of the Group.  

He is currently Chairperson of the Board of MCB Group Ltd and of 

the Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee while being a 

member of the Risk Monitoring Committee.

Sunil BANYMANDHUB - Age 66

Non-Executive Independent Director

Sunil has occupied senior positions in the private sector in Mauritius 

prior to launching his own transport company in 1990. In 2001, he joined 

the CIM Group, a company engaged in financial and international services, 

from which he retired as Chief Executive Officer in 2008. During his career, 

he has been involved in various private sector organisations. Amongst 

others, he was President of the Mauritius Employers’ Federation. He was 

a Member of the Presidential Commission on Judicial Reform, headed by 

Lord Mackay of Clashfern, previously UK Lord Chancellor. He is currently 

a director of a number of domestic and offshore entities, acting either 

as Chairperson or board member, and is also Adjunct Professor at the 

University of Mauritius.  

He was appointed Director of MCB Group Ltd in April 2014. He is also 

the Chairperson of the Audit Committee. 

 

Omnicane Ltd 

New Mauritius Hotels Ltd 

Fincorp Investment Ltd

Corporate governance report
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Gilbert GNANY - Age 53

Executive Director

 

Gilbert is currently the Chief Strategy Officer of MCB Group Ltd. Previously, he worked as Senior 

Advisor on the World Bank Group’s Executive Board where he was responsible for issues relating 

mainly to the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and to the private and financial sectors. Prior 

to joining the World Bank, he was the MCB Group Chief Economist after having been the Economic 

Advisor to the Minister of Finance. During his career, he has been involved in various high-profile 

boards/committees. Amongst others, he chaired the Stock Exchange of Mauritius, the Statistics 

Advisory Council and the Statistics Board as well as having been a director of the Board of Governors 

of the Mauritius Offshore Business Activities Authority and of the Board of Investment. He was also 

a member of the IMF Advisory Group for sub-Saharan Africa (AGSA). Whilst being Chairperson or 

Board member of several companies of the MCB Group, he is currently a member of the Senate and 

of the Court of the University of Mauritius. 

He was appointed Director of MCB Group Ltd in April 2014. He is also a member of the Risk 

Monitoring Committee. 

Caudan Development Ltd

Promotion & Development Ltd

Jean-Jacques DUPONT DE RIVALZ DE ST ANTOINE - Age 64

Non-Executive Independent Director 

 

Jean-Jacques started his career in 1977 as Financial Adviser at Deep River Beau Champ prior to joining 

the World Bank Group in 1980 under the Young Professionals Program. He integrated the International 

Finance Corporation (IFC) where he worked on agro-industrial projects in several countries in West 

Africa. Since 1987, he acted as Principal Operations Officer within the World Bank successively for 

Europe, Central Asia, Latin America and the African region, whilst being responsible for the Health, 

Nutrition and Population (HNP) projects undertaken in various countries therein. Moreover, he was 

appointed as Cluster Leader of the World Bank’s HNP Division for West Africa in 2008 before acting 

as the Sector Manager for the African region in 2011-2012 when he was also a member of the HNP 

Sector Board worldwide.

He was appointed Director of MCB Group Ltd in November 2014. He is also a member of the Risk 

Monitoring Committee.

Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K. - Age 56

Non-Executive Independent Director

 

Navin has over 25 years of experience in the construction industry internationally. He is the founder 

and Managing Director of Hooloomann & Associates Ltd, a construction, project management and 

cost management consultancy firm operating in Mauritius, Seychelles, Maldives, Sri Lanka, India and 

West Africa.

He has served on the Board of MCB Ltd for several years since October 2002 and was appointed 

Director of MCB Group Ltd in April 2014. He is also a member of the Remuneration and Corporate 

Governance Committee.
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Jean-Louis MATTEI - Age 68

Non-Executive Independent Director

 

Jean-Louis has accumulated wide-ranging experience in the banking sector, 

having worked for Société Générale Group for some 40 years. Over this 

period, he has shouldered an array of high-level responsibilities within 

the group, acting as Chairperson, Director or Chief Executive Officer, in 

its various offices based worldwide. In 1998, he took charge of Société 

Générale international retail banking operations and built the group’s 

international network, particularly in northern Africa and in the sub-

Saharan region as well as in Eastern Europe. He was also the Chairperson 

of the Audit Committee of Agence Française de Développement. Prior to 

his retirement in 2013, he was a member of the Executive Committee of 

Société Générale Group.  

He was appointed Director of MCB Group Ltd in April 2014. He is also 

the Chairperson of the Risk Monitoring Committee.

Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO - Age 52

Non-Executive Independent Director

 

Jean-Pierre sits on several boards of companies spanning various sectors 

of the economy and has also participated in the National Committee on 

Corporate Governance. He has served on the Board of MCB Ltd for 

several years since 2001 and was a Director thereof until March 2014, 

after which he was appointed Director of MCB Group Ltd following the 

Group’s restructuring exercise. He is also a member of the Remuneration 

and Corporate Governance Committee. 

Caudan Development Ltd 

Fincorp Investment Ltd 

Promotion & Development Ltd

New Mauritius Hotels Ltd

Rogers & Co. Ltd

ENL Land Ltd

Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée
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Pierre Guy NOEL - Age 59

Executive Director

 

From 1981 to 1991, Pierre Guy worked at De Chazal Du Mée & Co. where he became 

a partner in financial consultancy. He joined MCB in 1992 as Planning and Development 

Consultant before being appointed General Manager of the Bank in 1996. Following the 

organisation’s restructuring, he became the Chief Executive of MCB Group Ltd in April 2014. 

He is a board member of several companies within the Group, namely Banque Française 

Commerciale Océan Indien, MCB Moçambique, MCB Madagascar, MCB Seychelles, MCB 

Maldives, MCB Investment Holding Ltd and MCB Capital Markets Ltd amongst others, acting 

either as Chairperson or Director. 

He was appointed to the Board of MCB Ltd in 2005 and was a director thereof until March 

2014 when he joined the Board of MCB Group Ltd following the Group’s restructuring 

exercise. He is also a member of the Risk Monitoring Committee and of the Remuneration 

and Corporate Governance Committee of MCB Group Ltd.

Margaret WONG PING LUN - Age 61

Non-Executive Independent Director

 

Prior to joining the University of Mauritius in 1991 where she is a lecturer in Accounting and 

Finance, Margaret was a Senior Manager at De Chazal Du Mée’s Consultancy Department. 

She was formerly a member of the Listing Executive Committee of the Stock Exchange of 

Mauritius Ltd.   

She was appointed to the Board of MCB Ltd in 2004 and was a director thereof until March 

2014, after which she joined the Board of MCB Group Ltd following the restructuring of the 

Group. She is also a member of the Audit Committee.  

Terra Mauricia Ltd
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Board and Committee Attendance

MCB Group Ltd Board 
of 

Directors

Board Committees

Audit
Risk

Monitoring

Remuneration 
and Corporate 

Governance 

Number of meetings held during FY 2014/15 8 5 5 4

Meetings attended

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e Pierre Guy NOEL 8 - 5 4

Gilbert GNANY 8 - 5 -

In
de

pe
nd

en
t

8 - 5 4

Sunil BANYMANDHUB 8 5 - -

4 - 1 -

Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K. 6 - - 4

Jean-Louis MATTEI 5 - 5 -

Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO 6 - - 4

Margaret WONG PING LUN 8 5 - -
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Directors’ Interests and Dealings in Securities

require the written authorisation of the Board of Directors.    

of Interests, which is subsequently updated with all relevant movements.  

The following tables give the interests of the directors in the Group’s listed securities as at 30 June 2015 as well as related transactions effected 
by the directors during the year. None of the directors had any interest in the securities of the subsidiaries of MCB Group Ltd other than in the 
equity of Fincorp Investment Ltd.
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Interests in MCB Group Ltd shares as at 30 June 2015 
Number of shares

Direct Indirect

5,000 -
88 -

Gilbert GNANY 142,432 -
Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K. 55,910 974,029
Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO 1,000 74,533
Pierre Guy NOEL 1,127,395 28,302
Margaret WONG PING LUN 500 21,900

Transactions during the year
Number of shares

Purchased Sold

Gilbert GNANY 37,000 -
Pierre Guy NOEL 25,000 -

Interests in MCB Group Ltd Subordinated Notes as at 30 June 2015 
Number of notes

Direct Indirect

- 100
Gilbert GNANY - 200
Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K. - 2,500

Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO - 2,195

Interests in Fincorp Investment Ltd as at 30 June 2015
Number of shares

Direct Indirect

550 -
Gilbert GNANY 25,000 -
Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K. - 362,200
Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO - 12,493
Pierre Guy NOEL 750,166 32,250

Margaret WONG PING LUN - 10,000
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Directors’ Remuneration
 
The following table highlights the remuneration and benefits received by the directors during the financial year.

(Rs '000)

From 
the holding company

From
subsidiaries

Total

1,620 - 1,620

Sunil BANYMANDHUB 660 19 679

210 - 210

Navin HOOLOOMANN, C.S.K. 420 - 420

Jean-Louis MATTEI 825 - 825

Jean-Pierre MONTOCCHIO 420 110 530

Margaret WONG PING LUN 540 40 580

Total Non-Executive 4,695 169 4,864

Pierre Guy NOEL 21,908 - 21,908

Gilbert GNANY 11,654 - 11,654

Total Executive 33,562 - 33,562

Total (Non-Executive and Executive) 38,257 169 38,426
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Directors’ Service Contracts

There were no service contracts between the Company and its directors during the year.

Related Party Transactions

For related party transactions, please refer to Note 36 of the Financial Statements.

Directors of MCB Group Ltd Subsidiaries

The current board composition of the subsidiaries is given hereafter, with the corresponding chairpersons and chief executives or managing directors 

MCB Investment Holding Ltd

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson)

The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd

Jean-Philippe COULIER (Chairperson) 

 
Gilles GUFFLET 

Alain LAW MIN  
Jean-Michel NG TSEUNG 
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2015 2014

Executive (Full-time) 112,267 106,293

Non-Executive 9,158 7,880

121,425 114,173
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Bernard JACKSON 
E. Jean MAMET

MCB Capital Markets Ltd

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson) 

Gilbert GNANY 

E. Jean MAMET
Jeremy PAULSON-ELLIS

MCB Investment Services Ltd2

Gilbert GNANY (Chairperson) 

Akesh UMANEE

MCB Registry & Securities Ltd2

Gilbert GNANY (Chairperson) 

MCB Stockbrokers Ltd2

Gilbert GNANY (Chairperson) 

Jeremy PAULSON-ELLIS 
 

 

MCB Capital Partners Ltd2

Gilbert GNANY (Chairperson) 

Bernard YEN

MCB Investment Management Co. Ltd2

Gilbert GNANY (Chairperson)
Dean D’SA  

 

Michaël NAAMEH 
Jeremy PAULSON-ELLIS

MCB Madagascar SA

Jean-François DESVAUX DE MARIGNY (Chairperson) 

E. Jean MAMET
Pierre Guy NOEL 
Michel PICHON 

MCB (Maldives) Private Ltd

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson) 

Gilbert GNANY

E. Jean MAMET
Laila MANIK

MCB Moçambique SA

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson) 

Peter HIGGINS 

MCB Seychelles Ltd

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson) 
 

 

Gilbert GNANY  

Bernard JACKSON  
E. Jean MAMET

MCB International Services Ltd1

Jean-François DESVAUX DE MARIGNY (Chairperson) 
Jocelyn AH-YU 

Bernard JACKSON 

Mascareignes Properties Ltd1 

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson)
Jocelyn AH-YU 
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MCB Structured Solutions Ltd2

Gilbert GNANY (Chairperson)

 

MCB Equity Fund Ltd

Bertrand DE CHAZAL (Chairperson)
Jocelyn DE CHASTEAUNEUF 

 
E. Jean MAMET 
Pierre Guy NOEL 

MCB Factors Ltd

E. Jean MAMET (Chairperson)
Koomaren CUNNOOSAMY 

Alain LAW MIN 
Jean-Michel NG TSEUNG 
Pierre Guy NOEL 
Margaret WONG PING LUN

MCB Properties Ltd

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson)
 

Gilbert GNANY 

Fincorp Investment Ltd

Jean Pierre MONTOCCHIO (Chairperson)
Sunil BANYMANDHUB  
Herbert COUACAUD, 

Jocelyn DE CHASTEAUNEUF 

Finlease Co. Ltd3

Bernard D’HOTMAN DE VILLIERS

Jocelyn DE CHASTEAUNEUF  
Sow Man (Claude) AH YUK SHING 

 

3

 
Thierry KOENIG 
Alain LAW MIN  
E. Jean MAMET  
François MONTOCCHIO
Jean-Michel NG TSEUNG

International Card Processing Services Ltd

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson)

MCB Consulting Services Ltd

Pierre Guy NOEL (Chairperson)
Gilbert GNANY

Blue Penny Museum

Philippe A. FORGET (Chairperson)

Damien MAMET
Pierre Guy NOEL

MCB Forward Foundation

J. Gérard HARDY (Chairperson)

Gilbert GNANY

Pierre Guy NOEL
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Chairperson
as from October 2014 ))
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order to better meet the needs of various stakeholders, ongoing enhancements 
are being brought to the website, with the latest add-ons being an investor 

offers to its shareholders the possibility of receiving its corporate communications 
electronically. Besides, MCB Group Ltd encourages shareholders to attend the 
Annual Meeting which provides them with a forum to express their views and to 
receive direct feedback from Board members. 

With a view to upholding relationships with the investment community, MCB 

and manages day-to-day communication with existing and potential investors. 

Shareholder Relations and 
Information

The Board of MCB Group Ltd is committed to promoting an 
open and constructive dialogue with its shareholders while 
ensuring that their information needs are promptly attended 
to. In this respect, shareholders as well as other stakeholders 
are kept abreast of developments at the level of MCB 
Group Ltd through appropriate communication channels. In 

shareholders where appropriate, the Group’s website, 
hosted at www.mcbgroup.com, provides for an adapted 
and comprehensive self-service interface. Through the latter, 
shareholders have the possibility to post their queries while 
having access to relevant information such as updated MCB 

Activity Description

Following earnings releases, a document titled ‘Group Management Statement’ highlighting the key 

available on the website and sent to a broad mailing list of investors and analysts. Moreover, earnings calls 
are organised on an occasional basis.

International roadshows/conferences, principally in the United Kingdom and South Africa, are usually 

and key strategic objectives of the Group.

Conference calls
Foreign investors are given the opportunity to interact and ask questions to executives of the Group 
regarding the latter’s performance, strategic orientations as well as major developments impacting the 
environment in which the Group operates. 

Local meetings 

Analyst meetings are organised, as deemed appropriate, to create an avenue for analysts locally to discuss 
with Group executives to obtain answers to their queries pertaining to the Group’s performance and 
progress on strategic objectives. Furthermore, individual meetings with local brokers and fund managers 
are held to gather their feedback on the Group’s investor engagement.

Shareholders Agreements

There is currently no shareholders agreement affecting the governance of the Company by the Board.
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The following tables set out the ten largest shareholders, ownership of ordinary share capital by size and type as at 30 June 2015.

with foreign shareholding accounting for 18% of the total. 

Largest shareholders Number of shares 
owned % Holding

NATIONAL PENSIONS FUND 15,174,920

SWAN LIFE 7,447,690

6,952,200

3,561,289

3,540,923

POLICY LTD 2,996,035

MELLON OMNIBUS 2,923,816

2,744,009

2,508,989

2,368,764

Size of shareholding Number of 
shareholders % Holding

Number of shares 
owned % Holding

1-500 shares 12,038 1,362,584

501-1,000 shares 1,423 7.7 1,054,067

1,001-5,000 shares 2,343 5,682,837

5,001-10,000 shares 791 5,670,179

10,001-50,000 shares 1,212 6.5 27,426,203

50,001-100,000 shares 280 20,137,170 8.5

Above 100,000 shares 387 176,713,039

Total 18,474 100.0 238,046,079 100.0

Category
Number of 

shareholders % Holding
Number of shares 

owned % Holding

Individuals 17,551 101,011,975

87 41,381,267

Corporates 329 35,149,869

Investment companies 124 33,137,019

Others 383 27,365,949

Total 18,474 100.0 238,046,079 100.0
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Share Price Statistics and Performance
 

Amidst the low interest rate environment, indices of developed markets 

owing to investor risk aversion notably linked to the timing of the US 
monetary policy shift and continued fragile economic conditions in 
Europe as well as the Greek debt crisis. Against this background and 
compounded by the fall in commodity prices, indices of emerging 
markets generally declined over the corresponding period. Lately, 
market attention was drawn to the turbulences in the Chinese stock 
market, which spilled over to regional and global equities. In fact, in spite 

economy.   

year, has been somewhat weighed down by investor cautiousness in 
the context of the country’s general elections as well as some adverse 

by 5.0% over the period under review, resulting in a fall of 2.3% in 

fundamentals, MCB Group Ltd share price went up slightly by 0.9% over 

2015 on the back of renewed interest of foreign investors, before losing 

2015. As such, MCB Group Ltd consolidated its leadership position on 

as at 30 June 2015, representing a market share of around 23%. On a 
different note, MCB Group Ltd has been selected by SEM as one of the 
constituents of the new SEM Sustainability Index (SEMSI) launched in 
August 2015, whose philosophy is founded on the pillars of the triple 
bottom line principle, namely economic, environmental and social 
sustainability, with good corporate governance underpinning each pillar. 

of the Mauritian economy, the performance of the local stock market 
should remain subject to developments on the international scene, with 
economic data releases and policy manoeuvres in key economies likely 
to have a notable bearing on investor sentiment.

Share price statistics 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Investor data

24.04 18.34 18.28 17.36 18.91

Earnings yield (%) 11.1 8.5 9.8 10.3 10.1

Price earnings ratio (times) 9.0 11.7 10.2 9.7 9.9

151.0 130.13 119.87 106.52 99.89

Market data

High 218.00 223.00 196.25 189.00 191.00

Low 195.00 179.50 160.00 162.00 137.00

Average 205.00 205.03 175.76 168.17 161.81

Closing  (Year end) 217.00 215.00 186.00 169.00 188.00

6,244 3,575 3,620 2,938 3,357

51,656 51,165 46,570 42,313 47,071

Market capitalisation as a % of total market 23.5 22.3 23.9 25.2 24.8

Note:
As part of the restructuring exercise, the last trading date of MCB Ltd ordinary shares was on 24 March 2014, with the cancellation of the listing thereof on 2 April 2014 and the start of trading of MCB Group Ltd shares on the 
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Dividend Policy

MCB Group Ltd aims to supply its shareholders with ongoing 
returns in the form of a stable and relatively predictable dividend 

2015 and will be paid in December 2015. Thus, dividend per 

a rise of 24.0% as compared to FY 2013/14.  As such, dividend 
yield stood at 3.7% while dividend cover was 3.0 times for the 
period ending 30 June 2015.

Performance of MCB Group Ltd share price vis-à-vis the market
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Shareholders’ Diary

Mid-November 2015

November 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

December 2015

Mid-February 2016

Mid-May 2016

June 2016 Declaration of interim dividend

July 2016 Payment of interim dividend

End September 2016

December 2016

Corporate governance report

MCB Group Ltd Floating Rate Subordinated Notes

As part of the capital restructuring exercise, the Board of Directors of MCB Ltd and MCB Group Ltd resolved to transfer the assets and liabilities 

acts as the issuer of the Notes and is responsible for the corresponding liabilities in terms of the coupon payments and repayment of the principal of 
the Notes at maturity.   

an effective yield to maturity of 5.34%.
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With a view to attaining appropriate remuneration levels, the Group is 
guided by the following considerations:
•  general market conditions are regularly surveyed in order to ensure 

that remuneration packages are motivating and competitive; 
•  superior team and Group performance is stimulated and rewarded 

with strong incentives; and 
•  remuneration practices are regularly reviewed and restructured 

where necessary, providing clear differentiation between individuals’ 
contribution to Group performance.

Group Employee Share Option Scheme 
(GESOS)

MCB Group has an employee share option scheme in place, which 
provides eligible employees with the opportunity to partake in 
the growth and prosperity of the Group through the acquisition 
of shares in the Company, thereby acting as an additional lever to 
promote a performance culture alongside upholding motivation and 
commitment across the organisation. Under the scheme, employees 
are granted non-transferable options to buy MCB Group Ltd shares 
with up to a maximum of 25% of their annual performance bonus. The 
options, which can be exercised over a period of one year through 

option price is based on the average of the share price over the 
quarter prior to the date on which the options are granted, to which 
a discount of 10% is applied. Members of Management are, however, 
not entitled to such discount. Once issued, the shares rank 
as to dividend, capital, voting rights and in all other respects with the 
existing shares of MCB Group Ltd. 

Statement of Remuneration Philosophy

With human capital viewed as critical to the sustainability of the 

people with the right skills and behaviours whilst rewarding them 
properly.

The Group’s remuneration philosophy concerning directors provides 
that:
 •  there should be a retainer fee for each individual director 

international) of the business as well as the responsibility involved; 
 •  the Chairperson, having wider responsibilities and being present 

on a regular basis, should have consequential remuneration; 
 •  there should be committee fees for non-executive directors, 

with the fees differing in accordance with the time required 
for preparation, the frequency and the duration of meetings. 
Chairpersons of committees should be paid a higher 
remuneration than members; and 

 •  no share option or bonus should be granted to non-executive 
directors.    

The remuneration philosophy for employees of the Group is based on 
meritocracy and ensures that:  
 •  full protection is provided, at the lower end of the income ladder, 

against cost of living increases;
 •  fairness and equity are promoted throughout the organisation; 

and 

results and development of the Group. Indeed, staff members of 
the Group receive an annual bonus based on the performance of 
the Group as well as an assessment of their contribution thereto. 
Furthermore, most staff members have the added possibility to 
be incentivised further through a share option scheme.

performance, personal potential, market norms, responsibilities 
shouldered and experience.
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The following table gives details of the options granted to and exercised by employees of the Group under the share option scheme.

Management Other employees TOTAL

Number of options granted in October 2014 99,051 408,172 507,223

210.75 189.75 -

Number of options exercised to date 23,112 56,300 79,412

4,871 10,683 15,554

Percentage exercised 23.3 13.8 15.7

Number of employees 3 227 230

Available for the 4th window and expiring in mid-October 2015 75,939 351,872 427,811

Auditors’ Fees and Fees for Other Services

2015 2014

The Group The Company The Group The Company

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Audit fees paid to:

19,726 412 18,710 403

4,753 - 5,233 -

Fees for other services provided by:

2,691 - 3,899 -
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Sustainability Reporting

Overview

The aim of sustainable development is to meet the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to 
meet their own needs. In alignment with regulatory requirements, MCB Group duly adheres to sustainability principles towards making a sound 
and sustained contribution to the economies, environments and communities in which it operates. Backed by proper enforcement mechanisms, 
the philosophy guiding the Group’s conduct of affairs is entrenched in an appropriate operational and governance framework. In this respect, 
the Group has set up the MCB Forward Foundation as the dedicated vehicle responsible to execute its social engagement, while promoting 
practices to foster corporate responsibility across the organisation.  At the level of MCB Ltd, employees abide by the Bank’s Code of Conduct 
and the national Code of Banking Practice. The Bank, also, adheres to the United Nations Global Compact, the world’s largest voluntary 
corporate responsibility initiative for businesses which are committed to aligning their operations and strategies with 10 universally accepted 
principles in the areas of human rights, labour, environment and anti-corruption.  Besides, MCB Ltd adopts the Equator Principles, which stand 

Ltd has been selected as one of the constituents of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Sustainability Index (SEMSI), in respect of which it was, 
lately, ranked among the top 3 performers. Of note, the SEMSI provides a measure of listed companies against a set of internationally aligned 
and locally relevant environmental, social and governance criteria.

Our Stakeholder Engagement
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• To ensure that our stakeholder involvement is consistent with the nature of our operations; to integrate and align stakeholder management
  efforts and activities
• To ensure that our engagement efforts are underpinned by adequate human, technical and financial resourcing as well as transparent control and
  reporting processes
• To properly institutionalise our accountabilities for ensuring that the efficiency and effectiveness of our interactions and activities are duly
  preserved and enhanced
• To maintain on-going dialogue with stakeholders through multiple engagement mechanisms and clear and consistent communication channels
• To draw upon the feedback and comments of stakeholders so as to ensure that their issues and requirements are identified and resolved in a
  timely and gratifying manner

Our engagement paradigm

Our holistic stakeholder engagement

Our guiding principles and orientations

Our strategic philosophy 
and business practices

Our operational and 
governance framework

Regulatory framework and 
good international practices

Investors and
shareholders

Customers Regulators Employees Economic agents Communities

In addition to policies and systems which have been established over time, the Group has adopted various initiatives during FY 2014/15 with a 
view to adequately endorsing its corporate responsibility.
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Corporate governance report

Investors and shareholders: Maximising 
shareholder value

Customers: Deepening client 
relationships and experiences

Regulators: Ensuring strict 
compliance with mandatory 

stipulations

•  To preserve the image and reputation of the 
Group as a strategically important industry player 
and as an institution being bestowed with a wide 

to create meaningful value over time and preserve 

•  To harness an enabling environment that will 
underpin moves to raise fund and bolster capital 
resources, thus creating conducive conditions for 
fostering sustained business growth

•  To build life-long relationships with clients, 
thus  accompanying them in good and bad 
times, upholding their trust in the organisation 
and helping them achieve their goals

•  To foster continuous improvements in the 
quality of customer service and effectively 
responding to complaints

•  To safeguard the perennity and 
soundness of our operations  

•  To diligently respond and adapt to 
the evolving operating context and 
effectively gear up our operations for 
attaining sustained business growth 
after fully understanding and coping 

of regulatory provisions

• Protection and growth of wealth and investment
•  A stable and relatively predictable dividend 

path as well as reasonably attractive returns 
on investment 

•  Availability of timely, concise and detailed 
information relating to the strategic positioning as 

the Group as a whole

simple access thereto 
•  Security and privacy of transactions 
•  Transparent and timely advice and information 
on offerings in support of informed decision-
making 

•  Effective processes for enabling complaints 
sharing and resolution

•  Preserving the soundness and 

•  Strict adherence by operators to 
relevant laws, codes and guidelines; 
proper licensing of operations and 
activities 

•  Forging of meaningful interactions 
with banking players to cater for  the 
proper reporting and monitoring of 
activities

•  Enhancing the Group’s revenue generating 
capacity through the adoption of ambitious, yet 
sensible, strategic orientations in Mauritius and 
abroad, backed by improved physical capabilities 
and operational set-ups, better customer service 
and adequate recourse to funding resources  

•  Maintaining open lines of communication 
to provide coherent, pertinent and updated 
information on the Group’s strategies, corporate 

means of carefully-selected channels, platforms 
and reports

•  Anchoring a customer-centric business 
development approach by enhancing the 
quality of the value proposition via the (i) 

customisation of the products and services 

(iii) bolstering of the reach and convenience 
of modern delivery channels in order to 
provide an increasingly personalised and 

•  Upholding and strengthening client 
relationships and market visibility, notably 
through the continuous showcasing of the 
image and value proposition of business lines 
via (i) MCB’s appealing websites and social 
media presence; and (ii) the organisation of 
and participation in various promotional and 
commercial initiatives, business meetings as 
well as international seminars, conferences 
and road shows 

•  Adoption of clear communication and 
reporting channels vis-à-vis customers to 
provide them with detailed information 
about our offerings and effectively deal with 
their complaints

•  Strict compliance catered for with 
respect to regulatory limits and 
stipulations relating to product 
development, market development, 
risk management, etc. 

•  Timely submission of reports to 
regulatory bodies and forging of 
transparent and open relationships 
with the latter to promote adequate 
monitoring of our activities and pave 
the way for informed discussions about 
relevant issues and matter

•  Sensible management of risks faced 

fostering the soundness of our 
activities
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Employees: Upholding human resource 
development and staff welfare

Economic agents: Fostering 
economic growth and prosperity

Communities: Supporting social 
progress and environment 

protection

•  To retain/uphold the Group’s status as an 
employer of choice 

•  To instil a high performance culture amongst the 
staff for improved operational effectiveness and 

of customer service excellence 
• To foster general staff welfare, health and safety

•  To assist in the advancement of individuals 
and businesses in the countries in which the 
Group operates  

•  To help promote the socio-economic 
development and modernisation of presence 
countries, while contributing to gear up trade 
and investment activities on the regional front

•  To uphold the Group’s social and 
environmental commitment through 
the development of and support 

community in which we live and work 
•  To foster appropriate environmental 
stewardship by endorsing 
environmentally-conscious practices in 
respect of the operation and activities 
of the Group

•  Continuous reinforcement of employability and 

structures 
•  Fair treatment and strict adherence to 

meritocracy principles 
•  Safe, positive and inspiring working conditions and 

operations

•  Provision of tailored support for the initiation 
and development of businesses, including the 
availability of relevant solutions to innovate 
and manage risks 

•  Contribution to the sound, balanced and 
sustained economic growth of presence 
countries and provision of assistance to 
stimulate job creation, broaden the scope for 
wealth creation and enhance the  material 
well-being of the populations

•  Proper understanding of the 
aspirations, challenges faced and on-
the-ground activities of Government 
organisations and NGOs 

•  Availing Government organisations 
and NGOs with human, technical 

the taking-off and the spearheading 
of dedicated social/environmental 
projects 

•  Promoting environmental protection 
awareness amongst staff and adopting 
environment-friendly business practices

management process in line with the Balanced 
Scorecard framework  

•  Conduct of dedicated programmes to strengthen 
human capital, notably via training courses deployed 
and lectures held by international experts at the 
MCB Development Centre 

•  Execution of initiatives in favour of talent 

in the Mauritian banking sector, our ‘DUO’ 
programme is a joint public-private sector 
partnership that allows secondary school leavers 
to obtain a full sponsorship for a ‘BTS Banque’ at 
the Business School of the Mauritius Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry (MCCI) and to, 
simultaneously, gather work experience at MCB; 
furthermore, ‘Go Beyond’ acts as a challenging 
opportunity aimed at recruiting and developing 
future business leaders for an international career 
within MCB Group 

•  Promotion of staff welfare and work-life balance 
being further fostered, notably via an increase in 
the medical coverage limits for all employees and 
the conduct of the Health Week 2015, comprising 
free health tests and lectures 

Cash Back

individual, corporate and institutional clients 
across countries where the Group is involved 

•  Financing key projects shaping the economic 
landscape of Mauritius and assisting 
corporates in their development domestically 
and beyond, thus furthering inclusive growth 
of the country, upholding its regional agenda 

centre of substance and good repute 
•  Assisting SMEs in Mauritius in their pursuit 
of growth and business development 
endeavours; MCB was ranked 1st amongst 
the 14 banks operating in the country in 
respect of credit facilities approved under the 
Government–backed SME Financing Scheme, 
with a corresponding market share of around 
50% posted during the December 2011 – 
August 2015 period

implementation of initiatives by the 
MCB Forward Foundation

•  Extending additional support to 
promote the welfare of the society 
and protect the environment by 
means inter alia of: (i) the pursuit of 
its internally-generated ‘Initiative 175’ 
programme; and (ii) the undertaking 
of sponsorship activities in relation to 
education and sports
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Involvement of the Group vis-à-vis the Society and the Environment

In line with one of its missions, which is ‘We will do what we can to make the world a better, greener place’, the Group has further entrenched its 
social and environmental engagement over time.

Support through MCB Forward Foundation

Background and realisations

design, implementation and management of initiatives which contribute to embed the Group’s engagement with the communities in which it 
operates.    

commitment vis-à-vis the society and its people by means of dedicated programmes and wide-ranging stakeholder interactions. Overall, driven by 

below.

     Absolute poverty and community empowerment

     Welfare of children

     Education

     Health

     Socio-economic development

     Leisure and sports

     Social housing

     Environment

Rs 253.5 m

18%

20%

5%

28%

13%

12%

2%
2%

Total funding
FY 2010/11 to FY 2014/15
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Key achievements posted by MCB Forward Foundation in FY 2014/15

its own framework in the wake of the announcement made in the context of the last National Budget. 

in support of earmarked initiatives and to develop effective strategic partnerships with stakeholders with a view to fostering the social, 
environmental and economic well-being of the community, whilst ensuring that interactions forged with the relevant stakeholders meet the 
highest standards of service and ethics.   

The following table provides a breakdown of expenditure by activity incurred by the Foundation during FY 2014/15. It is also worth noting 
that no political donations were made during the year.

Breakdown of expenditure Rs ‘000

Absolute poverty and community empowerment 17,751

Welfare of children 16,083

Education 3,344

Health 2,230

Socio-economic development 11,091

Leisure and sports 240

Social housing 4,125

Total 54,864
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Absolute poverty and community empowerment

•  Curepipe Starlight: Love Bridge Project – Support and 
empowerment programme that enables families in distress 
to enhance their quality of life and help them to foster 
their autonomy 

•  : Empowerment of  vulnerable 
children through dance and music

• :    
  o  A second MCB Football Academy (MCBFA) was 

the number of football academies operated by MCB 

The aim is to foster the social integration of some 100 
children aged between 6-10 years from Petite Butte 
and six neighbouring villages. 

  o  The MCB Camp FCBEscola Club was set up at the 
MCB Club in Curepipe. It is a training camp that 
saw the participation of 60 football players under 
16 years old from the MCBFA and Football First. 
Facilitated by 2 coaches of the academy of FC 
Barcelona, the objective of this training camp was 
to inculcate new techniques to young Mauritian 
footballers. It was also an opportunity for the 
Barcelona Club to instill values such as tolerance, 
respect, solidarity, friendship, fair play, integration, 
effort and enthusiasm, to Mauritian footballers. 

  o  David Ginola, the former European football star, 
led a technical workshop with 60 children who are 
members of the MCBFA of Poste-de-Flacq.

Welfare of children

•  : Delivery of psychological screening 

• : Pedagogical support offered to 
children out of the mainstream education system

• : Provision of accommodation to girls in 
distress 

•  : Therapeutic and pedagogical 

Education

•  :  Setting up of a music school for vulnerable 
children  

• : Counselling services offered to 
children, parents and teachers of 46 primary schools

•  : Award of scholarship to 
1 student to enable the latter to pursue tertiary studies at 
the University of Mauritius

Health 

•  
charity 

• :  Write up of 

National Drug Control Master Plan”

Socio-economic development

•  : Provision of legal services to victims of sexual 
abuse 

•  
: Provision of vocational rehabilitation to 

intellectually-disabled young adults 
• : Provision of specialised equipment for the 

empowerment of unemployed women and youth  
•  : Provision of ecotherapy programme for 

the wellbeing, skills development and social inclusion of 
people suffering from psychological disorders 

• : Financing of a speech therapist and 
enhancement of the current transportation system 
for children 

•  : Therapeutic and rehabilitation 
programme for disabled children

•  : Provision of 
educational support to children with cochlear implants

Corporate governance report
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Overview of other initiatives

In line with MCB Group’s commitment to promote sustainable 
development, progress was furthered with regard to the 
execution of the internally-generated ‘Initiative 175’.  Of note, 
this programme was launched in 2009 with a view to fostering 
environment-friendly and energy saving practices through a 
series of micro-level initiatives unleashed at the organisational 
and national levels. The main actions undertaken under the 
umbrella of ‘Initiative 175’ during FY 2014/15 are as follows:

Encouraging environment-friendly investments

•  : During FY 2014/15, the Bank widened its 
involvement in respect of the provision of ‘Green loans’. Of 
note, after being the prime provider of loans in the context 
of the 1st edition, the Bank had, back in March 2014, renewed 
its partnership with Agence Française de Développement 

agreement and launched the 2nd edition of preferential credit 
facilities named as ‘Green Loans’, to support initiatives in favour 
of energy saving and the reduction of carbon emissions. In 

of the loan amount is offered to the client for investments in 

•  : MCB is partnering with the project, which is 

BioPark Mauritius aspires to be a dedicated space encouraging 
the use of biotechnologies for research and development by 
innovative companies and professionals.

received by all its branches and sites during the previous 

towards further compliance.

Paving the way for reduced paper utilisation

•  Active promotion of e-statements, with the total number of customers 
subscribing thereto more than doubling to reach some 123,000, as 
compared to about 55,000 as at June 2014

•  : Delivery 
of equipment for visually impaired children 

•  : Financing of occupational therapy 
and psychological interventions for children with disabilities

Social housing

•  : 

psychosocial and educational support

Leisure and sports

•   Award of scholarships to  
2 sportsmen at national level

are set out in the table below.
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Rs ‘000

MCB Football Academy 10,720

Integrated Housing Project (Social Housing Cité Tole) 2,818

Service d’écoute et de soutien psychologique dans les 
écoles primaires (Institut Cardinal Jean Margéot) 

2,620

Facilitation of multi-sectorial platform for the 

(Drug Platform)
2,130

Diagnostic Centre for Autism (Autisme Maurice) 1,875
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Promoting the eco-friendly awareness of the general 
public
•   Launch of the 4th edition of the ‘Make a Wish’ competition 

involving primary schools, in partnership with the Ministry 

environment and quality of life at school.

Sensitisation of staff and business units

•  Employees invited to a conference by Tony Lee, the Director 
of the Green Building Council of Mauritius, on ‘Ecological 
Homes’ at the MCB St Jean auditorium; and

•  Waste recycling container placed in the parking area of MCB 

Besides, the Group continued to provide wide-ranging support 
for the promotion of education, empowerment of women, 
youth and sports in the country through the sponsorship of 
the following:
•    : It is awarded to the student 

ranked next in line to those eligible for the State of Mauritius 
scholarships on the Economics side upon the announcement 

•  : 
The competition, which aims at inculcating an investment 
culture amongst college students by giving them a hands-on 
experience of real time market prices in real share-market 
conditions, attracted 1,090 students across 218 teams and 
coming from 109 colleges

•  : The 14th edition targeted 
more than 600 secondary school students from 147 colleges 
with a view to promoting the utilisation of the English language

•  : Organised by the National Productivity and 
Competitiveness Council, the competition aimed at 
promoting innovation at the secondary education level, with 
the participation of some 450 students from 52 colleges being 
registered 

  o   and : 
Attracted 360 college students and 100 primary school 
students respectively, who were tasked with applying 
science to devise novel solutions for daily life problems

  o  : Aimed at deepening the 

awareness about sustainable development
  o  

pupils and encouraged the latter to use imagination and 

from an early age
• Sport competitions
 o th :  
      •  MCB Group acting as Top Sponsor of the games held 

Seychelles and Maldives, the Group reiterated its 
commitment to the development of sports and youth 
advancement 

o : MCB Group acting as the principal partner of 
the 5th edition of the international event held in Mauritius 

o   (i) MCB Tour Championship 2014, the 
most prestigious golf contest held in Mauritius; (ii) MCB 
Pro-Am: Event giving the opportunity to both customers 
and employees to play with professionals; (iii) MCB 
Invitational: Tournament targeted exclusively at MCB 
customers; (iv) Ladies Golf Union Championships 2015; 
and (v) MCB Indian Ocean Amateur Golf Open: for its 2nd 
edition, the event attracted 58 participants

Corporate governance report
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a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing those Financial Statements, the 
directors are required to: ensure that adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal 
controls and risk management have been maintained; select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently; make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; state whether 
applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the Financial Statements; and prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis 

they have complied with these requirements in preparing the Financial Statements. The external auditors 
are responsible for reporting on whether the Financial Statements are fairly presented. The directors are 
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, 

Standards as well as the requirements of the Banking Act 2004 and the guidelines issued thereunder. 
Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and, hence, for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. Other main responsibilities of 
the directors include the assessment of the Management’s performance relative to corporate objectives; 
overseeing the implementation and upholding of the Code of Corporate Governance and ensuring 

every aspect of its business, has put in place the necessary committees to manage such risks, as required 
by Basel II, Basel III and the relevant regulatory requirements as appropriate. The Board, whilst approving 
risk strategy, appetite and policies, has delegated the formulation thereof and the monitoring of their 

The structures, processes and methods through which the Board gains assurance that risk is effectively 

On behalf of the Board.

J. Gérard HARDY      Pierre Guy NOEL
Chairperson

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities  
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across the single currency area is moving at a largely uneven pace.  Overall, 
the distribution of risks to the world’s near-term growth outlook is tilted 
to the downside, with notable areas of concern including soft productivity 
and potential output levels, broad-based weaknesses in investment and 

monetary policy tightening operating on diverging timelines, as well as 

Yuan devaluation sent fresh shockwaves through global markets, with 
stock and resource prices tumbling as investors viewed this move as a 

a new normal, this not only threatens to affect global growth prospects 
by virtue of the country’s growing weight and linkages within the world 
economy, but should also dampen the country’s appetite for commodities 
and, as such, impede on the growth outlook of emerging markets being 
engaged in such exports. Actually, whilst they have rebounded by a greater-
than-expected margin during the second quarter of 2015 on account of 
higher demand and expectations that production growth in the United 
States will slow faster than previously forecast, oil prices have, in general, 
registered a sustained and marked decline since September 2014. This 
trajectory is, principally, explained by weaker-than-expected global activity, 

as well as the stepping up of production levels. After making allowance 
for such factors, average oil prices for 2015 would post a major decline as 
compared to 2014, while nonfuel commodity prices, notably metals and 
foods, are also expected to land at lower levels given both demand and 
supply dynamics.

Review of the Operating Environment

Macroeconomic Landscape

Overview

economic environments across geographies. On a positive note however, 
it is worth highlighting that broadly conducive dynamics at play in selected 
niche markets and on the regional scene have underpinned appreciable 
inroads made by entities in terms of business development and revenue 
generation.

The international context

The international community was clinging to the hope that 2014 would 

the situation remained challenging yet again last year, with world growth 

and accommodative monetary policy, recovery has been sputtering in 
the eurozone, as crisis legacies and unresolved home-grown imbalances 
lingered. On the other hand, emerging and developing economies bore 
the brunt of structural bottlenecks, weak external demand, domestic 

economy is seemingly heading for yet another year of subpar growth, 

economies and a deceleration in the expansion path of emerging markets. 

of 2015. Albeit coming from a low base, these indications of a positive 

with its quantitative easing programme, as well as strengthening consumer 

making the recovery process stick, which is a challenging task given the 

Business and financial review

(e) estimates    (f) forecasts

Source: IMF World Economic Outlook Update - July 2015
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The Mauritian economy

Introduction

stickiness of domestic productivity and competitiveness-hindering factors.  Such dynamics continue to warrant the country’s attention, the more 
so given the progressive erosion of preferential access to international markets and prospects of exacerbated competitive pressures therein. 

Economic growth

the prior year’s outcome, this growth performance can be regarded as below-par by historical levels and when assessed in light of the country’s 

of economic sectors are likely to yield only a limited impact on activity levels this year after making allowance for the time taken for earmarked 
ventures to be comprehensively designed and executed.    
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Economic dashboard

remain quite elevated this year, with trends pertaining to youth and women continuing to warrant attention.
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still subdued national investment climate, which continued to exert 

private sector investment contracted in 2014, while capital 

effectively realise the country’s growth and job creation aspirations. 

uncertainty levels imply that private sector investment would remain 
in a challenging zone and post yet another contraction. On the 
other hand, major projects have been announced in relation to the 

water, electricity, waste and wastewater management, road network, 

all probability, contribute to support public investment in 2015, the 

outlays are predicted to yield a meaningful impact on activity levels 

and project implementation lags, as well as these projects’ notable 
import content. Another worrisome trend pertains to the low gross 

well with regard to the economy’s aim of dispensing with prevailing 
lacklustre private investment trends.

Sectorial outcomes

sectors have been faring comparatively well on the back of notable 

context, as well as escalating competition on globalised markets. 

more sizeable exposures, it can be noted that the tourism industry 

subsisting pressures on gross receipts on account of restrained 
income growth in source markets, the sector should record an 
appreciable growth rate in 2015 as per latest indications, duly 

another contraction registered last year, the construction sector 
is expected to perform poorly in 2015, despite a weakened base 
after years of negative growth and relative support emanating 
from execution of public projects. Regarding the performance of 
other sectors, the sugar sector should, after successive years of 
contraction, retrieve a slight positive growth outcome in 2015, 
with the continuing reorientation of the productive activities being 
observed. Of note, market access developments deserve cautious 

environment, which are prone to pile up in the build-up to the 

the export oriented manufacturing sector, after posting a marginal 
growth in 2014, the sector, as a whole, should register a somewhat 
improved performance in 2015, backed by the positive offshoots 
from enhanced market access beyond established spheres, as well 

added for the sector should, particularly at the level of the textile 
segment, remain modest, due to dampened private expenditure 
prevailing in our key trading partners and pressures exerted on 

whilst a relative slowdown from the 2014 double-digit growth 
is expected, growth should remain appreciable this year, even 

industries, which both grew at a restrained speed last year, should 
continue to warrant attention in 2015, despite new initiatives 
launched by the authorities to foster development of Small and 

posted vigorous expansionary rates in 2014 and should sustain 
their growth momentum this year, backed by sound fundamentals 
and progress in terms of further sector deepening.
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1 Export Oriented Enterprises (EOE) comprise manufacturing enterprises formerly operating with an export certificate and those export
  manufacturing enterprises holding a registration certificate issued by the Board of Investment.
2 Covers mainly the activities of ‘fishing’ and ‘fish processing’.
3 Covers components of  ‘sugarcane’ and ‘sugar manufacturing’.

Source: Statistics Mauritius

Recent sectorial performances

Contribution to GDP and real growth rates for 2014 (%)

Note: (i) Size of bubble represents share of sector to GDP; (ii) Percentage inside bubble denotes real sectorial growth rate
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Performance of sub-Saharan Africa

oil-related activities, the sub-Saharan African region is generally staying the 
course and has sustained its solid growth momentum in 2014, mainly 
underpinned by strong domestic demand, thriving services sectors and 

and mining, as well as maturing investments in several sectors provided an 

services, as well as delays in key mining development projects therein.  

prices, which poses challenges to exporting countries across the continent.  

additional US dollar strengthening which would render imports more 

dampen investment by impacting upon the business climate, and, thus, 
near-term growth prospects.

Outcomes posted by our foreign presence countries

mainly due to energy shortages and tepid private investment. Against this 
backdrop, a modest recovery was observed in 2014, with growth standing 

facing notable challenges, including the sharp decline in commodity prices 
which is exerting a drag on mining revenue and the prevalence of deep-

note that the country’s economic progress over time has been recently 

trading partners, namely the euro area, which dampened the country’s 

public investment, a recovering tourism sector as well as improving 

registered a pick-up in economic activity in 2014 as gauged by growth 

tourism, and a revival in the construction sector, especially spurred by 

positive prospects for the tourism, transport and communication sectors, 
the implementation of infrastructure ventures, and the promotion of 

extractive industries, construction and agricultural sectors, amidst a return 

should continue to be faced with structural challenges relating to social 

Real GDP growth (%) 2012 2013 2014(e) 2015(f)

Sub-Saharan Africa 4.2 5.2 5.0 4.4

Oil-exporting countries 4.5

Real GDP growth (%) 2012 2013 2014(e) 2015(f)

5.0 5.0

Seychelles

2.4

(e) estimates   (f) forecasts 

Sources: IMF Country reports and IMF Regional Economic Outlook: Sub-Saharan Africa -  April 2015 

(e) estimates   (f) forecasts 

Sources:  IMF World Economic Outlook - April 2015, Regional Economic Outlook (Sub-Saharan Africa) - 
April 2015 &  World Economic Outlook Update - July 2015
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Market Environment

market conditions across the countries where they are present. 

have remained on the agenda, the challenging economic climate 

subsist at various levels, corrective actions have been taken by the 
authorities to tackle the matter. As the situation stands, though there 
are signs that related developments have exerted adverse spillover 

Local banking sector

Overview

exposed to delicate market conditions and, to some extent, sector-

subdued trends characterising private sector investment as well as 

have been exerted on the demand for loans, while the evolution 
of asset quality metrics warranted attention in some instances. 

of competitive pressures, such dynamics exerted pressures on margins 
and, subsequently, the revenue generation capabilities of banking 

adopted by operators have enabled them to effectively withstand 

in support of their growth endeavours, operators have reinforced 
their inherent capabilities, alongside enhancing the richness of their 

agenda across geographies, notably within the African continent 

2015, that, “The banking sector maintained adequate capital levels during 
the period under review, although differences remained between types 
of banks in terms of their individual capital and asset holdings

cognisant of market conditions, several banks have decreased their 

partly of the predominant emphasis laid in its methodological 

lowered the credit ratings of the country’s two rated banks, including 

to measures undertaken or planned by these banks to hold higher 
Tier 1 capital. On another note, the period under review has seen 

the creation of a state-owned bank to take over from the banking 
subsidiary forming part of the aforementioned conglomerate, whose 
banking licence has been revoked in the wake of capital and liquidity 

subject to notable capital injection to cater for observed weaknesses 

the authorities announced that these two institutions will be merged 
into a single bank.
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Mar 14 Jun 14 Sep 14 Dec 14 Mar 15

Capital-based

      Regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets

      Regulatory Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 15.5 15.1 15.1 15.4

Asset quality

      Non-performing loans to total gross loans 4.4 4.5 4.5 5.1

Earnings and profitability

      Return on assets 1.5 1.5 1.4

      Return on equity 15.2

Liquidity

      Liquid assets to total assets 24.1

      Liquid assets to short-term liabilities

Sensitivity to market risk

      Net open position in foreign exchange to capital 2.4

Source:  Bank of Mauritius, Financial Stability Report - August 2015
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Key year-on-year trends witnessed during FY 2014/15

This performance has, in the context of the persistently subdued 
investment climate, been predominantly tempered by the outturn 
of the banks’ Segment A advances, i.e. exposures giving rise to 
locally-sourced income, whose growth rate dropped for the third 

sight relates to the negative growth rates posted by loans to traders 

a relatively resilient growth, while a striking expansion rate was 

double-digit growth in housing loans on the back of operators 

of offerings. Similarly, notwithstanding high uncertainties over the 

i.e. exposures giving rise to foreign-sourced earnings, which rose by 

border exposures to Africa on the heels of strategies adopted by 
business operators to tap into appreciable avenues therein.

To a notable extent instigated by the restrained evolution of demand 
for credit, the money market was characterised by lingeringly high 

beyond the mandatory balances have, especially as from the beginning 

April. This contributed to a marked and sustained downfall in the 
weighted average yield on treasury bills. Subsequently however, some 

around the end of September 2015. This situation was engendered by 

a programme of liquidity management, alongside announcing that 
money market operations will be sustained to sterilise around Rs 

reduction in excess liquidity levels will allow it to progressively steer 
short-term interest rates in the appropriate direction. This improved 
ability to affect short-term interest rates should help to positively 

its intention to improve the monetary policy operational framework 
in order to restore the link between the Key Repo Rate and other 
short-term interest rates in the domestic money market as well as 
to improve the transmission of monetary policy impulses to the real 
sector of the economy.

After observing a sharp deceleration in the pace of its evolution 

spite of global economic uncertainties and instabilities, this was, mainly 

and the restrained nationwide income generation, rupee deposits 
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Deposits (June 2015)

Rs m Mix
(%) (%)

Rupee

Savings 186,929 21.5 11.8

Demand 52,741 6.1 11.1

Time 79,826 9.2 (2.5)

Total 100.0

Sectors Rs m Mix
(%) (%)

4.5

Tourism 15.0

Transport 1.1 

Housing 51,778 16.3 10.1 

Others 31,413 9.9 5.9 

Traders

0.5

25,012

4,252

20.1 

1.0

Others

Total 100.0

Loans (June 2015)

Rs m Mix
(%) (%)

Segment A

55.4

Total 100.0
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while capital markets have grown in stature in the wake of the sustained interest demonstrated by local corporates for the raising of debt therefrom 

out of emerging and frontier markets globally due to expectations of the normalisation of interest rate in the United States and the announcement of 

avenues for private equity investment on the African continent remained notable on the back of promising economic growth prospects, the increasing 

Financial services sector of our foreign presence countries

Maldives Mozambique Madagascar
Dec 13 Dec 14 Jun 15 Dec 13 Dec 14 Jun 15 Dec 13 Dec 14 Jun 15 Dec 13 Dec 14 Jun 15

% % % % % % % % % % % %
4.5 25.2 20.5 24.5

1.5 21.5

Financial soundness indicators

Maldives Mozambique Madagascar
As at December 2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014

% % % % % % % % % % % %
Capital-based
Regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets 15.1 15.2 14.5 14.4

Non-performing loans to total gross loans 21.0 12.2 14.2

52.0 54.2 40.0 50.4 41.2

Return on assets 2.4 5.1 2.0 2.1 2.0 2.4

Return on equity 20.2 21.0 22.2 25.4
Notes:
(i) For Maldives and Seychelles, credit to the economy is captured by claims on the private sector

Sources: IMF country reports, Maldives Monetary Authority, Central Bank of Seychelles, Bank of Mozambique and Banque Centrale de Madagascar
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Legal and Institutional Environment

The legal and institutional environments characterising the countries 

sectors, the evolving regulatory stipulations underscore the ever more 
exigent context within which banking institutions, in particular, operate. 

relating to capital determination and allocation has, in particular, captured 
the attention, while the period under review has, also, witnessed the 

processes with the evolving regulatory requirements and attended to 
relevant foreign codes and conventions, alongside remaining attentive to 
and assessing the implications of potential future moves by the authorities.

geographies are provided below.

Local banking sector

Bank of Mauritius Guidelines

and timelines related to the strengthening of the capital framework. 

adequacy ratio will, over the coming years, rise from the currently 

required to hold a capital surcharge, with full compliance required 

formerly put into place as part of macroprudential measures, the sector 
concentration limits on the tourism, personal and commercial residential 
and land parcelling sectors were withdrawn in the context of the 

some months earlier, a key amendment to the afore-mentioned guideline 
in August last relates to the fact that aggregate large credit exposures to 
all customers and groups of closely-related customers shall, henceforth, 

Legislations

inter alia
be responsible for the regulation, licensing, registration and overseeing 
of payment systems, clearing houses and the issuance and quality of 

shares or units in gold funds. 

maintenance of the special levy on banks in its current form. The levy, 

Social Responsibility contribution, every company is now able to 
implement its programme in accordance with its own framework.  

lender shall take all reasonable steps to verify that the person as well 
as his guarantor, if any, have or are likely to have the means to repay 
the amount, with due diligence on the debt repayment capacity of both 
borrower and guarantor being required.

Payment infrastructure

•  The payment infrastructure has been subject to further developments, 
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Legislations

th

responsibilities of auditors and actuaries of private pension schemes were 
issued during the year in line with international standards and practices.

and any of its related companies. 

Codes and guidelines

US taxpayers or by foreign entities in which US taxpayers hold a 
substantial ownership interest.

a view to promoting responsible, ethical and professional conduct 

for professionals to be able to practice safely and effectively.

Financial services sectors of our foreign presence countries

jurisdictions which have committed in October 2014, to early 

th

became the 54th

Agreement.  

framework and upgrade the quality of banking supervision and the 

referred to the forthcoming introduction of a legislation to enhance 

strengthening monetary policy formulation and implementation and its 

being developed to promote mobile banking as well as the connectivity 
to the single national retail payments network.
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Group Financial Review

respect of the income statement prior to 2015 and the financial 
positions before 2014 in order to give a proper understanding 

Overview of Results

challenging conditions across markets where it is involved, with 

by persistently low private sector investment, stiff competition 
and high liquidity situation. Nevertheless, it managed to sustain a 
resilient growth in its revenue base on account of its strategic drive 
aimed at strengthening its foothold within established markets, 
extending its regional involvement and making further headway 

was underpinned by strong growth in net interest income as well 

with a major share thereof being sourced from banking operations, 

over time, the contribution of foreign-sourced income within the 

capitalisation and asset quality as well as the maintenance of strong 
funding and liquidity positions.  

 

increased by Rs 4.5 billion following the transfer of the assets and 

Objectives for FY 2015/16

to effectively support its growth ambitions and position itself to 
tap into business opportunities that could emerge from potential 

capital amongst others. As such, return on equity is likely to remain 

this ratio should be viewed within the context of the relatively high 
capital buffers held compared to current regulatory requirement in 

of the organisation is expected to be reinforced with capital adequacy 
ratios projected to increase from current levels. Asset quality is 
anticipated to continue to improve along current trends while the 

Contribution to Group profit

Other investments
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Net interest income

almost unchanged on account of relatively lower interest rates on 

spite of pressures on margins associated with the excess liquidity 
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Non-interest income

performance was largely underpinned by appreciable growth in 

non-interest income, excluding the latter non-recurrent gains, 

Operating expenses

of human capital, operating expenses posted a moderate increase 

0  
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3 
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Impairment charges

Loans and advances

of the relevant subsidiaries in line with their business development 

and business services, traders, domestic oriented industry as well as 
the property development sector. 

Other assets
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Credit exposure by sector

10 
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40 

Loans and advances
as at June 

2015
Rs m

Growth 
(%)

Mix
(%)

 Retail customers 10.5
 Credit cards 663 (4.0) 0.4
 Mortgages 19,401 13.1 11.2
 Other retail loans 13,320 7.9 7.7

 14.1

2.2

Total loans 173,081 7.7 100.0
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Funding

Total deposits, which remain the predominant source of funding for 

increase in rupee deposits. An appreciable progression in deposits 
was also registered at the level of the foreign banking subsidiaries, 

year earlier.

Assets mix as at 30 June 2015

Others

Sources of fund
as at June

2015
Rs m

Growth 
(%)

Mix 
(%)

 Total deposits 219,681 18.1 93.6

Demand 84,097 30.9 35.8

Savings 95,101 14.7 40.5

Time 38,078 2.2 16.2

2,405 1.0

 Other borrowed funds 9,482 6.8 4.0

 Subordinated liabilities 5,556 2.7 2.4

Capital resources

capitalisation levels were maintained, as gauged by the overall capital 
adequacy ratio remaining well above the regulatory limit to stand at 

%
 

Shareholders’ funds and capital adequacy
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Overview

their business development in the face of an exigent operating 

servicing individual and corporate clients within the domestic 

involvement, while making further inroads in the non-banking 
field. Overall, while exercising market vigilance and catering for 

to lay key emphasis on the diversification of its exposures 
across markets, alongside promoting the continuous upgrade 
of internal proficiencies for sustained market development. 

broadening the scope of business development opportunities 
that can be availed of across the organisation, with due focus 

various business lines, pertaining particularly to investor-related 

relation to the latter, further headway has been made during 

platform for handling trade finance, cards outsourcing and 
undertaking consulting assignments for banking counterparts, 
operating notably in Africa.

Assets - Breakdown by cluster

Overseas banking

Other investments

Contribution to profit within the cluster

Banking cluster

the previous year. This evolution was mainly explained by the 

FY 15

FY 14
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position locally and extend its involvement on the regional 

presently engaged in reinforcing its operational capabilities in 
terms of people, processes and systems, that will facilitate the 

latter has been elaborated to enhance earnings generation in 

being generally in line with ongoing strategic orientations, the 

international hotel and project finance.

Retail

was confronted by a challenging operating environment on 
account of soft economic conditions and the heightened 
competitive landscape amidst a high liquidity situation. Yet, the 
unit has maintained its lead in the market, backed by diversified 
and customer-centric business undertakings, a well-calibrated 
multichannel strategy, and bolstered capabilities. These led to 
a double-digit increase in its gross operating margin, inter alia 

contributed to another strong growth in terms of assets under 

was duly catered for, with reinforced risk management practices 
enabling market activities to depict a suitable risk-return profile.  

headway in nurturing and consolidating close-knit relationships 
with clients, anchored on its ongoing strategies to shift from a 
transactional to a relationship banking mind-set and improve the 
quality of customer experiences. As such, the unit has enhanced 

MCB Ltd

confronted by soft economic conditions, sluggish domestic private 

contained expenses growth and broad-based revenue expansion. 

growth momentum on the back of the continued increase in the 
loan portfolio, especially in relation to foreign-sourced activities, 
while non-interest income was boosted by an important rise 
in net fee and commission, driven by the wealth management, 

profit from continuing operations before provisions posted an 

when excluding the non-recurrent gain on sale of securities in 

The positive outcome for the year under review has been 

expansion strategy aimed at diversifying its operations towards 
emerging and niche market segments, alongside strengthening 

strides were made in enhancing customer service quality, 
reinforcing risk management and bolstering internal capacity. 

operational excellence journey, notably characterised by process 
reviews being initiated within back-office operations for efficiency 

best-of-breed technologies as gauged by further enhancements 
brought to its technological platforms, the prime of which being 

contribution to the revenue line, while dedicated recruitment 
programmes were launched during the year to attract the 
required profiles to support our growth ambitions. 
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the deployment and customer-centricity of its modern delivery 

the range and attractiveness of its product-line. The interplay 
of these strategic levers has underpinned the success of 
business development endeavours conducted during the year. A 

take-up was boosted by the flexibility provided to customers to 
choose between three different repayment options as well as 
commercial campaigns undertaken in collaboration with third-

part of the strategy to make banking accessible and attractive 
to customers across age brackets, income groups and life cycle 

saved but also offers the chance to participate in bi-annual lucky 
draws and win interesting prizes for every additional Rs 1,000 

this plan a free Visa prepaid card. The latter gives the possibility 
for parents to set a strict spending limit, as well as to conveniently 
transfer pocket money to their children’s card and allow them to 
manage their savings and expenses responsibly.

continued to widen its market involvement by capitalising on its 
enriched value proposition and relationship-building campaigns. 

introduced, whereby a comprehensive assessment of a client’s 
current financial situation is conducted in full confidentiality and 
in collaboration with the individual, through a ratio analysis of 
his or her borrowing, savings and investment positions, as well 
as the determination of monthly spending and budget profiles. 
This personalised service provides a solid basis for the Select 

a holistic product offering, which is attuned to the client’s current 

market positioning vis-à-vis high net worth customers, backed by 
its brand and business relationship building drive, which enabled 
it to effectively broadcast its attractive product suite. This 
was, notably, achieved via participation in key roadshows and 
conferences as well as the sponsorship of high-profile events, 

socialise, whilst enjoying the finest wines in the world.  As regards 

was underpinned by new customer acquisitions and an increase 
in the share of wallet for existing clients, backed by the further 
widening and refinement of the range of service offerings as well 
as increasing client proximity, while cross-selling opportunities 

which aimed at providing guidance to some 200 directors of 

capital expenditure, working capital and cash flow management. 

entrepreneurs are provided with an array of online resources, 
which offer them strategic and financial tools to start, manage 
and expand their businesses. 

upgraded staff competencies by way of dedicated training 

of action learning and coaching, with the guiding objective 
being to improve the quality of interactions and relationships 
with customers in the quest for customer service excellence. 

and systematic pipeline management, hence enhancing sales 
efficiency and promoting closer customer relationships. On 
the same note, no efforts have been spared in optimising and 
automating processes towards achieving greater operational 
efficiency, alongside actively promoting the migration towards 

customer satisfaction and advocacy, notably in respect of 

surveys within each customer segment to seek levels of 
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aspirations of customers, notably those who are fast developing marked preferences for the utilisation of technological tools.  Against 
this backdrop, the business development thrust across market sub-segments will be upheld, supported by the improved attractiveness 
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A series of business meetings was organised to empower small and medium enterprises
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Introduction

for the execution of coherent and integrated initiatives to actively foster its channel strategy. Such endeavours fall under the umbrella of 

enhance the speed and flexibility with which it delivers simplified and personalised solutions to its clients.

yet another level.  Selected branches are also endowed with modern lounges where premium customers have the opportunity to meet 
their bankers and be attended to in privileged settings for the fast-tracking of their transactional needs.  Also, front-liners at some 
branches are able to capture client loan and card applications on tablets.

note, the ability to instantly provide in-branch clients with ready-to-use solutions has, recently, allowed for the prompt reissuance of 

secure functionalities, simplifies everyday banking and provides customers with the freedom, comfort and security in managing their 

regular security awareness campaigns are continuously conducted to educate customers on online banking and increase channel 

•  Reflecting the headway made in paving the way for reduced utilisation of paper and the enrichment of customer relationships, the 
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Zooming on the Bank’s mobile banking platform

while bringing new landmark functionalities, with the aim being to harness the transformative power of technological enhancements to 

anytime and anywhere to a rewarding real-life on-the-go banking and payments experience, using only a smartphone or tablet connected 
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Cards

This outcome has been spurred by focused initiatives aiming at 

of product innovation, customer-centric relationship management, 

been driven by endeavours to enrich its already extensive suite 
of customised card and mobile payment offerings to cater for the 
differentiated needs of both individual and corporate customers. 

A major transformational customer experience relates to the move 

misplaced and necessitating a lengthy time period before their re-

a convenient and safer alternative to carrying cash.  The cardholder 

used for leisure, studies or business purposes.  Notably, these prepaid 
cards simplify the e-commerce experience by enabling customers to 
make secure purchases in the same denominated currency as their 
favourite online retail stores and websites.  At another level, true to 
its calling of going the extra mile to deliver value to its customers, 

involves a dedicated hotline and responsive support team in order 
to provide merchants with prompt and effective solutions in case of 
technical issues, including downtime on communication lines and on 
point of sales terminals.  

exclusive commercial and promotional campaigns, by leveraging the 

and prompt increased card usage at points of sale, as well as foster 

opportunity to its valued customers to win all-inclusive packages to 

Tell tales few can tell’ 

accommodation, transfers and a cash prize of Rs 100,000 for two 

draw to win a package for two to enjoy a trip on the legendary 

gauged by a double-digit growth recorded in card utilisation, when 

card penetration across its customer base via regular in-branch sales 
activities, direct mailing campaigns and roadshows.  

execution of dedicated initiatives, notably those associated with the 

light, the function will leverage its sound business model, enhanced 
customer proximity, strengthened internal capacities, and greater 

of innovative technological improvements to provide customised 
solutions, which are in sync with contemporary lifestyles for the 
delight and convenience of its customers.  

The new version of Juice won MCB the “Best Product Launch in Africa” award by EMEA Finance.
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Corporate and Institutional Banking

relation to the business architecture, the internal competency line-up 

solutions, alongside enhancing the deployment of its strategic thrusts. 

coordinated international market development strategy, especially 
given the growing reach of activities beyond local shores.

mentioned intentions, with a view to promoting sound and sustained 

the unit will continue mobilising resources to work towards and 

underlying business development ambitions. Thus, capitalising on its 
operational set-up, the unit will, over time, seek to uphold its leading 

before, adhere to the risk appetite that has, lately, been reviewed for 

meet the outsourcing needs of regional banking counterparts. All 

updated risk appetite, customised solutions, business partnerships 
and correspondent banking relationships, enhanced market visibility, 

Nairobi in order to further its strategic endeavours across markets 
and geographies.

Servicing domestically-located corporates

as a result of the slow-moving private sector investment at the national 
level, while some economic sectors experienced sub-par performances 

and intensifying competitive pressures, the segment continued to build 
close-knit customer relationships and pursued wide-ranging market 
development strategies by leveraging its competencies as well as the 

the unit chalked a resilient growth in gross operating margin, alongside 
preserving asset quality.   

Overall, the segment has consolidated its status as the trusted business 
partner of corporates across established and emerging economic sectors 

architecture aims at bringing under one roof a synergy of laboratories 
with complementary expertise spanning areas such as clinical research, 

energy saving and carbon emissions reduction projects through a grant 

team with the aim of bringing invaluable insights on various topical 

a networking forum entitled “How to secure transactions in international trade 
and avoid hidden cost traps

and business professionals to listen to various well known subject 
matter speakers who also participated in panel discussions as part of the 

including strategies to enable operators meet the needs of travellers of 



96 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Business and financial review

tomorrow.  The conference also covered a number of challenges facing 
the sector such as the advent of new digital technologies, new distribution 
channels, low cost airlines, new emerging markets, evolving trends, tastes 
and expectations.

to reinforce its relationship with the network of management companies 

structures in place, the risk management and compliance processes of the 
global business operations, its range of product offerings as well as the 

capabilities and technologies and the continuous improvement of risk 

development, notably through continuous investments in hands-on 
coaching, knowledge-sharing platforms as well as more formal in-house 

in terms of the implementation of tailor-made information systems 
in relation to our credit protection management software and project 

Catering for foreign corporate and institutional clients

economic conditions, declining world oil and commodity prices, as well 
as some adverse socio-politico-economic conditions besetting some of 
its presence and non-presence countries. Notwithstanding this challenging 

forays in servicing corporate and institutional clients on the regional 

and credentials, with a focus on deepening customer and correspondent 
banking relationships, extending market visibility, as well as strengthening 

syndicated loan market through deals in African countries, as well as on 
the secondary market for the purchase and sale of risks, by capitalising 
on the network of risk participation and syndication agreements 
concluded with top-tier international banks.  At the same time, despite 

clients operating in the regional oil trading and importing business, the 

inroads were also accomplished by building upon expertise garnered in 

infrastructure and telecommunications sectors across Africa and the 

monitor and tap into regional business opportunities, whilst helping in the 

brand franchise, namely by capitalising on cross-selling opportunities across 
business segments and client groups, as well as fronting the execution of 

international gathering of African business leaders for the promotion and 

networking space to nurture business relationships as well as further 
broadcast its value proposition on the regional marketplace. Additionally, 

The Forward Thinking events focusing on relevant topics were well attended by corporate customers
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in line with its mandate of acting as the coordinating unit spearheading 

as well as operational processes in presence countries. 

All these business realisations were achieved on the back of increased 

which contributed to upholding excellent customer service and the 

and management framework, as well as due diligence considerations in 
order to take into account the underlying complexity of the different 
environments in which international operations are deployed.  

Foreign banking subsidiaries

Overview

propositions, optimisation of the distribution platforms and reaping of 

adaptation to customers’ needs and expectations.  A key part of delivering 
this strategy across the foreign banking entities over the last year centred 

migration or upgrades of core banking systems, process streamlining and 
automation as well as training programmes.  At another level, a major 

with commitments thereto in terms of reporting requirements being duly 
supported by the aforementioned improvements to the core banking 
systems.    

MCB Madagascar

context, marked by sluggish economic growth as well as a still-subdued 

its active market involvement and sustained improvements in operational 

stepping up of investment in securities, net interest income grew by 

operating expenses linked to the execution of business-driven initiatives. 

business development was anchored on its overriding focus on the 
continuous reinforcement of client relationships, backed by quality 
service as well as the provision of a comprehensive and customised MCB was the diamond sponsor of the 2015 Africa CEO Forum held in Geneva
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measures. A key milestone was achieved with the successful execution of 

foster effective harmonisation of operational processes. The programme, 

per se, 

that the implementation of the transformation programme has paved the 
way for further process re-engineering and automation at the bank as 
well as intensive staff training programmes, which altogether assisted in 
bolstering the effectiveness of daily business operations and in improving 
customer experiences.   

bolster its ability to duly confront the operating environment and take 
advantage of growth-enhancing avenues. Towards these ends, it will 
strengthen client relationships, foster the implementation of innovative 
solutions, and invest in new enabling technologies and human resources.

MCB Moçambique

allowance for credit impairment. At another level, the sharp depreciation 

quarter of calendar year 2014 has led to material unrealised revaluation 
losses in respect of the bank’s US dollar-denominated subordinated debt, 

which, as a result, increased only modestly during the period under review. 
On a more positive note, however, net fee and commission income 

appreciable progress has been made in terms of cost management, which 

proposition and enhanced its internal capabilities.  A notable achievement 

growth, the latter platform also catered for regulatory reporting purposes.  

resources to enable the offering of a wider range of products and services, 

be better equipped to leverage growth-enhancing avenues linked to the 
country’s promising economic prospects.

MCB Seychelles

maintained a strong balance sheet. This has been, mainly, underpinned by 

strengthening of the bank’s brand within both the corporate and retail 
segments. The growth in the loan portfolio has led to net interest income 

increase in interest rates linked to treasury bills. After making allowance 

on account of favourable market conditions, operating income grew by 

expenses remained broadly contained in the period under review, with 

Seychelles was underpinned by positive offshoots emanating from 
sound market development, continuous focus on customer service 
excellence, targeted promotional and sponsoring campaigns, as well 
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its offerings notably regarding housing loans. Additionally, towards 

th

Go to the Games’ lucky draw campaign, 

its strategic undertakings by leveraging on bolstered capabilities in 
terms of human resources, systems and processes. On another note, 
continuous efforts have been devoted towards gearing up service 
levels through human capacity building initiatives backed by ongoing 

to disseminate internal information amongst all business units, whilst 
fostering increased synergies.  A technical migration of cards activities 

kick-started to foster the generation of higher economies of scale.  

intent on establishing suitable competitive advantages in its markets 
of interest by shoring up the productivity of its operations and 
further enriching its value proposition in line with evolving customer 

exploit avenues for extending its market presence in untapped 
geographical areas, especially by extending its channel capabilities, 
whilst increasingly capitalising on resources, core capabilities and 
business expertise of the various departments and entities within 

MCB Maldives

interest income was boosted by a substantial rise in net fee and commission 

have been impacted by investments in information technology through the 

the necessary risk management measures are, already, being adopted to 
improve outcomes in the period ahead, the bank’s allowance for credit 

situation prevailing in the local banking sector. All in all, a decline in net 

the bank in respect of business development, human capacity building, 

seen ground-breaking additions to the panoply of services provided by 

reloadable card, currently available in US dollar denomination, acts as a 

MCB Seychelles ran a special Indian Ocean Games promotion and the winner scooped an 
all-expenses trip to Réunion.
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smart and cost-effective alternative to carrying cash since it can be used 
to effect transactions without any banking relationship or credit approval.  

friendly platform offering customers a better browsing experience and 

of these business realisations, several promotional and market development 

th 

process streamlining and further human capacity building. 

positioning and foster an enhanced contribution to domestic socio-
economic progress by providing an increasing array of banking 

and corporate customers.  

Banque Française Commerciale Océan Indien (BFCOI)

construction sector.

million while operating expenses were well mastered and remained at the 

on that of 2014. 

MCB Maldives had a booth at the Marine Expo 2015 to promote its growing range of services
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MCB Capital Markets Ltd and its subsidiaries (MCBCM)

driven primarily by the successful completion of various corporate 

products, an increase in assets under management and revenues from 
underwriting services.

Corporate Finance Advisory

completed seven transactions, by advising major corporates on their 
capital market transactions, comprising rights issues and bond issues, 
private placements, renegotiation of bank debt and stock listings.    

their strategic endeavours in Africa by drawing upon our network 
of relationships to identify reputable partners that met their 
requirements, both operationally and culturally.

liquidity in the domestic capital market which gave our clients the 

backed capital-guaranteed products, taking advantage of high liquidity 

dollar- and rupee-denominated capital-guaranteed products, 

assets respectively.

needs, both locally and overseas.

Investment Management

The investment management team also achieved excellent results for 

of strong client retention, favourable market movements and new 
client mandates.  

that gives investors the opportunity to invest in local currency bonds 

international interest.

Contribution to profit within the cluster

FY 15

FY 14
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range to provide investors with a wider choice of products that meet 

efforts and improve our product visibility and accessibility both in 

Stockbrokers

Our brokerage business had another successful year, recording a 

traded volumes driven mainly by foreign funds exiting the market as 

brokerage fees earned increased when compared to the previous 

to provide long-term regular investment plans to a major client.  The 

in August 2014, attracting mainly retail investors seeking an exposure 

the company underwrote and placed two rights issues totalling Rs 

following the success of the previous structured product issues in 

above, two other capital-guaranteed products were launched in 

earmarked, the successful implementation of which should contribute 
to maintaining positive results for the brokerage and investments 
business.

Registry & Transfer Agent

of corporate events and provided registry services for the issue 

to make use of its experience and of its infrastructure to assist with 
the handling of corporate events on the domestic market and seek 

Private Equity Management

contacts.

MCB Equity Fund Ltd

MCB Capital Market’s launch of the India Nifty Fund in August 2014 attracted much media 
interest
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MCB Factors Ltd

clients against the assignment of their trade receivables, the entity 
takes charge of the complete sales ledger administration service 
and the credit control management of the debtors’ books.  On the 
domestic scene, by leveraging its rich business experience and its 
deep market knowledge, the company proposes both recourse and 
non-recourse factoring services, with the latter offerings implying 
protection against potential bad debts.  On the international front, 

million, supported by a robust expansion in the assignment of invoices.  
This performance was, to a notable extent, backed by inroads made in 
respect of the quality of customer relationships, while the evolution 
of operating expenses was carefully monitored.

Credit Guarantee Insurance Co. Ltd

customers by ensuring protection in respect of their trade receivables. 

being adversely impacted by the increase in the number of claims.

Other Investments Cluster

Fincorp Investment Ltd

while operating leases also witnessed a healthy growth of some Rs 

this calendar year, resulting in leases already approved and ready for 

  

was closed in order to undergo major refurbishment. The centre is 
now fully operational and it is expected that revenue growth will be 
witnessed this year.    

International Card Processing Services Ltd (ICPS)

the years, established itself as a one-stop-shop in respect of the 

economies of scale in outsourcing their card processing activities 

growth, supported by strong internal capabilities, notably its dedicated 
team of seasoned card business and technical experts possessing 
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centric approach to provide state-of-the-art as well as increasingly 
convenient and comprehensive services to its valued customers in 

modern technologies, it will focus on its core expertise, with its 

by positioning itself as a recognised card business enabler and as a 
partner of choice for judiciously attending to the cards outsourcing 
needs of its clients by creating more value in its offerings.

MCB Consulting Services Ltd

continued to develop its business ecosystem notably by establishing 
strategic partnerships with leading solution providers such as 

inter 
alia, targeted recruitments and the technical as well as professional 

business development trips and active participations in selected 

milestones included the successful completion of the transformation 

garnering credentials in targeted countries through strategic projects. 

support and maintenance and “health checks”, which entail a strategic 
review of an organisation across the people, process and technology 

gains and increase collaboration with major partners, focusing on selected 

the associated substantial investments linked to its development stage as 

MCB Forward Foundation

for the social, environmental and economic well-being of society through 

Blue Penny Museum

towards the promotion of arts and culture and, more generally, the 

Business and financial review
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Report



Risk Management Report

Risk Management Philosophy

Our business model

MCB Group Ltd views sound risk management as a key foundation of 
the long-lasting and healthy business growth of the entities operating 
under its aegis. It is, hence, committed to fostering the adoption of 
a holistic, coordinated and systematic approach to risk management 
throughout the Group.

Our corporate objective

Alongside fostering compliance with industry best practices, good 
corporate governance standards and any statutory and regulatory 
requirements, the Group ensures that risks faced are effectively 

while concurrently upholding an environment which is conducive to 
the creation and nurturing of business growth opportunities.

108 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015
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Governance framework

•  Underlying orientations determined by the Board of MCB Group Ltd, with 
responsibilities being delegated to its sub-committees

•  Direct oversight exercised by the Boards of entities and their relevant 
committees

of effective risk management, as gauged by MCB Ltd providing inter alia 
internal audit and compliance services to other entities where appropriate

Capitalisation

•  Continuous strengthening of capitalisation levels to underpin growth 
ambitions and meet regulatory requirements, wherever applicable

capital-enhancing measures leveraged if required

Funding and liquidity

•  Deposits representing the primary funding source for the banking cluster, 
with negligible activity levels in overly volatile funding markets

•  Maintenance of adequate liquid asset levels to ensure that obligations are 
met on a timely basis

Quality of assets and exposures

in terms of market segment, sector, product type and/or geography
• Sensible strategy execution and prudent market penetration
•  Banking cluster fostering sound asset quality portfolio by means of strong 

credit discipline, cautious loan origination and disbursements, as well as 
active efforts deployed for debt collection and recovery

Guiding principles Key underpinnings

• Entities adhere to the overall risk 

appetite and strategic direction 

adopted by MCB Group Ltd

• Strong, coherent and harmonised 

risk management frameworks, 

processes, policies, limits and targets 

are in place

• Clear segregation of duties fostered 

between market-facing business units 

and the risk management functions 

and committees

• Effectiveness of risk management 

underpinned by adequate governance 

set-ups, healthy capitalisation, funding 

and liquidity positions, and soundness 

of overall exposures

• Sustainable returns are supported by 

the adequate pricing of risk
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Risk Management Framework

Overview

risks by its different entities, backed by the articulation of clear and coherent responsibilities and reporting lines for risk management and oversight across the 
organisation. Furthermore, the Group promotes a risk culture, whereby the related set of objectives, policies and practices are shared across the organisation. 

reference to the ways in which they identify, understand, as well as make decisions and choices between risks and opportunities.  All in all, the risk management 

Governance

In alignment with set business development orientations, the Board of MCB Group Ltd determines the principal strategies in respect of the risk management of the 
company and its subsidiaries, while ensuring that all laws, regulations and codes of business practice are abided by. In the same vein, underpinned by the establishment 
and enforcement of clear lines of responsibility and accountability throughout the organisation, it ensures that the relevant procedures and practices are in place to 
protect the company’s assets and reputation. For the discharge of its duties, the Board is assisted by sub-committees (as illustrated below) which enable it to properly 

risk issues as well as to monitor relevant portfolios against the formulated risk appetite, in particular for the banking subsidiaries.

Risk Monitoring Committee
Remuneration and Corporate

Governance CommitteeAudit Committee

Board

MCB Group Ltd

Implements rigorous internal 

processes and control which 

identify, monitor, measure and 

report different types of risks

Caters for the monitoring of 

control processes and the 

effectiveness of systems

Develops the Group’s general 

policy on corporate governance

Ensures that no material conflict of 

interest  exists/arises in conducting 

business

Ensures preparation of accurate 

financial reporting and statements 

in compliance with applicable legal 

requirements and accounting 

standards

Reviews risks faced and actions to 

mitigate them; sets risk exposure 

limits and monitors risk portfolios 

against the latter

Assigns relevant responsibility and 

accountability lines

Risk Management Framework
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Risk Management Strategy and Risk Appetite

of all material risks; (ii) to formulate the appropriate risk tolerance levels and ensure that business development ambitions are in alignment with them; and 

undertaken. While ensuring congruence with the risk appetite determined at Group level, the entities determine their own risk tolerance levels which they 
continuously monitor and, if necessary, update to shape up the optimal level of risk that they are able and willing to take in the pursuit of their business 
objectives.  A detailed description of the key tenets of the Group’s overall risk management strategy is provided as follows.

• Priority is given to business activities with risks that are transparent and can be properly understood, measured and managed 

• The Group entities adhere to risk management strategies that enable them to optimise risk-return decisions 

• Risk management practices are regularly reviewed and updated to ensure consistency with business activities and relevance to financial 

strategies, while catering for changes in the economic and market landscapes

General approach

• The Group’s consistent approach to risk management across entities is secured on accountability, responsibility, independence and 

transparency principles, backed by the proper understanding and regular reporting of risk exposures

• The Group ensures that risks are identified, assessed, managed and controlled in a systematic manner, with related policies, roles and 

responsibilities being subject to regular review for continuous improvement

• A clear identification of the activities, tools, procedures, processes, techniques and organisational arrangements that are required for 

effective risk management is fostered to ensure that risks faced are timely and judiciously recognised and mitigated

Operational underpinnings for effective risk management

• The Group carefully calibrates business choices in alignment with the set risk appetite, which is embedded into key decision-making 

processes. Specifically, the risk appetite of MCB Ltd is entrenched within policies, authorities, limits and targets. The Bank ensures that 

its strategic objectives match its risk tolerances which are translated into relevant risk limits for different activities and customer 

segments, with the parameters set being expressed qualitatively and quantitatively where appropriate.

• In line with Group-level directions and except in some cases whereby alternative arrangements are made by virtue of the nature of 

the businesses, the entities of the Group generally adhere to the ‘three lines of defence’ approach in their day-to-day operations in 

order to ensure that risk management efforts generate optimal outcomes. This is set out as follows: (i) first line: the Board, its sub-

committees and management are ultimately responsible for the management of risk; (ii) second line: the relevant risk functions/officers 

are engaged, in the course of their day-to-day business, in ensuring the implementation of risk management policies; and (iii) third line: 

independent functions, notably relating to internal audit and compliance, provide additional assurance with regard to the significance 

and effectiveness of risk management practices being adhered to.

Risk Management Strategy

Core principles embraced

Underlying characteristics of the risk infrastructure
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Positioning and Performance of the Group

Context and Developments

prevailing domestically and internationally. From a regulatory and statutory viewpoint, in addition to evolving domestic legislations and foreign 
codes/conventions, the year under review saw the introduction, within the domestic banking sector, of mandatory requirements linked to the 
Basel III rules on capital formulation and allocation as well as macroprudential measures put into place by the Central Bank. Cognisant of the 
environment in which it operates, the Group has, during FY 2014/15, anchored its market development moves on the exercise of continuous 
market vigilance and the further bolstering of internal risk management capabilities. Key points in relation to risk management activities and 

regulatory requirements, the capital adequacy ratios exhibited by the banking subsidiaries of the Group have remained healthy. Of note, Moody’s had, 
in October 2014, downgraded the credit ratings of the two rated Mauritian banks, including MCB Ltd, in the wake of their restructuring exercise 

subordinated notes listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius,  in anticipation of its restructuring exercise. Since then the Group has taken necessary 

it had attributed to MCB’s ratings. Currently, the ratings of MCB Ltd are assigned a stable outlook by Moody’s, with such a stance being also applied 

Furthermore, the adoption and dissemination of the risk culture is continuously fostered across the Bank, underpinned by (i) closer collaboration 

transactions; (ii) the effective realisation of temporary placements of Account Executives within the Credit Management Business Unit (BU) 

capital stress-testing and scenario analyses; and (ii) facilitate the review of the impact of changes in both business strategy and external factors, 

banking subsidiaries, a thorough assessment was conducted for the constituent subsidiaries operating under MCB Capital Markets Ltd, the 
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•  Moreover, the foreign banking subsidiaries have pursued their efforts in reviewing the range of their risk management frameworks to foster greater 

management, compliance and control activities of the company; (iii) overseeing the integrity of the company’s systems of operational controls; and 
(iv) looking after the change management process. 

Financial Soundness

Group ensured that its funding and liquidity risks were effectively managed, alongside improving its asset quality and capitalisation metrics.

Capitalisation

Philosophy

While ensuring that applicable regulatory requirements are met at all times, the capital management approach of the Group is to ensure that its 
subsidiaries are adequately capitalised to achieve sound and sustained business growth, alongside protecting and maintaining the trust of shareholders 

lays emphasis on optimising the allocation of capital across businesses.

Performance

Over the period under review and as depicted in the following illustrations, the Group has, on a consolidated basis, further improved its already 

levels is a key priority by virtue of their business operations and regulatory responsibilities. Likewise, these entities represent the mainstay of the 
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Distribution of risk-weighted assets by cluster as at 30 June 2015

Banking

Other investments

Asset quality

Philosophy

Backed by appropriate market alertness as well as the careful selection 

committed to preserving the soundness of its exposures.

Performance

ratio at Group level was slightly less, after taking into account the relative 
deterioration in asset quality at the level of MCB Moçambique and MCB 

MCB Group Ltd

Jun 14 Jun 15

Rs m Rs m

Capital base 38,050 42,685

Jun 14 Jun 15 Mix(%)

Risk-weighted assets 233,168 246,966 100.0

Credit risk

Weighted amount of on- balance sheet assets 183,390 82.7

Weighted amount of off- balance sheet exposures 9.1

Operational risk

Weighted risk assets for operational risk 7.3

Market risk

Aggregate net open foreign exchange position 1.0

Capital adequacy (%)
of which Tier 1 13.3 14.5

Components of capital adequacy
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Asset quality

Sectorwise distribution

June 2015 Exposures Non-performing loans 
(NPLs)

Allowances for credit 
impairment

MCB Group Ltd Rs m Mix (%) Rs m % of loans provision
Portfolio
provision

Loans to customers 169,326 97.8 10,755 6.4 4,764 1,120

Tourism 35,275 20.4 851 2.4 258 79

Traders 20,825 12.0 1,419 6.8 779 164

Construction 16,859 9.7 2,040 12.1 691 225

Financial and business services 15,327 8.9 128 0.8 74 51

Manufacturing 11,768 6.8 611 5.2 329 80

of which EPZ 4,761 2.8 68 1.4 52 24

8,056 4.7 926 11.5 37 9

Transport 4,093 2.4 985 24.1 660 47

Personal and professional 31,753 18.3 2,611 8.2 1,140 201

of which credit cards 852 0.5 74 8.6 44 12

of which housing 19,401 11.2 1,017 5.2 157 84

14,331 8.3 855 6.0 656 194

11,040 6.4 328 3.0 140 70

Loans to banks 3,755 2.2 0 0.0 0 17

Total 173,081 100.0 10,755 6.2 4,764 1,137
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Funding and liquidity

Philosophy

over the past few years, of its loans to deposits and liquid assets to total assets ratios. Basically, while accessing wholesale markets as and when 

customer deposits. Furthermore, an appropriate level of liquid assets is kept to ensure that obligations can be met within a reasonable short-term 
time-frame.

Performance

During FY 2014/15, amidst the persistence of excess liquidity conditions in the domestic banking sector, the Group maintained its comfortable 
liquidity and funding positions, as demonstrated below.

Looking Ahead

management framework. In this respect, alongside preserving its asset quality and effectively managing funding and liquidity risks, the Group will ensure 

utilisation of capital across business lines and market segments, while remaining ready to make the necessary market-based moves so as to bolster 
capitalisation levels if ever required, backed by a thorough assessment and the harnessing of capital-raising avenues. Ultimately, while ensuring that 
relevant minimum regulatory capital ratios are exceeded at all times and that any stipulated Basel rules are adhered to, the Group will manage its 
capital resources to foster appropriate deployment across business segments, while maximising returns derived from its activities.

Funding and liquidity

0  

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

0  

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

Jun 11 Jun 12 Jun 13 Jun 14 Jun 15

R
s 

b
n
 

%

Loans Deposits Borrowings Subordinated debt

Loans to deposits ratio Loans to funding base ratio

0  

40 

20 

60 

80 

100 

0  

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

Jun 11 Jun 12 Jun 13 Jun 14 Jun 15

R
s 

b
n
 

%

Liquid assets (Rs bn) Liquid assets to total assets (%)

Loan and funding base Liquid assets



117MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

subsidiaries as well as that of MCB Group Ltd. On the operational 
front, the Desk leads or assists foreign subsidiaries in the development 
and implementation of risk policies, and provides support in the 
resolution of internal and external auditors’ recommendations. 
Additionally, it assists overseas banking subsidiaries with regard to 

Level Agreements, the Internal Audit BU and Legal SBU of the Bank 
provide technical and advisory assistance in support of the operation 
and functioning of the Group’s local and foreign subsidiaries, with 
the regular assignments being carried out to assist these entities in 
better managing their risks as well as improving the quality of their 

the Audit Committee and Board of each overseas banking subsidiary, 
with relevant matters being escalated to the Audit Committee of 
MCB Group Ltd if required.

Overview of Risk Management
by Cluster

General Approach

While adhering to the risk management principles validated by the 
Board of MCB Group Ltd and being monitored in this respect by 

and executes its own infrastructures, standards, practices and 
processes. For each entity, the Board is responsible to determine 
and monitor the implementation of risk management policies for all 

of authority and responsibilities from the Board of the entity to 
dedicated committees and/or management levels, supported by 
appropriate structures and control mechanisms. As underpinnings, 
control processes and reporting lines have been put into place 
across entities, with emphasis being laid on the segregation of duties 
regarding risk taking, processing and control. Overall, the types of risk 
infrastructure and control processes that are adopted at the level of 
each entity is a function of the nature, size and complexity of the risk 
involved. Besides, the approach and practices embraced by entities 

in which they are involved; (iii) the challenges characterising the 
economic environment; and (iv) any statutory and regulatory 
requirements as well as business codes and standards impacting the 
industries and countries in which businesses are carried out.

Intra-Group Level

With a view to fostering the adoption of best practice risk 
management standards, the entities of the Group leverage 
the core competences and synergies available throughout the 
organisation in line with the concept of Group Shared Services. 
By means of its dedicated business units and segments, MCB Ltd 
is actively engaged in the provision of intra-Group services to 
the foreign banking subsidiaries as well as the entities operating 

of the Group, backed by the elaboration of clear guidelines and 
mandates. Dedicated resources are devoted to foster a more 
focused and integrated stewardship with regard to the operations 
and performance of the Group’s foreign banking subsidiaries. In this 

terms of support to risk management with involvement of MCB’s 
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Main Risks Faced

Principal 
risks Our strategic objectives Key mitigating actions undertaken 

by entities

Credit risk

contractual obligations to the Group as and 
when they fall due; Credit risk, typically,  includes 
counterparty risk, settlement risk and concentration 
risk, with the latter referring to the risk that the 

of its lending portfolio due to the build-up of 
exposures to a counterparty, industry, market or 
product amongst others

principles; to, in the case of the banking 

broad characteristics set out in target market 
criteria; to achieve the targeted risk-return 

manage the quality of the portfolio

Setting risk appetite in alignment with our strategic 
orientations and capital management objectives; 

origination and monitoring framework, including, 

credit management process as well as clear delegation 
of decision-making authority for approval of facilities 
amongst others; establishing prudent lending criteria 
to foster appropriate and responsible lending; 
reviewing the credit portfolio on a regular basis to 
proactively manage any delinquency and minimising 
any undue credit concentrations; development of 
risk-response strategies and undertaking credit 
management and recovery actions if necessary

Country risk
conditions or events in a particular country inhibit 
the ability of counterparties in that country to meet 

framework and adequate control 
processes for assessing country risk, 
determining risk appetite and allocating 
exposures across geographies

Setting risk appetite in terms of country risk 

country risk model to assess country risk and 

its expertise and knowledge of the country’s 
economy amongst others; ensuring the 
proactive monitoring of country risk exposures 
against country limits set; promptly reviewing 
country limits against the backdrop of adverse 
unexpected events

Market risk

adverse movements in market variables such as 
equity, bond and commodity prices, currency 
exchange and interest rates, etc. 

limits and targets the overall market 
risk exposures, across both the trading 
and banking books, including market-
contingent risks such as counterparty 

from the Group’s market risk activities

Adopting internal limits for mix of assets and 
liabilities; setting and reviewing asset and liability 
allocation objectives and targets to sustain both 

balance sheet from a market, funding and 

loss limits for trading book activities

Interest rate 
risk the prices of interest rate related securities and 

derivatives, impacting on the Group’s earnings or 
economic value of equity

changes on the Group’s overall risk 

economic value perspective

an index; repricing gap analysis techniques used 
to monitor structural interest rate risk in the 
banking book

Funding and 
liquidity risk

(without additional relative cost) over any given 
period of time

commitment as and when they fall due

to rapidly and effectively respond to the 
demands of our clients and foster our 
business development

different categories of depositors; adopting 

mismatches; maintenance of adequate and 
regularly monitored  liquid assets portfolio; use 
of international Basel III liquidity measures as 
reference to further enhance the liquidity risk 
management framework

Equity 
investment 
risk

the fair value of an investment in a company, fund or any value by aligning the timing and size of 
investment to our risk appetite

across industries and geographies and carrying 
weakly correlated sources of return
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Principal 
risks Our strategic objectives Key mitigating actions undertaken 

by entities

Operational 
risk factors, inadequate or failed internal processes and 

systems or external events. It includes fraud and 
criminal activity, project risk, business continuity, 

Group’s operational risks in line with 

strategic intent to provide our customers 
with seamless services

the initiation of appropriate mitigating actions and the 
reporting thereon; implementing, in the case of the 
banking cluster, the principles of business continuity 
management to maintain the availability of critical 

levels; proactive assessment of risk (operational risk 
maps) and design of control framework, containing 
clear steps for the implementation of mitigating 
actions as and when required; continuous review of 

ensure systems are resilient, readily available for our 
customers and secure from cyber attack

Regulatory 
and 
compliance 
risk

changes in legislations and regulations on the 
operation and functioning of the organisation. 
It is the risk  of statutory or regulatory sanction 

or penalties linked to the failure to comply with 
any applicable laws, regulations or supervisory 
requirements

and legislations in force to safeguard 
the assets of the organisation

Leveraging our internal or external legal advisors 
as well as our compliance function; adoption 
of proper processes and procedures to meet 
various regulatory requirements; ensuring the 
continued investment in people, processes and 

its regulatory commitments; development of 
plans for regulatory changes and the tracking of 
progress against those plans

Strategic and 
business risk arising from inappropriate business decisions or 

inadequate future business strategies in relation 

business environment, Government or international 
regulatory decisions, client behaviour and 

such as poor choice of strategy; the risk includes 
strategic risk, business risk, as well as environmental, 
social and governance risks

orientations in a judicious and well-
thought manner, remain attentive to 
changes in the operating environment 
and pay close attention to  the current/
future exigencies of our customers

Developing appropriate platforms for judicious 
strategic planning and the implementation of 

due focus on ongoing changes in the operating 
environment; growing sensibly and setting out 
risk appetite in line with internal capabilities and 
external activity growth avenues; enhancing the 
range and adaptability of internal capabilities in 
terms of systems and processes; using reverse 
stress testing techniques to assess and mitigate 
risk arising from new potential strategic 
orientations of MCB

Reputation 
risk to the Group’s image caused by a negative media 

coverage, compliance failures, pending litigations 
or underperformance. Such damage may result 

relationships, which may impair the Group’s ability 
to retain and generate business

that our actions and behaviours are in 
line with best practice standards

or events (e.g. road-shows and promotional 
campaigns) to promote the brand image of 
the organisation; ensuring the consistent and 
regular monitoring of the Group’s reputation 

risk; proactively managing high risk situations
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escalated to the corresponding Board sub-committees of MCB Group 
Ltd. From an operational angle, the Asset and Liability Committee of 
each foreign banking subsidiary is responsible to ensure that overall asset 
and liability allocation decisions are adequately managed within limits/targets 
set by the Board and in accordance with local regulations. Elsewhere, the 
management teams of the foreign entities are responsible for conducting 
business within the espoused strategic framework as well as the risk appetite 
and policy set by their Board, while exercising oversight of risk portfolios 
through dedicated committees.

Capital management

Framework

to ensure that adequate capital resources are available for fostering 
sustained business growth and coping with adverse situations. At the 
same time, taking into account the demand for capital pursuant to 
business growth trajectories, the capital management policies of the 
Group provide an adequate backdrop for maximising return on capital 
employed and optimising long-term shareholder value creation, alongside 
meeting up with the requirements of stakeholders, notably regulators, 
rating agencies, correspondent banks, the authorities and customers.

Commensurate with the strategic orientations, risk appetite and 
risk management framework approved by the Board of MCB 
Group Ltd, the entities operating under the banking cluster abide 
by their internal policies and practices for undertaking their capital 
management initiatives, including (i) capital planning and allocation 
across business segments and geographies; (ii) capital reporting, 
budgeting and analysis; and (iii) management of capital consumption 
against budgets. In this respect, MCB Ltd is guided by its Internal 

provides the framework to ensure that adequate capital is kept 
beyond core minimum requirements towards supporting business 
activities. Concomitantly, the banking subsidiaries of the Group foster 
strict compliance with mandatory stipulations set by the regulators 
of their jurisdictions. As such, MCB Ltd fully complies with capital 
requirements attached to the Basel III rules as contained in the 
Guideline on Scope of Application of Basel III and Eligible Capital, 

arrangements the minimum total capital adequacy ratio required by 
the Central Bank for banks operating in Mauritius presently stands at 

constitute a capital conservation buffer, which is designed to ensure 

Banking

Governance

Functioning as per the directions set at Group level, the Board of 
each banking entity is responsible for strategy formulation in respect 
of risk-taking, risk appetite and policy setting. Importantly, the Board 
seeks to ensure that its strategies for the business are clearly linked 
to its appetite for credit and market as well as its tolerance level for 
operational risk, with the aim to ensure that the organisation manages 
its capital resources at an optimal level in support of growth-related 
objectives. Overall, in discharging its duties, the Board demonstrates, to 
the satisfaction of regulatory authorities and stakeholders, that, clear 
structure of policy and control systems emanating directly from, it is 
adopted to identify and manage the risk inherent in activities undertaken.

With regard to MCB Ltd, the Board has the ultimate responsibility of 

measured, monitored and managed, in line with embraced corporate 

for various countries, sectors and porfolios, after taking into account 

also monitoring the effectiveness of the Bank’s credit and country risk 
management structure. Furthermore, Management is accountable to 
the Board for ensuring the effectiveness of risk management and the 

basis, for providing independent risk control as well as managing credit, 
operational, market, information and physical security risks, alongside 

strong risk control framework is also fostered across the Bank through 
independent teams overseeing the internal audit and legal functions 
as well as the compliance with laws, regulations, codes of conduct and 
standards of good practice. 

As for the foreign banking subsidiaries, their respective Boards exercise 

oversight of the risk governance process, including setting risk appetite 
in line with Group-level orientations; (ii) regular and comprehensive 

levels in alignment with the Group’s framework, the internally-set 
risk appetite and regulatory requirements; and (iv) clear delegation of 

matters are reported to the Board of each foreign banking subsidiary 
through their respective sub-committees, namely the Audit Committee 
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that operators build up cushion outside periods of stress.  As per the phase-in arrangements established by the Bank of Mauritius (BoM), this buffer is 

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process of MCB Ltd

The framework

The overall purpose

Stress testing

MCB Ltd is guided by its ICAAP in determining its capital planning and formulating its risk appetite process. The ICAAP sets the stage 
for the implementation of the BoM Guideline on Supervisory Review Process. The latter’s aim is to ensure that banks have adequate 
capital to support all the risks they are exposed to in their business, and to encourage banks to develop and use better risk management 
techniques in managing their risks. The ICAAP document, which is approved by the Board and the RMC, is reviewed periodically to 
ensure that the Bank remains well capitalised after considering all material risks.

The ICAAP document provides an informative description of the methodology and procedures that the Bank uses to assess and mitigate 
its risks towards ensuring that adequate capital is kept to support its risks beyond the core minimum requirements. It delineates the 
process through which the Bank assesses the extent to which it holds sufficient capital in order to duly support its business activities. 
Specifically, through the ICAAP, the Bank assesses its forecast capital supply and demand relative to its regulatory and internal capital 
targets, under various scenarios.  The Bank’s capital plan is defined every year during the budgeting and strategic planning exercise whilst 
financial year risk appetite limits are set by the Board. Exposures are monitored on a quarterly basis against those limits and reported 
to the RMC.  The capital plan also includes a crisis management plan whereby measures to rapidly mobilise additional capital, should the 
need arise, are discussed at Board level.

Stress testing is a risk management exercise that forms an integral part of the ICAAP. Enabling conditions have been created at MCB 
Ltd for the development of sound stress testing practices through robust objectives-setting and oversight, proper scenario selection, 
and suitable methodologies. Recent analyses undertaken by the Bank revealed that the capital adequacy of the Bank does not fall below 
the regulatory ratio of 10% in any of the stress test scenarios under scrutiny.

Process Relevance of stress testing

Risk assessment

Risk mitigation
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Performance

During FY 2014/15, the banking entities maintained their respective capital adequacy ratios comfortably above the applicable regulatory requirements.  

tables depict the levels and evolution of the capital adequacy ratios in relation to the banking cluster, while shedding light on the distribution of risk-
weighted assets by entity.

Banking cluster

Jun 14 Jun 15

 Rs m Rs m

Capital base 31,484 35,754

24,425

Risk-weighted assets 219,831 230,154

Capital adequacy (%) 14.3 15.5

of which Tier 1 11.1 14.3

Jun 15 MCB Ltd MCB Moçambique MCB Seychelles MCB Maldives MCB Madagascar

% % % % %

Tier 1 ratio

Actual

Distribution of capitalisation metrics-banking cluster

Credit risk

By virtue of the nature of their operations and activities, credit risk represents the main type to which the Group’s banking subsidiaries are 
exposed (see the following diagram for the distribution of credit risk exposures). In general, these entities ensure that both counterparty 
and concentration risks are duly managed, backed by active market vigilance, the adoption of effective control mechanisms and the judicious 

strive to adopt a strong culture of responsible lending and debt recovery, while leveraging a robust risk management and control framework which 

the face of changing operating conditions as well as monitor the level of exposures depicted in relation to regulatory and internal limits and targets. 

Risk-weighted assets by entity

MCB Madagascar

BFCOI

MCB Maldives

MCB Seychelles

MCB Moçambique

MCB Ltd
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Evolution of risk ‐weighted exposures for on and off ‐balance sheet assets

Banking cluster
Jun 15 Jun 14

Amount Weight Weighted 
Assets

Weighted 
Assets

Risk- weighted on- balance sheet assets Rs m % Rs m Rs m

3,034 0-20 202

Claims on sovereigns 42,206 0-100 2,100

Claims on central banks 20,620 0-100

Claims on banks 26,568 20-100 10,959 10,511

Claims on non- central government public sector entities 0 0-100 0

Claims on corporates 103,485 100

Claims on retail segment 9,382 75

Claims secured by residential property 20,762 35-100 10,159

Claims secured by commercial real estate 16,572 100-125

13,034 100-250

Past due claims 11,497 50-150 12,091

Total 189,529 171,631

Banking cluster

Jun 15 Jun 14

Nominal 
Amount

Credit
Conversion 

Factor

Credit
Equivalent
Amount

Weight Weighted 
Amount

Weighted 
Amount

Non- market related off- balance sheet risk- weighted assets Rs m % Rs m % Rs m Rs m

Direct credit substitutes 5,068 100 5,068 0-100

Transaction- related contingent items 27,985 50 13,993 0-100 15,599

Trade related contingencies 12,229 20 2,446 0-100

Outstanding loans commitment 4,777 20-50 2,295 100 2,295

Total 21,777 30,661

Banking cluster

Jun 15 Jun 14

Nominal 
Amount

Credit
Conversion 

Factor

Potential 
Future 

Exposure

Current 
Exposure

Credit
Equivalent
Amount

Weighted 
Assets

Weighted 
Assets

Market- related off- balance sheet risk- weighted assets Rs m % Rs m Rs m Rs m Rs m Rs m

Interest rate contracts 848 0-1.5 4 14 18 16 29

18,881 1-7.5 189 243 432 168 169

Total 184 198

Jun 15 Jun 14

Rs m Rs m

Total credit risk- weighted assets 211,490 202,490
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How credit risk governance is applied

While making allowance for relevant regulatory requirements, the respective Boards of the entities have the ultimate control and oversight of credit 

for the setting of the overall direction and policy for managing credit risk at the enterprise level.

At the level of MCB Ltd, the Board has ultimate control and oversight of credit risk management as well as credit risk policies and their deployment 

direction and policy for managing credit risk at the enterprise level. For its part, the Supervisory and Monitoring Committee (SMC) is accountable 
to the Board through the normal chain of operational command and control for ensuring the appropriate segregation of duties within the credit risk 
management architecture. Additionally, the Executive Credit Committee is responsible for the planning, sanctioning, control and monitoring of credit 

to the foreign banking subsidiaries, each entity has, in line with the Group’s risk management approach and the approval of their respective Boards, 

In addition to approving individual delegated mandates, its role is to sanction or decline credit applications for customers with exposures of up to a 

How credit risk is measured, managed and monitored

management of credit risk; (iv) portfolio management that ensures that capital is adequate enough to support business growth and reasonable levels 
of unexpected losses; and (v) regular reporting to management and committees on pertinent risk characteristics/trends. Credit risk exposures are 

well as the review of all exposures, the frequency of which is increased in accordance to the size and likelihood of potential credit losses to ensure 
the timely detection of possible problem loans. Exposures showing signs of deterioration are placed on a watch list and referred to for closer scrutiny 
where appropriate.  A review of the aggregate loan portfolios is, also, exercised to manage proactively any delinquency and minimise undue credit 

following diagram.
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To evaluate new business opportunities

with respect to the market outlook and

risk appetite

To exercise control through delegation

of approved mandates 

To set prudential limits in line with

the risk appetite

 

To provide reports to

Senior Management and

relevant committees on

pertinent risk characteristics 

and trends

To formulate strategy

in terms of target

market and products

To manage excesses promptly

To prioritise actions on past

due exposures 

To perform collection and recovery

of delinquent accounts

To restructure credit exposures

where appropriate

 

To perform stress tests on selected

portfolios and ensure sufficient capital is

available to withstand any potential loss

To maintain targeted risk-return profile

To review the default rate of 

specific products

To determine credit risk

capital requirements

Risk 

strategy and 

appetite

Regular

reporting

Credit 

origination

and approval

Risk 

measurement

Ongoing risk 

management

and workout

Portfolio

management

are not negatively impacted, for instance, by a large sectoral exposure default. It is the policy of the Group’s banking entities to limit credit risk 
exposures and concentrations within the constraints of their capital base, while complying with relevant regulatory stipulation, notably relating 
to aggregate large exposures and single borrower limits. Additionally, stress tests are, in some instances, performed on portfolios to ensure that 

knowledge of the local economy in presence countries, its business development ambitions, and the operating environment, while concurrently 

Credit risk measurement consists of appraising the track record of customers as appropriate for the prediction of the likely future behaviour 

achieved by channelling risk capital away from low-return to high-return business areas, in a manner commensurate with the risks shouldered. 

exposures. In another respect, credit facilities are granted based on the credit standing, source of repayment and debt servicing ability of the 
borrower. As a fundamental principle, the entity does not grant credit facilities solely on the basis of the collateral. Collateral is taken whenever 

type, liquidity and volatility of the collateral.
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Total credit risk ‐weighted exposures by region Loans and advances by customer segment

South and Central America / Caribbean

Europe

Sub- Saharan Africa (excl. Mauritius)

Mauritius

Entities outside Mauritius*

Governments

Corporate customers

Distribution of loans and advances

Operational risk 

How operational risk governance is applied

reporting of risk. In the case of MCB Ltd, the Board retains the ultimate 
responsibility for ensuring that operational risk is adequately managed 
throughout the Bank by providing clear guidance with respect to 

its authority to the Audit Committee with respect to operational risk 
tolerance as well as the regular review of business continuity plans. 
Furthermore, the responsibility for implementing the operational risk 
framework, which addresses inherent risks, is entrusted to Senior 
Management, while the monitoring of the entire operational cycle 

the same vein, the respective Boards of the foreign banking subsidiaries 
are called upon, notably through their Audit Committee, to determine 
the operational risk tolerance levels, while laying due emphasis on (i) 
the risk levels at which they set limits in respect of risk acceptance, 
risk mitigation and risk rejection; and (ii) the principal categories of 
operational risk and management targets in respect of such categories. 
Moreover, operational risk sanctioning mandates and day-to-day 

the latter is responsible for the application and effectiveness of the 

operational risk policy, with key duties being to (i) ensure compliance 
with underlying objectives set in terms of the management of such 
types of risk; and (ii) foster the development, implementation and 
documentation of internal controls and processes. As for individual 
staff members, they are responsible, in general, for carrying out the 
risk taking, risk control and/or risk processing activity delegated to 
them, within the framework of all applicable policies.

How operational risk is measured, managed and monitored

a timely basis and in an effective manner. MCB Ltd, thus, promotes good 

appropriate remedial actions and the reporting of such incidents to the 

is recorded in a centralised database which enables systematic root 

to the Audit Committee. Operational risk mitigation is undertaken 
through appropriate policies, processes and systems throughout the 
Bank that, inter alia,  foster adequate risk mitigation through clear 

of transactions. As regards the foreign banking subsidiaries, they 
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by MCB Ltd, notably the incident reporting system, as tailored to the 

courses whereby units such as the Organisation and Systems as well 

Business continuity management

A comprehensive Business Continuity Management (BCM) policy is in 
place at MCB Ltd. It outlines the prevailing governance structure and 
the roles and responsibilities of each actor involved in the relevant 
programme towards strengthening the ability of the Bank to effectively 
plan for and respond to incidents and business interruptions to 
maintain the availability of its critical business activities at acceptable 

Committee, has the responsibility to ensure that the BCM policy is 

of relevant strategies and the monitoring of BCM is delegated to a 

to adopt the underlying principles enshrined in MCB’s BCM policy 

their operating environments.

Market risk 

How market risk governance is applied

At the level of MCB Ltd, the Board is ultimately responsible for setting 
risk appetite in respect of market risk, in compliance with the prudential 
guidelines set by BoM. Operating within this framework, the Asset and 
Liability Committee (ALCO) reviews and takes decision with regard 
to the structure of assets and liabilities within the separate (domestic 
and foreign currency) and consolidated balance sheets of MCB Ltd.  
ALCO, notably, sets and reviews asset and liability allocation objectives 

of the Bank’s balance sheet, especially from a funding, market risk and 

competitive landscape. ALCO, which comprises members of the Bank’s 
executive management, meets monthly under the chairmanship of the 
Chief Executive. Within the governance framework of market risk, the 

and reviewed periodically, establishes a comprehensive framework of 
policies, principles and functional responsibilities within which market 
risk origination, processing and valuation are appropriately segregated 

control and monitoring of market and liquidity risks within MCB Ltd, 

With regard to the foreign banking subsidiaries, after keeping track 
of regulatory requirements, the respective Boards are entrusted 
with the duty to determine the market risk governance process and 
appetite, while market risk sanctioning mandates are delegated to 
management for the conduct and monitoring of relevant day-to-
day operations and activities. Moreover, the foreign subsidiaries are 

undertakings. While providing regular training sessions with regard 
to treasury products, the business unit services both their foreign 
exchange and money market requirements by delivering advisory 
services through direct access to its traders, with the latter sharing 
their views about market trends and notifying them of relevant 
updates.

How market risk is measured, managed and monitored

are exposed and the management thereof are set out as follows.

in its banking book due to the reset date of its on and off-balance 
sheet assets not coinciding exactly with the reset date of its on and 
off-balance sheet liabilities. Bearing this in mind, they seek to limit the 
exposure of the on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet to repricing 
risk by ensuring that both the assets and the liabilities are indexed on 

an on-balance sheet perspective, that is, as a result of imbalances 
between the foreign currency composition of assets and liabilities; and 
(ii) an off-balance sheet angle, through the execution of derivatives 
such as foreign exchange forwards. Exposure to FX risk is monitored 
against both regulatory stipulations and internal targets, which are, 
especially, applied to metrics such as the net foreign risk exposure in 
any single currency and the aggregation of the net foreign exchange 
risk exposure.

normal business; (ii) maintain an adequate stock of high liquid assets 
to be able to meet unexpected funding needs at short notice; and (iii) 
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Overall, three mutually supportive lines of defence are established and maintained.

concentration of maturities in any one-time bucket. 

potential of wholesale markets.

Non-Banking Financial 

Governance

Consistent with the underlying principles determined at Group level, risk management policies and structures have, in varying capacities, been 

the types of market undertakings being engaged into as well as the range and depth of risks faced. 

 

Focus on the MCB Capital Markets Group

MCB Capital Markets Ltd (MCBCM) and its subsidiaries are regulated by the Financial Services Commission and comply with the national Code 
for Corporate Governance. MCBCM also implements best practice risk management policies, with ultimate responsibility for managing risks 

governance, a number of sub-committees have been put in place to oversee critical aspects of MCBCM’s operations. Day-to-day management of 

the design, implementation and monitoring of all risks, compliance and anti-money laundering policies and procedures of the MCB Capital Markets 

possibility of escalating critical issues on a more frequent basis, as required. All entities of MCBCM are subject to annual independent audits from 



129MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

MCB Group Ltd

MCBCM Board

Board of individual

MCBCM entities

Audit Committee
Financial Products

Supervisory Committee

To MCBIM

Board

Managing Directors / 

Heads of Businesses

*Relates to Collective Investment Schemes

For CIS

activities

CIS* Supervisory

Committee

Internal AuditMCBCM CEO
Risk and compliance

Department

• Legal and regulatory (including anti-money laundering - AML)

o Monitoring of changes to the legal and regulatory framework and initiation of corrective actions as relevant; and

• Operations (people, processes and systems)

includes all major risks faced by MCBCM businesses as well as ratings of those risks both on a pre and post-control basis.
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• Financial risks

implemented a robust process for the management of these risks which includes a technical assessment of all requests for underwriting services by a 

the CEO of MCBCM and the Chairperson of the Board of MCB Stockbrokers Ltd and second level approval provided at the level of MCB Group Ltd. 

the brokerage business due to the manner in which settlement is carried out on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius.

Risk

Methodology

Establishing

the context

Identifying

the risks

Analysing

the risks

Evaluating

the risks

Treating

the risks

Monitoring

the risks

Jean-Louis MATTEI
Director 

Pierre Guy NOEL
Chief Executive
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30th June 2015
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Report of the auditors

To the Shareholders of MCB Group Limited 

Independent auditors’ report to the members 

This report is made solely to the shareholders of MCB Group 

Limited (the “Company”), as a body, in accordance with Section 205 

of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so 

that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we 

are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 

Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 

for the opinions we have formed.   

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of MCB Group Limited and 

its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the Company’s separate financial 

statements on pages 136 to 226 which comprise the statements 

of financial position at June 30, 2015 and the statements of profit 

or loss, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with 

the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of the financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 

Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including 

the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to 

the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An 

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 136 to 226 give 

a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of 

the Company at June 30, 2015, and of their financial performance 

and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the 

Companies Act 2001. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Companies Act 2001 

We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company or any of 

its subsidiaries, other than in our capacity as auditors and dealings in 

the ordinary course of business.   

We have obtained all information and explanations we have required. 

  

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the 

Company as far as it appears from our examination of those records. 

The Financial Reporting Act 2004 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the corporate 

governance report. Our responsibility is to report on the extent of 

compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance as disclosed in 

the annual report and on whether the disclosure is consistent with 

the requirements of the Code.  

In our opinion, the disclosure in the annual report is consistent with 

the requirements of the Code.

BDO & Co

Chartered Accountants

29th September 2015

Port Louis 

Mauritius 

Ameenah Ramdin, FCCA, ACA                                                                                                                  

Licensed by FRC
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GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP COMPANY

2015 2014 2013 2015 2014
Notes RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS’M

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 4  24,528.6  18,802.0  15,394.1  51.8  3.2 
Derivative financial instruments 5  421.9  246.8  121.0  -    -   
Loans to and placements with banks 6(a)  8,811.4  6,010.0  3,480.7  -    -   
Loans and advances to customers 6(b)  163,442.2  150,101.2  148,034.7  -    -   
Investment securities 7  50,369.3  35,435.3  22,447.0  -    -   
Investments in associates 8  7,254.6  7,223.3  6,686.1  20.6  15.6 
Investments in subsidiaries 9  -    -    -    9,233.0  4,707.4 
Goodwill and other intangible assets 10  840.4  911.2  977.8  -    -   
Property, plant and equipment 11  6,033.5  6,045.3  6,312.8  3.2  -   
Deferred tax assets 12  287.0  225.7  223.9  -    -   
Other assets 13  18,023.9  15,885.6  12,849.5  1,089.2  858.9 
Total assets  280,012.8  240,886.4  216,527.6  10,397.8  5,585.1 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Deposits from banks 14(a)  2,405.0  1,659.6  1,737.2  -    -   
Deposits from customers 14(b)  217,276.4  184,427.9  164,376.0  -    -   
Derivative financial instruments 5  305.7  653.6  560.7  -    -   
Other borrowed funds 15  9,481.5  8,879.2  13,392.7  -    -   
Subordinated liabilities 16  5,555.7  5,409.1  -    4,500.0  -   
Current tax liabilities  539.7  399.0  249.6  -    -   
Deferred tax liabilities 12  50.2  59.1  136.7  0.1  -   
Other liabilities 18  6,716.4  6,694.6  5,947.3  934.9  813.8 
Total liabilities  242,330.6  208,182.1  186,400.2  5,435.0  813.8 

Shareholders' Equity
Stated capital  2,397.2  2,383.3  2,615.8  2,397.2  2,383.3 
Retained earnings  27,501.6  24,234.9  21,485.6  2,565.6  2,388.0 
Other components of equity  6,034.5  4,349.5  4,764.3  -    -   

 35,933.3  30,967.7  28,865.7  4,962.8  4,771.3 
Less treasury shares  -   -    (360.1)  -    -   
Equity attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent  35,933.3  30,967.7  28,505.6  4,962.8  4,771.3 
Non-controlling interests  1,748.9  1,736.6  1,621.8  -    -   
Total equity  37,682.2  32,704.3  30,127.4  4,962.8  4,771.3 
Total equity and liabilities  280,012.8  240,886.4  216,527.6  10,397.8  5,585.1 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Acceptances, guarantees, letters of credit,
endorsements and other obligations on account of customers  45,697.1  64,082.9  48,028.4 

Commitments  4,633.0  4,660.7  5,237.8 
Tax assessments  797.2  272.1  121.6 
Other  1,293.9  1,534.5  1,702.4 

20  52,421.2  70,550.2  55,090.2 

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on the 29th September 2015.

The notes on pages 148 to 226 form part of these financial statements.

Auditors’ report on pages 134 and 135.

Pierre Guy NOEL J. Gérard HARDY        Sunil BANYMANDHUB 

Director                                               Director        Director

Chief Executive                                     Chairperson        Chairperson Audit Committee

Statements of financial position 
as at 30th June 2015
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GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP* COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014
Notes RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Interest income 21  12,844.3  11,953.7  11,616.3  2,906.7  -   -
Interest expense 22  (4,690.1)  (4,697.4)  (4,569.2)  (1,164.9)  (4.4) -

Net interest income  8,154.2  7,256.3  7,047.1  1,741.8  (4.4) -

Fee and commission income 23  4,148.1  3,626.6  3,193.6  1,054.9  -   -
Fee and commission expense 24  (783.7)  (738.7)  (564.2)  (179.2)  (0.1) -

Net fee and commission income  3,364.4  2,887.9  2,629.4  875.7  (0.1) -

Other income
Profit arising from dealing in foreign currencies  1,101.7 1,216.1  925.2  371.8  -   -
Net gain/(loss) from financial instruments 

  carried at fair value 25 147.8  52.7  206.3  (24.0)  -   -

 1,249.5  1,268.8  1,131.5  347.8  -   -
Dividend income 26  86.2  61.1  37.1  16.7 1,887.9 3,198.3
Net gain on sale of securities  97.3  611.3  23.9  597.7  - -
Other operating income  262.6  189.5  154.4  40.9  -   -

 1,695.6  2,130.7  1,346.9  1,003.1 1,887.9 3,198.3
Operating income  13,214.2  12,274.9  11,023.4  3,620.6 1,883.4 3,198.3
Non-interest expense
Salaries and human resource development 27(a)  (2,774.9)  (2,494.5)  (2,354.0)  (563.7)  (51.8) (9.6)
Post employee benefits plan 17  (309.5)  (265.0)  (240.8)  (92.5)  -   -
Depreciation  (512.7)  (560.3)  (555.8)  (136.7)  (0.8) -
Amortisation of intangible assets  (247.0)  (266.3)  (241.9)  (72.1)  -   -
Other 27(b)  (1,681.5)  (1,704.2)  (1,510.4)  (427.2)  (22.6) (3.5)

 (5,525.6)  (5,290.3)  (4,902.9)  (1,292.2)  (75.2) (13.1)
Operating profit before impairment  7,688.6  6,984.6  6,120.5  2,328.4  1,808.2 3,185.2
Net impairment of financial assets 28  (1,163.1)  (2,039.1)  (1,081.0)  (1,018.8)  -   -
Operating profit  6,525.5  4,945.5  5,039.5  1,309.6  1,808.2 3,185.2
Share of profit of associates  374.8  540.2  257.3  156.9  -   -
Profit before tax  6,900.3  5,485.7  5,296.8  1,466.5  1,808.2 3,185.2
Income tax expense 29  (1,129.1)  (1,032.6)  (917.9)  (224.6)  (0.1) -
Profit for the year/period  5,771.2  4,453.1  4,378.9  1,241.9  1,808.1 3,185.2

Profit for the year/period attributable to:
  Ordinary equity holders of the parent  5,722.0  4,365.0  4,344.7  1,217.7 1,808.1 3,185.2
  Non-controlling interests  49.2  88.1  34.2  24.2  - -

 5,771.2  4,453.1  4,378.9  1,241.9 1,808.1 3,185.2

Earnings per share:

  Basic (Rs) 31(a)  24.04  18.34  18.28  5.12 

  Diluted (Rs) 31(b)  24.04  18.34  18.27  5.12 

*  The Group figures for the period ended 30th June 2014 incorporate the result of the Company as from 5th August 2013 and subsidiaries and associates acquired through the Scheme of 
Arrangement as from 2nd April 2014.

The notes on pages 148 to 226 form part of these financial statements.

Auditors’ report on pages 134 and 135.

Statements of profit or loss 
for the year ended 30th June 2015
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Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30th June 2015

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP* COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended

30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Profit for the year/period 5,771.2  4,453.1  4,378.9  1,241.9  1,808.1 3,185.2

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss :

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plan net of deferred tax 95.2 (229.4) (134.6) (229.4) - -

Share of other comprehensive expense of associates (0.1) (3.2) - (3.2) - -

95.1 (232.6) (134.6) (232.6) - -

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (31.5)  (116.9)  151.2  (19.6)  -   -

Reclassification adjustments  71.0  (467.5)  (3.5)  (458.3)  -   -

Net fair value gain/(loss) on available-for-sale investments  762.9  369.3  187.5  (16.4)  -   -

Share of other comprehensive (expense)/income of associates  (44.7)  67.4  117.0  (39.0)  -   -

 757.7  (147.7)  452.2  (533.3)  -   -

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year/period  852.8  (380.3)  317.6  (765.9)  -   -
Total comprehensive income for the year/period  6,624.0  4,072.8  4,696.5  476.0 1,808.1 3,185.2

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Ordinary equity holders of the parent  6,579.9  3,939.4  4,612.1  459.8 1,808.1 3,185.2

Non-controlling interests  44.1  133.4  84.4  16.2  -   -

 6,624.0  4,072.8  4,696.5  476.0 1,808.1 3,185.2

*  The Group figures for the period ended 30th June 2014 incorporate the result of the Company as from 5th August 2013 and subsidiaries and associates acquired through the Scheme of 
Arrangement as from 2nd April 2014.

The notes on pages 148 to 226 form part of these financial statements.

Auditors’ report on pages 134 and 135.
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Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30th June 2015

Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
General Non-

Stated Retained Capital Translation Statutory  Banking controlling Total
 Capital  Earnings  Reserve  Reserve  Reserve  Reserve Total  Interests  Equity 

Notes RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M 

GROUP

At 2nd April 2014

Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement 37  2,379.6  23,820.8  2,035.8  (187.6)  2,643.6  610.2  31,302.4  1,725.9  33,028.3 

Profit for the period  -    1,217.7  -    -    -    -    1,217.7  24.2  1,241.9 

Other comprehensive expense for the period -  (231.3)  (508.7)  (17.9)  -    -    (757.9)  (8.0)  (765.9)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the period  -    986.4  (508.7)  (17.9)  -    -    459.8  16.2  476.0 

Dividends 30  -    (797.2)  -    -    -    -    (797.2)  (5.5)  (802.7)

Effect of increase in shareholding in subsidiary  -    (1.0)  -    -    -    -    (1.0) -  (1.0)

Share of transfer on disposal of property, plant & 

equipment by associate  -    0.8  (0.8) -  -   -  -    -    -   

Share of other movements in reserves of associate  -    (0.5)  0.5 -  -   -  -    -    -   

Transfer to general banking reserve  -    (3.9)  -    -    -    3.9  -    -    -   

Transfer from statutory reserve  -    229.5  -   -  (229.5) -  -    -    -   

Issue of shares following the exercise of

Group Employee Share Options Scheme  3.7  -   -    -    -    -    3.7 -  3.7

At 30th June 2014  2,383.3  24,234.9  1,526.8  (205.5)  2,414.1  614.1  30,967.7  1,736.6  32,704.3 

Profit for the year  -    5,722.0  -    -    -    -    5,722.0  49.2  5,771.2 

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  -    95.1  780.5  (17.7)  -    -    857.9  (5.1)  852.8 

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  -    5,817.1  780.5  (17.7)  -    -    6,579.9  44.1  6,624.0 

Dividends 30  -    (1,630.5)  -    -    -    -    (1,630.5)  (25.4)  (1,655.9)

Effect of increase in shareholding in subsidiary  -    2.3  -    -    -    -    2.3  (6.4)  (4.1)

Share of transfer by associate  -    3.7  (3.7)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Share of other movements in reserves of associate  -    (1.5)  1.5  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Transfer to general banking reserve  -    (166.7)  -    -    -    166.7  -    -    -   

Transfer to statutory reserve  -    (757.7)  -    -    757.7  -    -    -    -   

Issue of shares following the exercise of Group

   Employee Share Options Scheme  13.9  -    -    -    -    -    13.9  -    13.9 

At 30th June 2015  2,397.2  27,501.6  2,305.1  (223.2)  3,171.8  780.8  35,933.3  1,748.9  37,682.2 

The notes on pages 148 to 226 form part of these financial statements.

Auditors’ report on pages 134 and 135.
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Stated

Capital

RS’M

Treasury

Shares

RS’M

Retained

Earnings

RS’M

Capital

Reserve

RS’M

Translation

Reserve

RS’M

Statutory

Reserve

RS’M

General

Banking

Reserve

RS’M

Total

RS’M

Non-

controlling

Interests

RS’M

Total

Equity

RS’M

PROFORMA GROUP

At 1st July 2012

 As previously stated  2,593.4  (364.8)  19,241.2  1,382.9  (253.3)  2,614.7  598.1  25,812.2  1,553.0  27,365.2 

 Effect of adopting IAS 19 (revised) net of 

  deferred tax  -    -    (497.3)  -    -    -    -    (497.3)  (0.3)  (497.6)

As restated  2,593.4  (364.8)  18,743.9  1,382.9  (253.3)  2,614.7  598.1  25,314.9  1,552.7  26,867.6 

Profit for the year - restated  -    -    4,344.7  -    -    -    -    4,344.7  34.2  4,378.9 

Other comprehensive (expense)/income 

  for the year - restated  -    -    (134.6)  248.7  153.3  -    -    267.4  50.2  317.6 

Total comprehensive income for the year - restated  -    -    4,210.1  248.7  153.3  -    -    4,612.1  84.4  4,696.5 

Increase in effective shareholding of associate  -    -    1.7  -    -    -    -    1.7  1.3  3.0 

Dividends  -    -    (1,450.2)  -    -    -    -    (1,450.2)  (16.6)  (1,466.8)

Share of transfer on disposal of property, plant &

  equipment by associate  -    -    15.6  (15.6)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Transfer to general banking reserve  -    -    (6.6)  -    -    -    6.6  -    -    -   

Transfer to statutory reserve  -    -    (28.9)  -    -    28.9  -    -    -    -   

Employee share options exercised  22.4  4.7  -    -    -    -    -    27.1  -    27.1 

At 30th June 2013 (restated)  2,615.8  (360.1)  21,485.6  1,616.0  (100.0)  2,643.6  604.7  28,505.6  1,621.8  30,127.4 

Profit for the year  -    -    4,365.0  -    -    -    -    4,365.0  88.1  4,453.1 

Other comprehensive (expense)/income 

  for the year  -    -    (232.6)  (87.5)  (105.5)  -    -    (425.6)  45.3  (380.3)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  -    -    4,132.4  (87.5)  (105.5)  -    -    3,939.4  133.4  4,072.8 

Increase in effective shareholding of associate  -    -    0.2  -    -    -    -    0.2  -    0.2 

Dividends  -    -    (1,510.7)  -    -    -    -    (1,510.7)  (18.6)  (1,529.3)

Effect of increase in shareholding in subsidiary  -    -    (1.0)  -    -    -    -    (1.0)  -    (1.0)

Share of transfer on disposal of property, plant &

  equipment by associate  -    -    2.2  (2.2)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Share of other movements in reserves of associate  -    -    (0.5)  0.5  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Transfer to general banking reserve  -    -    (9.4)  -    -    -    9.4  -    -    -   

Transfer from statutory reserve  -    -    229.5  -    -    (229.5)  -    -    -    -   

Employee share options exercised  26.1  4.4  -    -    -    -    -    30.5  -    30.5 

Issue of shares following the exercise of Group

  Employee Share Options Scheme  3.7  -    -    -    -    -    -    3.7  -    3.7 

Cancellation of treasury shares  (262.3)  355.7  (93.4)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

At 30th June 2014  2,383.3  -    24,234.9  1,526.8  (205.5)  2,414.1  614.1  30,967.7  1,736.6  32,704.3 

The notes on pages 148 to 226 form part of these financial statements.

Auditors’ report on pages 134 and 135.

Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30th June 2015
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Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30th June 2015

COMPANY Notes

Stated

Capital

RS’M

Retained

Earnings 

RS’M

Total

Equity

RS’M

At 5th August 2013

Issue of shares through the Scheme of Arrangement 37(a)  2,379.6  -    2,379.6 

Profit for the period  -    3,185.2  3,185.2 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -    3,185.2  3,185.2 

Dividends 30  -    (797.2)  (797.2)

Issue of shares following the exercise of Group Employee Share Options Scheme  3.7  -    3.7 

At 30th June 2014  2,383.3  2,388.0  4,771.3 

Profit for the year  -    1,808.1  1,808.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    1,808.1  1,808.1 

Dividends 30  -    (1,630.5)  (1,630.5)

Issue of shares following the exercise of Group Employee Share Options Scheme  13.9  -    13.9 

At 30th June 2015  2,397.2  2,565.6  4,962.8 

The notes on pages 148 to 226 form part of these financial statements.

Auditors’ report on pages 134 and 135.
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Statements of cash flows 
for the year ended 30th June 2015

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP* COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended

30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014

Notes RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Net cash flows from trading activities 33  5,839.5  4,243.3  5,653.9  (49.6)  1,604.3  (0.5)

Net cash flows from other operating activities 34  6,537.5  2,015.1  (2,277.4)  (855.5)  -    -   

Dividends received from associates  131.9  129.2  28.8  100.4  -    -   

Dividends paid  (1,535.0)  (1,510.2)  (1,425.9)  -    (1,535.0)  -   

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries  (25.4)  (18.6)  (16.9)  (5.5)  -    -   

Income tax paid  (1,074.2)  (916.0)  (904.7)  (154.6)  -    -   

Net cash flows from operating activities  9,874.3  3,942.8  1,057.8  (964.8)  69.3  (0.5)

Investing activities

Purchase of available-for-sale investments  (2,309.1)  (930.7)  (83.0)  (748.0)  -    -   

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investments  465.3  1,072.4  452.2  989.4  -    -   

Investment in associate  (5.0)  (0.2)  -    -    (5.0)  -   

Investment in subsidiary  -    -    -    -    (4,525.6)  -   

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in subsidiary  (4.1)  (0.1)  -    (0.1)  -    -   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (532.4)  (423.4)  (696.5)  (138.9)  (4.0)  -   

Purchase of intangible assets  (160.8)  (213.0)  (252.3)  (154.5)  -    -   

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets  -    0.5  -    -    -   -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  60.9  144.5  221.6  24.4  -    -   

 (2,485.2)  (350.0)  (358.0)  (27.7)  (4,534.6)  -   
Net cash flows before financing activities  7,389.1  3,592.8  699.8  (992.5)  (4,465.3)  (0.5)

Financing activities

Shares issued/employee share options exercised  13.9  30.3  25.5  3.7  13.9  3.7 

Subordinated liabilities issued/transferred  -    5,415.6  -    -    4,500.0  -   

Net debt securities (matured)/issued  (1,793.0)  145.8  354.9  -    -    -   

Net cash flows from financing activities  (1,779.1)  5,591.7  380.4  3.7  4,513.9  3.7 

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  5,610.0  9,184.5  1,080.2  (988.8)  48.6  3.2 
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year/period  17,483.5  8,442.8  7,102.4  -    3.2  -   

Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement 37  -    -    -    18,489.4  -    -   

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  194.0  (143.8)  260.2  (17.1)  -    -   

Net cash and cash equivalents at 30th June 4  23,287.5   17,483.5   8,442.8    17,483.5  51.8   3.2 

*  The Group figures for the period ended 30th June 2014 incorporate the result of the Company as from 5th August 2013 and subsidiaries and associates acquired through the Scheme  
of Arrangement as from 2nd April 2014.

The notes on pages 148 to 226 form part of these financial statements.

Auditors’ report on pages 134 and 135.
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The MCB Group Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated and registered as limited liability company on 5th August 2013. Its 

registered office is situated at 9-15, Sir William Newton Street, Port-Louis, Mauritius.

The MCB Group Limited (“ the Company”) is listed on The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd.

The main activities of the Company and those of its subsidiaries (“the Group”) consist in providing a whole range of banking and financial services 

in the Indian Ocean region and beyond.

Incorporation and Scheme of Arrangement

MCB Group Limited, is a legal entity incorporated on 5th August 2013. On 17th February 2014, following the resolutions voted by the shareholders 

of The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd (“MCB”) at the Special Meeting held in December 2013, The Supreme Court (Bankruptcy Division) 

approved the Scheme of Arrangement (the “Scheme”)  under Sections 261 to 264 of the Companies Act 2001, effective on 21st February 2014. 

Accordingly, the shareholders of  MCB  exchanged their ordinary shares held in MCB for ordinary shares in MCB Group Limited (“MCBG”) on 

a 1:1 ratio. Following the above exchange MCBG exchanged all its shares held in MCB for ordinary shares in MCB Investment Holding Limited  

(“MCBIH”).

A separate legal entity, MCB Investment Holding Limited (“MCBIH”) has been incorporated on 4th November 2013 as a wholly owned subsidiary 

of MCB Group Limited to be the intermediate holding of the group’s banking subsidiaries and associate.

Through the unbundling exercise, MCB Group Limited, holds the non banking subsidiaries and associates formerly held by MCB and MCBIH will 

hold the banking subsidiaries and associate which have not been unbundled by MCB as at to date. 

Proforma financial statements for the years ended 30th June 2014 and 2013 have been prepared on the basis of audited financial statements and 

have been provided for a better understanding of the financial statements of MCB Group Limited and for comparative purposes.

General information



144 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Index to notes to the financial statements

NOTES     PAGES

1 Significant Accounting Policies 148
 (a)  Basis of presentation 148-151

 (b)  Basis of consolidation 151-153

 (c)  Foreign currency translation 153-154  

 (d)  Derivative financial instruments  154

 (e)  Offsetting financial instruments 154

 (f)  Interest income and expense   154-155

 (g)  Fees and commissions   155

 (h)  Sale and repurchase agreements    155-156

 (i)  Investment securities    156

 (j)  Trading securities   156

 (k)  Loans and provisions for loan impairment    156-157

 (l)  Goodwill    157

 (m)  Property, plant and equipment   157-158

 (n)  Computer software development costs   158

 (o)  Finance leases 158

 (p)  Accounting for leases - where the Subsidiary company is the lessor   158-159

 (q)  Cash and cash equivalents  159

 (r)  Provisions   159

 (s)  Employee benefits   159-160

 (t)  Current and deferred income tax 160-161

 (u)  Dividend distribution 161

 (v)  Borrowings 161

 (w)  Acceptances 161

 (x)  Operating segments 161

 (y)  Stated capital 162

 (z)  Treasury shares 162

 (aa)  Borrowing costs 162

 (ab)  Impairment of non-financial assets 162



FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

A
T

EM
EN

T
S

145MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

NOTES     PAGES

2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements   163
 (a) Held-to-maturity investments 163

 (b) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets 163

 (c) Pension benefits 163

 (d) Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market  164

 (e) Limitation of sensitivity analysis  164

 (f) Asset lives and residual values  164

 (g) Depreciation policies 164

 (h) Impairment of assets 165

3 Financial Risk Management   166
 (a) Strategy in using financial instruments   166

 (b) Credit risk 166-168

 (c) Market risk 169

 (d) Price risk 169

 (e) Currency risk  170-172

 (f) Interest rate risk 173-175

 (g) Liquidity risk   176-178

 (h) Fair value estimation  179

4 Cash and cash equivalents  180

5 Derivative financial instruments  181

6 Loans   182
 (a) (i) Loans to and placements with banks 182

  (ii) Remaining term to maturity 182

  (iii) Allowances for credit impairment 182

 (b) (i) Loans and advances to customers 183

  (ii) Remaining term to maturity 183

  (iii) Allowances for credit impairment 184

  (iv) Allowances for credit impairment by industry sectors 185

  (v) Credit concentration of risk by industry sectors 186



146 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

NOTES     PAGES

7 Investment securities   187
 (a) (i) Held-to-maturity 187

  (ii) Remaining term to maturity 187

 (b)  Available-for-sale  188

8 Investments in associates  189-191

9 Investments in subsidiaries 192-194

10 Goodwill and other intangible assets 195
 (a)  Goodwill 195

 (b)  Other intangible assets 195

11 Property, plant and equipment 196-197

12 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 198-199

13 Other assets  200

14 Deposits  200
 (a) Deposits from banks 200

 (b) Deposits from customers 201

  (i) Retail customers 201

  (ii) Corporate customers 201

  (iii) Government 201

15 Other borrowed funds 202

16 Subordinated liabilities 203

17 Post employee benefits liabilities  204-206

18 Other liabilities 207

19 Stated capital and reserves  207

20 Contingent liabilities 208

21 Interest income  209

22 Interest expense 209

Index to notes to the financial statements
(continued)



FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

A
T

EM
EN

T
S

147MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

NOTES     PAGES

23 Fee and commission income  209

24 Fee and commission expense 209

25 Net gain/(loss) from financial instruments carried at fair value 210

26 Dividend income 210

27 Non-interest expense 211

 (a) Salaries and human resource development   211

 (b) Other non-interest expense 211

 (c) Share-based payments 211

28 Net impairment of financial assets  212

29 Income tax expense 213

30 Dividend   213

31 Earnings per share 214

 (a) Basic earnings per share  214

 (b) Diluted earnings per share 214

32 Commitments  215

33 Net cash flows from trading activities 215

34 Net cash flows from other operating activities  216

35 Operating segments  217-222

36 Related party transactions 223-224

37 Scheme of arrangement (“the Scheme”) 225

38 Event after the reporting date 226



148 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30th June 2015

1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
    

  The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 

consistently applied to all the period/years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

(a)  Basis of presentation 

  The financial statements of MCB Group Limited comply with the Companies Act 2001 and have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

  Where necessary, comparative figures have been amended to conform with changes in presentation, or in accounting policies in the current 

year.

   The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiary companies (The Group) and 

the separate financial statements of the parent company (The Company).

  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for available-for-sale investment securities, financial 

assets and liabilities held-for-trading and all derivative contracts are stated at fair value.

 Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations effective in the reporting period

  Amendments to IAS 32, ‘Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’, clarify the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets 

and financial liabilities. The amendment is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

  Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27, ‘Investment Entities’, define an investment entity and require a reporting entity that meets the 

definition of an investment entity not to consolidate its subsidiaries but instead to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through profit or 

loss in its consolidated and separate financial statements. Consequential amendments have been made to IFRS 12 and IAS 27 to introduce 

new disclosure requirements for investment entities. As the Company is not an investment entity, the standard has no impact on the Group’s 

financial statements.

  IFRIC 21, ‘Levies’, sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy that is not income tax. The interpretation addresses what obligating 

event that gives rise to pay a levy and when should a liability be recognised. The amendment is not expected to have an impact on the Group’s 

financial statements.

  Amendments to IAS 36, ‘Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets’, remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable 

amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives had been allocated. The 

amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

  Amendments to IAS 39, ‘Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’, provide relief from the requirement to discontinue 

hedge accounting when a derivative designated as a hedging instrument is novated under certain circumstances. The amendments also clarify 

that any change to the fair value of the derivative designated as a hedging instrument arising from the novation should be included in the 

assessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)  Basis of presentation (Cont’d)

 Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations effective in the reporting period (Cont’d)

  Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to IAS 19) applies to contributions from employees or third parties to defined 

benefit plans and clarifies the treatment of such contributions. The amendment distinguishes between contributions that are linked to service 

only in the period in which they arise and those linked to service in more than one period. The objective of the amendment is to simplify the 

accounting for contributions that are independent of the number of years of employee service, for example employee contributions that are 

calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary.

  Entities with plans that require contributions that vary with service will be required to recognise the benefit of those contributions over 

employee’s working lives. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

  IFRS 2, ‘Share based payments’ amendment is amended to clarify the definition of a ‘vesting condition’ and separately defines ‘performance 

condition’ and ‘service condition’. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

  IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ is amended  to clarify that an obligation to pay contingent consideration which meets the definition of a 

financial instrument is classified as a financial liability or equity, on the basis of the definitions in IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’. It 

also clarifies that all non-equity contingent consideration is measured at fair value at each reporting date, with changes in value recognised in 

profit and loss. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

  IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ is amended to require disclosure of the judgements made by management in aggregating operating segments. It 

is also amended to require a reconciliation of segment assets to the entity’s assets when segment assets are reported. The amendment has no 

impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

  IFRS 13 (Amendment), ‘Fair Value Measurement’ clarifies in the Basis for Conclusions that short-term receivables and payables with no stated 

interest rates can be measured at invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s 

financial statements. 

  IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible are amended to clarify how the gross carrying amount and the accumulated 

depreciation are treated where an entity uses the revaluation model. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

  IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ is amended to include, as a related party, an entity that provides key management personnel services to the 

reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity (the ‘management entity’). Disclosure of the amounts charged to the reporting entity 

is required. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30th June 2015

1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)  Basis of presentation (Cont’d)

 Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

  IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ is amended to clarify in the Basis for Conclusions that an entity may 

choose to apply either a current standard or a new standard that is not yet mandatory, but permits early application, provided either standard 

is applied consistently throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first IFRS financial statements. The amendment has no impact on the 

Group’s financial statements, since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer.

  IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ is amended to clarify that IFRS 3 does not apply to the accounting for the formation of any joint venture under 

IFRS 11. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

  IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ is amended to clarify that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 applies to all contracts (including non-financial 

contracts) within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

  IAS 40, ‘Investment property’ is amended to clarify that IAS 40 and IFRS 3 are not mutually exclusive. IAS 40 assists users to distinguish 

between investment property and owner-occupied property. Preparers also need to consider the guidance in IFRS 3 to determine whether 

the acquisition of an investment property is a business combination.  The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

  Certain standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for accounting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2015 or later periods, but which the Group has not early adopted.

 At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in issue but not yet effective: 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to IAS 19)

 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)

 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38)

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers 

 Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41)

 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27)

 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

 Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1)
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)  Basis of presentation (Cont’d)

 Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (Cont’d) 

  Where relevant, the Group is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but 

not yet effective, on the presentation of its financial statements.

(b)  Basis of consolidation

 (1) (i) Subsidiaries   

    Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 

when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 

affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

    Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from 

the date that control ceases.

    The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. The consideration transferred 

for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests 

issued by the Group.

    The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 

arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 

liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-

by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

    The excess of (a) the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 

and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over (b) the net of the acquisition-date 

amounts of identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured in accordance with IFRS 3 is recorded as goodwill. 

In the case of a bargain purchase (excess of (b) over (a)), the resulting gain is recognised directly in profit or loss.

    Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 

losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 

the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30th June 2015

1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)  Basis of consolidation (Cont’d) 

 (1)  (ii)  Separate financial statements of the Company

    In the separate financial statements of the Company, investments in subsidiary companies are carried at cost.  The carrying 

amount is reduced to recognise any impairment in the value of  individual investments.  

 

  (iii)  Transactions and non-controlling interests

    The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases 

from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying 

value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also 

recorded in equity.

   Disposal of subsidiaries

    When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change 

in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently 

accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 

of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 

reclassified to profit or loss.       

 

 (2)  Associates 

   An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, or joint  control, generally accompanying a 

shareholding between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.     

   

   Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method except when classified as held-for-sale (see below).  Investments 

in associates are initially recognised at cost as adjusted  by post acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net assets of the 

associate less any impairment in the value of individual investments.   

   Any excess of the cost of acquisition and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s  identifiable assets and liabilities 

recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess 

of the Group’s share of  the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after assessment,  is included 

as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss.  

   When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the Group discontinues  recognising further losses, unless it has 

incurred legal or constructive obligation or made payments  on behalf of the associate.   
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)  Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

 (2)  Associates (Cont’d)

   Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 

unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, appropriate adjustments are 

made to the financial statements of associates to bring the accounting policies used in line with those adopted by the Group. If 

the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a  proportionate share of the amounts 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are  reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.    

  Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in profit or loss. 

   In the separate financial statements of the Company, the investment in associated companies is carried at cost (which includes 

transaction costs). The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any impairment in the value of the individual companies.

                                       

(c)  Foreign currency translation

  The foreign subsidiaries’ Statement of Financial Position are translated to Mauritian Rupees using the closing rate method. Their statements 

of profit or loss, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statements of cash flows are translated at the average 

rate for the period. Any resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign entity, such 

exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 

translated at the closing rate.   

    

 (i)  Functional and presentation currency      

  

   Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using Mauritian rupees, the currency of 

the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in 

Mauritian rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.  All amounts have been rounded to the nearest million 

except as otherwise stated.

 (ii) Transactions and balances   

     

   Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the 

transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 

exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30th June 2015

1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c)  Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

 (ii) Transactions and balances (Cont’d)

  Trading transactions denominated in foreign currencies are accounted for at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

   Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are reported at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting 

date.  Differences arising from reporting monetary items are dealt with through profit or loss.

   Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of 

the transaction. 

   Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date the fair 

value was determined.

(d)  Derivative financial instruments

  Derivative financial instruments include mainly foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps. These are initially recognised at fair value on 

the date a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values of derivatives between two external 

currencies are based on interest rate differential between the two currencies. Fair values of forwards are based on treasury bills rate or 

LIBOR. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Transaction costs are charged 

immediately through profit or loss.

  The Group’s derivative transactions, while providing effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies, do not qualify for 

hedge accounting under the specific rules of IAS 39 and are therefore treated as derivatives held for trading with fair value gains and losses 

reported in profit or loss.

 The fair values of derivative financial instruments held for trading are disclosed in note 5.

(e)  Offsetting financial instruments

  Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statements of Financial Position when there is a legally enforceable 

right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(f)  Interest income and expense 

  Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss for all interest bearing  instruments on an accrual basis using the effective yield 

method based on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investment and trading securities and 

accrued discount and premium on treasury bills and other discounted instruments. When  loans become doubtful of collection, they are



FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

A
T

EM
EN

T
S

155MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f)  Interest income and expense (Cont’d)

  written down to their recoverable amounts and interest income is thereafter recognised based on the rate of interest that was used to 

discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.

(g)  Fees and commissions

  Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan processing fees are deferred and 

recognised as income accordingly.

(h)  Sale and repurchase agreements

  Securities sold subject to linked repurchase agreements (“repos”) are retained in the Statements of Financial Position as Government 

securities and Treasury bills and the counterparty liability is included in amount due to other banks or deposits, as appropriate.

  Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repos”) are recorded as amount due from other banks or loans and advances, as 

appropriate.  The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of repos agreements using the 

effective yield method.

(i)  Investment securities 

  The Group classifies its investment securities as fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity or available-for-sale assets. Management 

determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of the purchase. Investment securities with fixed maturity where 

management has both the intent and the ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity. Investment securities intended to be held 

for an indefinite period of time in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices are classified as 

available-for-sale, which may be sold.

   

  Investment securities are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of those not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 

Available-for-sale listed financial assets are subsequently remeasured at fair value based on quoted bid prices. Fair values for unlisted equity 

securities are estimated using maintainable earnings or net assets bases refined to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer. Unrealised 

gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive 

income. Equity securities for which fair values cannot be measured reliably are recognised at cost less impairment.

   

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading.

   

 Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)  Investment securities (Cont’d) 

  If the Group was to sell or reclassify more than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments before maturity (other than in certain 

specific circumstances), the entire category would be tainted and would have to be reclassified as available-for-sale. Furthermore, the entity 

would be prohibited from classifying any financial asset as held-to-maturity during the following two years.

   

  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 

one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably measured. The amount of 

the impairment loss for assets carried at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of expected future cash flows discounted at the financial instruments original effective interest rate. By comparison, the recoverable 

amount of an instrument measured at fair value is the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 

interest for a similar financial asset. 

   

  Interest earned while holding investment securities is reported as interest income. Dividends receivable are included separately in ‘dividend 

income ‘  in profit or loss when  the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

   

  All regular way purchases and sales of investment securities are recognised at trade date which is the date that the Group commits to 

purchase or sell the asset. All other purchases and sales are recognised as derivative forward transactions until settlement.

(j)  Trading securities
   

  Trading securities are securities which were either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer’s margin, 

or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit taking exists. Trading securities are initially recognised at fair 

value (which includes transaction costs) and measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. All related realised and unrealised gains and  

losses are recognised in profit or loss for the year.  

(k)  Loans and provisions for loan impairment  

  Loans originated by the Group by providing money directly to the borrower (at draw-down) are categorised as loans and are carried at 

amortised cost, which is defined as the fair value of cash consideration given to originate these loans as is determinable by reference to market 

prices at origination date. Third party expenses, such as legal fees, incurred in securing a loan are treated as part of the cost of the transaction.   

     

  All loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. An allowance for loan impairment is established if there is the 

objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of the loans. The 

amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash 

flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the loans.  
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(k)  Loans and provisions for loan impairment (Cont’d)

  The loan loss provision also covers losses where there is objective evidence that probable losses are present in components of the loan 

portfolio at the end of the reporting date. These have been estimated upon the historical patterns of losses in each component, the credit 

ratings allocated to the borrowers and reflecting the current economic climate in which the borrowers operate. When a loan is uncollectible, 

it is written off against the related provision for impairment; subsequent recoveries are credited to the provision for loan losses in profit or 

loss.    

  Statutory and other regulatory loan loss reserve requirements that exceed these amounts are dealt with in the general banking reserve as an 

appropriation of retained earnings. 

    

  If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the release of the provision is 

credited as a reduction of the provision for loan losses.

(l)  Goodwill   

  Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s interest in fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired 

subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in Intangible 

Assets.   

 

  Gain on bargain purchase represents the excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s net identifiable asset over cost 

of acquisition is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.  Goodwill on acquisition of associates is included in investments in associates. 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of a subsidiary or associate, 

the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the gains and losses on disposal.  Goodwill is allocated to cash-

generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.

   

(m)  Property, plant and equipment  

 Property, plant and equipment are carried at deemed cost less accumulated depreciation.  

 

  Depreciation is calculated to write down the cost or amount of the valuation of  such assets to their residual values on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

 

                                                              Buildings                                           50 years

                                                              Computer and other equipment                 5-10 years

                                                              Furniture, fittings and vehicles                   5-15 years

    

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m)  Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 

  Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable 

amount.  

  Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are recognised as 

income or expense in profit or loss.  Repairs and renewals are charged to profit or loss when the expenditure is incurred. 

(n)  Computer software development costs  

  Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated 

with identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group and will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond 

one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate portion of 

relevant overheads.  

  Expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is 

recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.  Computer software development costs recognised as 

assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, but not exceeding a period of eight years.

 

(o)  Finance leases

  Assets acquired under finance leases are accounted for at the present value of the minimum lease payments and depreciated over their 

estimated useful lives.  A corresponding liability is recorded as outstanding lease obligations.   

  Lease payments are apportioned between the liability and the finance charge so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

outstanding lease obligations.  

(p)  Accounting for leases - where the Subsidiary company is the lessor  

 Finance leases   

  When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is  recognised as a receivable, the amount being 

equal to the net investment in the leases after specific provision for bad and doubtful debts in respect of all identified impaired leases in the 

light of periodical reviews.  The difference between the gross receivable  and the present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned 

finance income.  Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic 

rate of return.  
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p)  Accounting for leases - where the Subsidiary company is the lessor (Cont’d) 

 Operating leases   

  Assets leased out under operating leases are included in plant and equipment in the Statement of Financial Position. They are depreciated over 

their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar assets.  Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

(q)  Cash and cash equivalents   
 

  For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and balances with Central Banks and amounts 

due to and from other banks.  A further breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is given in notes 4 to the financial statements.  

     

(r)  Provisions   

  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the 

obligation can be made.

(s)  Employee benefits    

  The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution plans throughout the region. The defined benefit plan is fully funded. 

The assets of the funded plan are held independently and administered by The Maurtitius Commercial Bank Superannuation Fund.

  Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes 

in actuarial assumptions, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), is recognised  

immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income 

shall not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent period.

 (i)  Defined contribution plans

   A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has 

no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the 

benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

   Payments to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service that entitled them to 

the contributions.
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(s)  Employee benefits  (Cont’d)

 
 (ii)  Defined benefit plans

   A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of 

pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service 

and compensation.

   The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of 

the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is 

calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The main assumptions made in the actuarial 

valuation of the pension fund are listed in note 17 to the financial statements.

   The Group determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the 

discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability/

(asset), taking  into account any changes in the net defined liability/(asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 

payments. Net interest expense/(income) is recognised in profit or loss.

   Service costs comprising current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlements are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(t)   Current and deferred income tax

  The tax expense for the period comprises of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates 

to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 Current tax      

 

  The current income tax charge is based on taxable income for the year calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the reporting period. 

 Deferred tax    

  Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in 

a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is 

not accounted for.
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1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(t)   Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)

 Deferred tax (Cont’d) 

  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and are expected 

to apply in the period when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

  Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which deductable 

temporary differences can be utilised.

 

(u)  Dividend distribution

  Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the 

dividends are declared.

(v)  Borrowings    
 

  Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of transaction costs 

incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost and any difference between net proceeds and the redemption value is 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss  over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

(w)  Acceptances    
 

  Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Group expects most acceptances to be 

settled simultaneously with the reimbursement from the customers. Acceptances are disclosed as liabilities with corresponding contra-assets.   

      

(x)  Operating segments    

  An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 

including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating 

results are reviewed regularly by the Supervisory and Monitoring Committee to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 

segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

 Detailed analysis of segment reporting are shown in note 35 to the financial statements. 

      



162 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30th June 2015

1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(y)  Stated capital

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

 Share issue costs

  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the acquisition of a business are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(z)  Treasury shares

  Where the Company purchases its equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from total shareholders’ equity as treasury shares 

until they are cancelled. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders’ equity.

(aa)  Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised until such time as the 

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

 Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(ab)  Impairment of non-financial assets   

  Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject 

to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 

recoverable. Any  impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.   

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, 

assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
  

  Estimates and  judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 

 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

  

  The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 

related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.  

   

(a)  Held-to-maturity investments
  

  The Group follows the guidance of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39 - “Recognition and Measurement” on classifying non-derivative 

financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity.  This classification requires significant judgement.  

In making this judgement, the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.

  

  If the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for specific circumstances explained in IAS 39, it will be required to 

reclassify the whole class as available-for-sale.  The investments would therefore be measured at fair value not amortised cost.

  

(b)  Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
 

  The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on determining when an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired.  This determination 

requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair 

value of an investment is less than its cost, and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such 

as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.  

 

(c)  Pension benefits
 

  The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of 

assumptions.  The assumptions used in determining  the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate.  Any changes in these 

assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations. 

  Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions.  Additional information is disclosed in Note 

17.   

 

 The value of the pension obligations is based on the report submitted by an independent actuarial firm on an annual basis.
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)

(d)  Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market

  The fair value of securities not quoted in an active market may be determined by the Group using valuation techniques including third party 

transaction values, earnings, net asset value or discounted cash flows, whichever is considered to be appropriate.   The Group would exercise 

judgement and estimates on the quantity and quality of pricing sources used. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the  

reported fair value of financial instruments. 

(e)  Limitation of sensitivity analysis
 

  Sensitivity analysis in respect of market risk demonstrates the effect of a change in a key  assumption while other assumptions remain 

unchanged.  In reality, there is a correlation  between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that these sensitivities  are 

non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated  from these results. 

 

  Sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are managed. Other limitations include the use of 

hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Group’s view of possible near-term market changes 

that cannot be predicted with any certainty.

(f)  Asset lives and residual values
  

  Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over its useful life taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of 

the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, factors such as 

technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues 

such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. Consideration is also given to the extent of 

current profits and losses on the disposal of similar assets.

(g)  Depreciation policies

  Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual value of an asset is the 

estimated net amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of the asset, if the asset were already of the age and in condition 

expected at the end of its useful life. 

 

  The directors therefore make estimates based on historical experience and use best judgement to assess the useful lives of assets and to 

forecast the expected residual values of the assets at the end of their expected useful lives. 
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)
 

(h)  Impairment of assets
  

  Goodwill is considered for impairment at least annually. Assets are considered for impairment if there is a reason to believe that impairment 

may be necessary. Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability of the asset itself and where it 

is a component of a larger economic unit, the viability of that unit itself.

 

  Future cash flows expected to be generated by an asset or cash-generating units are projected, taking into account market conditions and the 

expected useful lives of the assets. The present value of these cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, is  compared to the 

current net asset value and, if lower, the assets are impaired to the present  value. The impairment loss is first allocated to goodwill and then 

to the other assets of a cash-generating unit.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

(a)  Strategy in using financial instruments 

  The use of financial instruments is a major feature of the Group’s operations. It has been the Bank’s policy to take deposits from customers 

at variable rates mostly by investing these funds in a wide range of assets. 

  The Group also seeks to raise its interest margins, net of provisions, through lending to commercial and retail borrowers with a range of credit 

standing. The Bank’s exposures are not restricted to just on-balance sheet loans and advances but, also, to guarantees and other commitments  

such as letters of credit, performance and other bonds.

(b)  Credit risk 

  Credit risk arises when customers or counterparties are not able to fulfill their contractual obligations. Credit Risk Management at the Bank is 

under the responsibility of the Credit Risk Business Unit (CRBU). The CRBU has the task of reviewing the Bank’s credit policies and guidelines 

to ensure that best lending practices are upheld at all times.  Risk assessments are carried out to assist in portfolio management decisions 

including exposure levels and the constitution of required provisions.

 Credit related commitments 

  The main purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters of 

credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations 

to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the 

Bank to pay a third party, on behalf of its customers up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the 

underlying shipments of goods  to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing. Commitments to extend credit 

represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk 

on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused  commitments.  However, 

the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments  to extend credit are contingent upon customers 

maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer term commitments 

generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter term commitments.                                
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Credit Quality of Loans And Advances  
GROUP

PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015

 RS’M

2014

 RS’M

2013

 RS’M

Neither past due nor impaired  155,828.4  147,253.4  142,536.1 

Past due but not impaired  6,498.0  3,371.0  5,581.0 

Impaired  10,754.8  11,711.3  7,630.0 

Gross  173,081.2  162,335.7  155,747.1 

Less Allowances for credit impairment  (5,900.4)  (6,224.5)  (4,231.7)

Net  167,180.8  156,111.2  151,515.4 

Fair Value of collaterals of past due but not impaired loans  8,167.0  6,462.0  5,290.0 

Fair Value of collaterals of impaired loans  6,771.0  6,603.0  5,642.0 

  
GROUP

PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015

 RS’M

2014

 RS’M

2013

 RS’M

Up to 3 months  1,646.0  1,351.0  326.0 

Over 3 months and up to 6 months  1,911.0  1,165.0  3,519.0 

Over 6 months and up to 1 year  2,383.0  594.0  473.0 

Over 1 year  558.0  261.0  1,263.0 

 6,498.0  3,371.0  5,581.0 

Loans and advances negotiated    
GROUP

PROFORMA

GROUP

2015

 RS’M

2014

 RS’M

2013

 RS’M

Loans and advances negotiated  15,768.0  12,961.0  11,789.0 

Fair value of collaterals  15,064.0  12,720.0  11,789.0 

Age analysis of loans and advances that are past due but not impaired:

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(b)  Credit risk (Cont’d)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(b)  Credit risk (Cont’d) 

 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral and other credit risk enhancements :

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015

RS’M

2014

RS’M

2013

RS’M

Credit risk exposures relating to on - balance sheet assets 

are as follows :

Cash and cash equivalents  24,528.6  18,802.0  15,394.1 

Derivative financial instruments  421.9  246.8  121.0 

Loans and advances to banks  8,811.4  6,010.0  3,480.7 

Loans and advances to customers  163,442.2  150,101.2  148,034.7 

Investment securities  50,369.3  35,435.3  22,447.0 

Other assets  18,023.9  15,885.6  12,849.5 

Credit risk exposures relating to off - balance sheet   

assets are as follows :   

Financial guarantees  45,697.1  64,082.9  48,028.4 

Loans committed and other credit related liabilities  4,633.0  4,660.7  5,237.8 

Total  315,927.4  295,224.5  255,593.2 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(c)  Market risk

  Market risk arises from activities undertaken in or impacted by financial markets generally. This includes the risk of gain or loss arising from the  

movement in market price of a financial asset or liability as well as ancillary risks such as liquidity and funding risk. The market risk management 

policies at the Bank are set by the Risk Committee of the Board and executive management of this class of risk is delegated to the  Asset and 

Liability Committee (ALCO).  The Market Risk Business Unit (MRBU) plays a central role in monitoring and controlling market risk  activities.  

It is the aim of MRBU to ensure that market risk policies and guidelines are being effectively complied with and that limits are being observed. 

  A major methodology which MCB uses for the measurement of market price risk is Value-at-Risk (VaR). VaR is the statistical representation 

of financial risk, expressed as a number, based on consistent modelling of past data and/or simulation of possible future movements, applied to 

a  particular risk position, asset, or portfolio. 

  The VaR model used by the Bank is based upon a 99 percent one-tailed confidence level and assumes a ten-day holding period, with market 

data taken from the previous one year.                                

 VaR Analysis - Foreign Exchange Risk  

(d)  Price risk

  The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held and classified as available-for-sale financial assets. The table 

below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in fair value of the investments on the Group’s and the Bank’s equity. The analysis is based 

on the assumption that the fair value had increased/decreased by 5%. 

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015

RS’M

2014

RS’M

2013

RS’M

Available-for-sale financial assets 371.2 232.7 217.1

As at 30 June Average Maximum Minimum

2015 (RS’M) (25.8) (17.6) (30.3) (10.2)

2014 (RS’M) (10.3) (12.0) (20.5) (10.0)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(e)  Currency risk 

  Currency Risk is defined as the risk that movements in foreign exchange rates adversely affect the value of the Bank’s foreign currency 

positions. Exposure resulting from trading activities is monitored through the use of targets and limits. Limits are given to the individual trader 

and  monitored by the Treasury Manager. Such limits include daily, monthly, half-yearly and yearly stop losses. Exposure resulting from non-

trading activities is managed through the Asset Liability Management framework, with reference to guidelines and policies set and approved 

by ALCO and the Board Risk Monitoring Committee. 

 Concentration of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items

GROUP
At June 30, 2015 EURO USD GBP MUR OTHER  TOTAL 
Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M 
Cash and cash equivalents  1,846.6  8,477.2  3,411.8  4,333.5  4,930.8  22,999.9 
Derivative financial instruments  13.7  -    -    251.1  -    264.8 
Loans to and placements with banks  1,228.4  1,245.0  -    5,916.3  1,073.8  9,463.5 
Loans and advances to customers  14,808.9  45,112.5  966.7  96,229.0  191.2  157,308.3 
Investment securities  214.7  2,142.5  103.1  42,113.0  102.0  44,675.3 
Investments in associates  2,964.4  -    -    4,290.2  -    7,254.6 
Intangible assets  -    -    -    385.5  -    385.5 
Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    5,030.4  -    5,030.4 
Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    222.5  -    222.5 
Other assets  782.7  1,540.6  140.5  12,994.1  24.7  15,482.6 

 21,859.4  58,517.8  4,622.1  171,765.6  6,322.5  263,087.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,226.1)

 257,861.3 
Subsidiaries  22,151.5 
Total assets  280,012.8 

Liabilities 
Deposits from banks  585.9  3,457.1  126.2  201.5  133.6  4,504.3 
Deposits from customers  24,120.9  34,437.0  4,565.2  132,060.3  7,530.2  202,713.6 
Derivative financial instruments  13.0  1.8  -    94.2  -    109.0 
Other borrowed funds  3,398.7  3,505.4  -    11.7  -    6,915.8 
Subordinated liabilities  -    1,055.7  -    4,500.0  -    5,555.7 
Current tax liabilities  -    -    -    448.8  -    448.8 
Other liabilities  191.5  506.1  18.4  5,153.3  32.4  5,901.7 

 28,310.0  42,963.1  4,709.8  142,469.8  7,696.2  226,148.9 
Subsidiaries  16,181.7 
Total liabilities  242,330.6 

Net on-balance sheet position  (6,450.6)  15,554.7  (87.7)  29,295.8  (1,373.7)  36,938.5 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,226.1)
Subsidiaries  5,969.8 

 37,682.2 

Off balance sheet net notional position  3,525.1  17,496.5  944.0  -  502.6  22,468.2 
Credit commitments  4,983.3  32,894.9  243.6  12,136.1  650.0  50,907.9 
Subsidiaries  4,613.9 

 77,990.0 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(e)  Currency risk (Cont’d)

  Concentration of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items

GROUP
At June 30, 2014 EURO USD GBP MUR OTHER  TOTAL 
Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M 
Cash and cash equivalents  3,958.6  2,146.6  2,123.2  4,128.6  5,346.6  17,703.6 
Derivative financial instruments  21.7  -    -    100.2  -    121.9 
Loans to and placements with banks  1,301.4  4,533.4  -    4.0  712.9  6,551.7 
Loans and advances to customers  12,622.5  37,407.9  994.2  94,970.7  238.5  146,233.8 
Investment securities  -    598.5  -    29,978.1  38.0  30,614.6 
Investments in associates 3,170.9  -    -    4,052.4  -    7,223.3
Intangible assets  -    -    -    523.1  -    523.1 
Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    5,202.5  -    5,202.5 
Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    194.3  -    194.3 
Other assets  627.5  1,584.2  142.6  11,542.6  140.7  14,037.6 

21,702.6  46,270.6  3,260.0  150,696.5  6,476.7  228,406.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,882.3)

 222,524.1 
Subsidiaries  18,362.3 
Total assets  240,886.4 

Liabilities 
Deposits from banks  731.3  2,594.4  93.1  90.4  188.9  3,698.1 
Deposits from customers  21,838.8  22,866.8  3,193.2  115,752.5  7,370.7  171,022.0 
Derivative financial instruments  20.5  414.6  -    93.7  528.8 
Other borrowed funds  3,501.2  2,178.6  -    23.2  1,862.6  7,565.6 
Subordinated liabilities  -    909.1  -    4,500.0  -    5,409.1 
Current tax liabilities  -    -    -    368.4  -    368.4 
Other liabilities  147.2  1,187.3  13.3  4,539.5  53.7  5,941.0 

 26,239.0  30,150.8  3,299.6  125,367.7  9,475.9  194,533.0 
Subsidiaries  13,649.1 
Total liabilities  208,182.1 

Net on-balance sheet position  (4,536.4)  16,119.8  (39.6)  25,328.8  (2,999.2)  33,873.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,882.3)
Subsidiaries  4,713.2 

 32,704.3 

Off balance sheet net notional position  4,606.6  19,977.0  1,204.4  -  871.1  26,659.1 
Credit commitments  5,346.6  46,590.4  132.7  13,007.4  1,390.7  66,467.8 
Subsidiaries  2,990.0 

 96,116.9 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(e)  Currency risk (Cont’d)

  Concentration of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items

PROFORMA
At June 30, 2013 EURO USD GBP MUR OTHER  TOTAL 
Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M 
Cash and cash equivalents  2,873.6  290.5  2,420.2  4,704.8  4,325.5  14,614.6 
Derivative financial instruments  25.5  -    -    95.4  -    120.9 
Loans to and placements with banks  823.3  2,846.2  -    -    -    3,669.5 
Loans and advances to customers  12,001.5  37,411.1  702.1  92,743.3  172.3  143,030.3 
Investment securities  -    182.9  -    17,062.7  29.3  17,274.9 
Investments in associates  3,186.0  -    -    3,500.1  -    6,686.1 
Goodwill and other intangible assets  -    -    -    691.9  -    691.9 
Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    5,442.0  -    5,442.0 
Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    113.8  -    113.8 
Other assets  612.3  1,463.2  158.6  8,483.0  22.6  10,739.7 

 19,522.2  42,193.9  3,280.9  132,837.0  4,549.7  202,383.7 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (4,058.8)

 198,324.9 
Subsidiaries  18,202.7 
Total assets  216,527.6 

Liabilities 
Deposits from banks  598.6  2,265.2  73.4  173.3  298.1  3,408.6 
Deposits from customers  15,677.0  20,695.3  3,004.4  107,768.4  3,773.6  150,918.7 
Derivative financial instruments  23.8  63.5  -    473.4  -    560.7 
Other borrowed funds  3,777.8  7,456.6  -    -    1,869.4  13,103.8 
Current tax liabilities  -    -    -    241.9  -    241.9 
Other liabilities  148.8  763.3  21.1  4,284.4  50.0  5,267.6 

 20,226.0  31,243.9  3,098.9  112,941.4  5,991.1  173,501.3 
Subsidiaries  12,898.9 
Total liabilities  186,400.2 

Net on-balance sheet position  (703.8)  10,950.0  182.0  19,895.6  (1,441.4)  28,882.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (4,058.8)
Subsidiaries  5,303.8 

 30,127.4 

Off balance sheet net notional position  5,042.4  13,425.4  482.5  -    3,622.7  22,573.0 
Credit commitments  3,580.7  33,749.0  18.8  13,551.0  672.7  51,572.2 
Subsidiaries  1,694.1 

 75,839.3 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(f)  Interest rate risk 

  Interest rate risk refers to the potential variability in the bank’s financial condition owing to changes in the level of interest rates. It is the bank’s 

policy to apply variable interest rates to lending and deposit taking. Fixed interest rates are applied to deposits in foreign currencies; however 

maturities in this regard are only short-term.

 Interest sensitivity of assets and liabilities - repricing analysis

GROUP Up to 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-3 Over 3  Non-interest  

At June 30, 2015 1 month months months months years years  bearing Total

Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M  RS'M 

Cash and cash equivalents  10,247.9  -    -    -    -    -    12,752.0  22,999.9 

Derivative financial instruments  -    -    -    -    -    -    264.8  264.8 

Loans to and placements with banks  1,016.8  2,084.3  2,167.5  4,018.9  176.0  -    -    9,463.5 

Loans and advances to customers  109,133.2  34,679.1  -    4,307.2  3,089.7  5,590.6  508.5  157,308.3 

Investment securities  529.6  4,826.2  5,348.6  5,384.6  17,562.0  8,425.2  2,599.1  44,675.3 

Investments in associates  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,254.6  7,254.6 

Intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    385.5  385.5 

Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,030.4  5,030.4 

Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    222.5  222.5 

Other assets  -    1.0  -    -    0.6  -    15,481.0  15,482.6 

 120,927.5  41,590.6  7,516.1  13,710.7  20,828.3  14,015.8  44,498.4  263,087.4 

Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,226.1)

 257,861.3 

Subsidiaries  22,151.5 

Total assets  280,012.8 

Liabilities 

Deposits from banks  3,466.4  372.5  337.5  -    66.9  -    261.0  4,504.3 

Deposits from customers  182,591.0  2,116.0  1,330.7  235.9  1.8  2,103.6  14,334.6  202,713.6 

Derivative financial instruments  -    -    -    -    -    -    109.0  109.0 

Other borrowed funds  3,336.0  524.8  2,082.9  11.7  -    952.6  7.8  6,915.8 

Subordinated liabilities  1,055.7  4,500.0  -    -    -    -    -    5,555.7 

Current tax liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    -    448.8  448.8 

Other liabilities  131.3  -    -    -    -    -    5,770.4  5,901.7 

 190,580.4  7,513.3  3,751.1  247.6  68.7  3,056.2  20,931.6  226,148.9 

Subsidiaries  16,181.7 

Total liabilities  242,330.6 

On balance sheet interest sensitivity gap  (69,652.9)  34,077.3  3,765.0  13,463.1  20,759.6  10,959.6  23,566.8  36,938.5

Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,226.1)

Subsidiaries  5,969.8

 37,682.2
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(f)  Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

 Interest sensitivity of assets and liabilities - repricing analysis

GROUP Up to 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-3 Over 3  Non-interest  

At June 30, 2014 1 month months months months years years  bearing Total

Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M  RS'M 

Cash and cash equivalents  9,770.1  57.1  -    -    -    50.0  7,826.4  17,703.6 

Derivative financial instruments  -    -    -    -    -    -    121.9  121.9 

Loans to and placements with banks  2,119.1  2,818.7  1,025.7  588.2  -    -    -    6,551.7 

Loans and advances to customers  101,994.8  29,800.0  3,692.0  4,994.7  1,903.9  3,183.2  665.2  146,233.8 

Investment securities  2,061.0  3,380.1  4,607.3  4,838.1  8,439.9  5,509.8  1,778.4  30,614.6 

Investments in associates  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,223.3  7,223.3 

Intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    523.1  523.1 

Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,202.5  5,202.5 

Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    194.3  194.3 

Other assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    14,037.6  14,037.6 

 115,945.0  36,055.9  9,325.0  10,421.0  10,343.8  8,743.0  37,572.7 228,406.4

Less allowances for credit impairment (5,882.3)

 222,524.1

Subsidiaries  18,362.3

Total assets  240,886.4 

Liabilities 

Deposits from banks  2,636.7  528.8  243.3  176.8  -    16.6  95.9  3,698.1 

Deposits from customers  148,714.4  3,389.1  3,424.4  1,239.4  43.6  728.5  13,482.6  171,022.0 

Derivative financial instruments  12.2  -    393.6  -    -    -    123.0  528.8 

Other borrowed funds  695.5  2,189.4  3,521.5  23.2  -    1,130.4  5.6  7,565.6 

Subordinated liabilities  909.1  4,500.0  -    -    -    -    -    5,409.1 

Current tax liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    -    368.4  368.4 

Other liabilities  705.2  -    -    -    -    -    5,235.8  5,941.0 

 153,673.1  10,607.3  7,582.8  1,439.4  43.6  1,875.5  19,311.3  194,533.0 

Subsidiaries  13,649.1 

Total liabilities  208,182.1 

On balance sheet interest sensitivity gap  (37,728.1)  25,448.6  1,742.2  8,981.6  10,300.2  6,867.5  18,261.4  33,873.4 

Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,882.3)

Subsidiaries  4,713.2

 32,704.3 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(f)  Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

 Interest sensitivity of assets and liabilities - repricing analysis

PROFORMA Up to 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-3 Over 3  Non-interest  

At June 30, 2013 1 month months months months years years  bearing Total

Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M  RS'M 

Cash and cash equivalents  8,263.6  830.0  -    -    -    -    5,521.0  14,614.6 

Derivative financial instruments  -    -    -    -    -    -    120.9  120.9 

Loans to and placements with banks  2,202.1  1,346.4  77.5  43.5  -    -    -    3,669.5 

Loans and advances to customers  102,922.6  18,397.0  11,165.9  4,832.6  1,288.9  3,777.4  645.9  143,030.3 

Investment securities  959.5  2,661.7  4,666.1  4,831.1  1,993.8  1,017.7  1,145.0  17,274.9 

Investments in associates  -    413.4  -    -    -    -    6,272.7  6,686.1 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    691.9  691.9 

Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,442.0  5,442.0 

Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    113.8  113.8 

Other assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    10,739.7  10,739.7 

 114,347.8  23,648.5  15,909.5  9,707.2  3,282.7  4,795.1  30,692.9  202,383.7 

Less allowances for credit impairment  (4,058.8)

 198,324.9 

Subsidiaries  18,202.7 

Total assets  216,527.6 

Liabilities 

Deposits from banks  2,059.1  458.6  223.7  423.9  31.0  14.1  198.2  3,408.6 

Deposits from customers  129,312.9  4,099.7  2,266.9  2,672.5  61.8  143.4  12,361.5  150,918.7 

Derivative financial instruments  -    -    -    -    -    -    560.7  560.7 

Other borrowed funds  4,086.8  4,530.1  3,301.6  -    -    1,176.5  8.8  13,103.8 

Current tax liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    -    241.9  241.9 

Other liabilities  746.7  -    393.4  -    -    -    4,127.5  5,267.6 

 136,205.5  9,088.4  6,185.6  3,096.4  92.8  1,334.0  17,498.6  173,501.3 

Subsidiaries  12,898.9 

Total liabilities  186,400.2 

On balance sheet interest sensitivity gap  (21,857.7)  14,560.1  9,723.9  6,610.8  3,189.9  3,461.1  13,194.3  28,882.4 

Less allowances for credit impairment  (4,058.8)

Subsidiaries  5,303.8 

 30,127.4 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(g)  Liquidity risk 

  Liquidity risk can be defined as the risk of a funding crisis, notably a lack of funds to meet immediate or short term obligations in a cost-

effective way.  There are two aspects of liquidity risk management a) cash flow management to ensure a balanced inflow and outflow of funds 

on any one specific day b) the maintenance of a stock of liquid assets to ensure that the Bank has a constantly available store of value, which 

can be utilised in the  event of an unexpected outflow of funds. The MCB has a documented liquidity policy compliant  with the Bank of 

Mauritius Guideline on Liquidity. The Bank Treasury manages liquidity in accordance with this policy, on a day-to-day basis. 

 Maturities of assets and liabilities

GROUP Up to 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-3 Over 3  Non-maturity 
At June 30, 2015 1 month months months months years years  items Total
Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M  RS'M 
Cash and cash equivalents  22,688.5  -    -    -    -    -    311.4  22,999.9 
Derivative financial instruments  210.5  22.8  12.5  5.2  -    -    13.8  264.8 
Loans to and placements with banks  2,159.1  2,282.1  651.4  4,018.9  176.0  176.0  -    9,463.5 
Loans and advances to customers  37,645.2  8,098.0  3,003.0  3,877.9  14,878.9  88,732.2  1,073.1  157,308.3 
Investment securities  509.9  3,870.0  6,200.8  5,485.6  17,626.3  8,696.7  2,286.0  44,675.3 
Investments in associates  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,254.6  7,254.6 
Intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    385.5  385.5 
Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,030.4  5,030.4 
Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    222.5  222.5 
Other assets  -    4.4  2.7  7.7  183.3  121.9  15,162.6  15,482.6 

 63,213.2  14,277.3  9,870.4  13,395.3  32,864.5  97,726.8  31,739.9  263,087.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,226.1)

 257,861.3 
Subsidiaries  22,151.5 
Total assets  280,012.8 

Liabilities 
Deposits from banks  3,436.9  380.8  468.7  151.1  66.8  -    -    4,504.3 
Deposits from customers  174,301.7  4,308.2  3,866.8  5,826.4  7,533.9  6,876.6  -    202,713.6 
Derivative financial instruments  13.4  65.0  11.4  4.3  -    -    14.9  109.0 
Other borrowed funds  1,239.4  182.5  215.5  450.9  -    4,827.5  -    6,915.8 
Subordinated liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    5,555.7  -    5,555.7 
Current tax liabilities  -    -    448.8  -    -    -    -    448.8 
Other liabilities  95.8  -    -    -    -    -    5,805.9  5,901.7 

 179,087.2  4,936.5  5,011.2  6,432.7  7,600.7  17,259.8  5,820.8  226,148.9 
Subsidiaries  16,181.7 
Total liabilities  242,330.6 

Net liquidity gap  (115,874.0)  9,340.8  4,859.2  6,962.6  25,263.8  80,467.0  25,919.1  36,938.5 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,226.1)
Subsidiaries  5,969.8 

 37,682.2
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(g)  Liquidity risk (Cont’d) 

 Maturities of assets and liabilities

GROUP Up to 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-3 Over 3  Non-maturity 
At June 30, 2014 1 month months months months years years  items Total
Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M  RS'M 
Cash and cash equivalents  17,307.9  57.1  -    -    -    -    338.6  17,703.6 
Derivative financial instruments  70.6  19.0  9.7  0.6  -    -    22.0  121.9 
Loans to and placements with banks  1,967.6  2,396.8  1,025.7  588.2  421.9  151.5  -    6,551.7 
Loans and advances to customers  36,956.5  8,854.7  3,227.9  4,639.7  12,083.1  79,601.3  870.6  146,233.8 
Investment securities  2,023.0  3,380.1  4,629.5  4,930.2  8,463.6  5,718.6  1,469.6  30,614.6 
Investments in associates  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,223.3  7,223.3 
Intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    523.1  523.1 
Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,202.5  5,202.5 
Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    194.3  194.3 
Other assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    14,037.6  14,037.6 

 58,325.6  14,707.7  8,892.8  10,158.7  20,968.6  85,471.4  29,881.6  228,406.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,882.3)

 222,524.1 
Subsidiaries  18,362.3 
Total assets  240,886.4 

Liabilities 
Deposits from banks  2,640.7  528.8  243.3  285.3  -    -    -    3,698.1 
Deposits from customers  142,457.9  4,244.6  4,662.1  5,771.1  10,957.6  2,928.7  -    171,022.0 
Derivative financial instruments  66.6  19.0  401.3  12.6  -    -    29.3  528.8 
Other borrowed funds  5.6  -    1,285.6  1,468.9  1,274.9  3,530.6  -    7,565.6 
Subordinated liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    5,409.1  -    5,409.1 
Current tax liabilities  -    -    368.4  -    -    -    -    368.4 
Other liabilities  705.2  -    -    -    -    -    5,235.8  5,941.0 

 145,876.0  4,792.4  6,960.7  7,537.9  12,232.5  11,868.4  5,265.1  194,533.0 
Subsidiaries  13,649.1 
Total liabilities  208,182.1 

Net liquidity gap  (87,550.4)  9,915.3  1,932.1  2,620.8  8,736.1  73,603.0  24,616.5  33,873.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (5,882.3)
Subsidiaries 4,713.2 

 32,704.3 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(g)  Liquidity risk (Cont’d) 

 Maturities of assets and liabilities

PROFORMA Up to 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-3 Over 3  Non-maturity 
At June 30, 2013 1 month months months months years years  items Total
Assets RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M  RS'M  RS'M 
Cash and cash equivalents  13,356.7  830.0  -    -    -    -    427.9  14,614.6 
Derivative financial instruments  27.5  63.0  4.6  -    -    -    25.8  120.9 
Loans to and placements with banks  1,236.1  1,191.3  77.5  43.4  1,121.2  -    -    3,669.5 
Loans and advances to customers  37,589.0  11,557.1  3,049.7  2,196.6  9,553.7  78,449.3  634.9  143,030.3 
Investment securities  930.3  2,761.0  4,357.9  4,831.1  2,205.9  1,226.5  962.2  17,274.9 
Investments in associates  -    -    -    -    413.4  -    6,272.7  6,686.1 
Goodwill and other intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    691.9  691.9 
Property, plant and equipment  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,442.0  5,442.0 
Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    113.8  113.8 
Other assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    10,739.7  10,739.7 

 53,139.6  16,402.4  7,489.7  7,071.1  13,294.2  79,675.8  25,310.9  202,383.7 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (4,058.8)

 198,324.9 
Subsidiaries  18,202.7 
Total assets  216,527.6 

Liabilities 
Deposits from banks  2,271.4  458.6  223.7  454.9  -    -    -    3,408.6 
Deposits from customers  117,822.2  10,222.6  3,547.7  6,006.5  7,277.6  6,042.1  -    150,918.7 
Derivative financial instruments  58.1  50.0  8.4  0.4  -    -    443.8  560.7 
Other borrowed funds  4,095.6  2,669.5  469.0  -    2,057.7  3,812.0  -    13,103.8 
Current tax liabilities  -    -    241.9  -    -    -    -    241.9 
Other liabilities  1,543.4  -    70.0  -    323.5  -    3,330.7  5,267.6 

 125,790.7  13,400.7  4,560.7  6,461.8  9,658.8  9,854.1  3,774.5  173,501.3 
Subsidiaries  12,898.9 
Total liabilities  186,400.2 

Net liquidity gap  (72,651.1)  3,001.7  2,929.0  609.3  3,635.4  69,821.7  21,536.4  28,882.4 
Less allowances for credit impairment  (4,058.8)
Subsidiaries  5,303.8 

 30,127.4 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

(h)  Fair value estimation 

  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of reporting period. A market 

is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or 

regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market 

price used for financial assets held by the Bank is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in 

level 1 comprise primarily quoted equity investments classified as trading securities or available-for-sale.

 

   The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation 

techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on specific estimates. If all significant 

input required to fair value on instrument is observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

 If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.  

 

 Specific techniques used to value financial instruments include: 

 •  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments; 

 •   The fair value of interest swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cashflows based on observable yield curves; 

 •    The fair value of foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, with the 

resulting value discounted back to present value; 

 •   Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determined fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The 

nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair 

value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cashflows at the current market 

interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. 
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4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP
COMPANY

2015 2014 2013 2015 2014
RS'M RS’M RS'M RS’M RS'M

Cash in hand  1,960.8  2,456.7  2,386.4  51.8  3.2 

Foreign currency notes and coins  151.6  151.2  102.7  -    -   

Unrestricted balances with Central Banks  2,911.2  2,056.2  2,447.7  -    -   

Balances due in clearing  347.0  389.2  536.8  -    -   

Balances with local banks  39.9  61.8  14.5  -    -   

Money market placements  10,673.6  5,129.4  5,385.0  -    -   

Balances with banks abroad  8,444.5  8,457.9  4,127.3  -    -   

Interbank loans  -    99.6 393.7  -   

 24,528.6  18,802.0  15,394.1  51.8  3.2 

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended

30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Cash and cash equivalents  24,528.6  18,802.0  15,394.1  18,802.0  51.8  3.2 

Other borrowed funds (note 15(a))  (1,241.1)  (1,318.5)  (6,951.3)  (1,318.5)  -    -   

Net cash and cash equivalents  23,287.5  17,483.5  8,442.8  17,483.5  51.8  3.2 

Change in year/period  5,804.0  9,040.7  1,340.4  (1,005.9)  48.6  3.2 

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Statements of Cash Flows:  
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5. Derivative Financial Instruments

  The Group utilises the following derivative instruments to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk:

 Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign and domestic currency, including undelivered spot transactions.

  Currency swaps and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic 

exchange of currencies, or interest rates, or a combination of all these.  

  Except for certain currency swaps, no exchange of principal takes place. The Group’s credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the 

swap contracts if counterparties fail to perform their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair 

value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group 

assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

  Warrant is a derivative financial instrument which gives the right, but not the obligation to buy or to sell a specific amount of a given stock, 

currency, index or debt, at a specified price (the strike price) during a specified period or on a specified date.

 The fair values of derivative instruments held are set out below:
Contractual/

Nominal Fair value Fair value
GROUP Amount assets liabilities

RS'M RS'M RS'M
Derivatives held-for-trading
Year ended 30th June 2015
Foreign Exchange & Interest Rate Derivatives
Currency forwards  3,928.1  49.5  35.9 
Interest rate swaps  847.6  13.7  14.8 
Currency swaps  18,841.8  201.6  58.3 
Warrants  1,986.4  157.1  196.7 

 25,603.9  421.9  305.7 

Derivatives held-for-trading
Year ended 30th June 2014
Foreign Exchange & Interest Rate Derivatives
Currency forwards  3,180.3  59.7  58.7 
Cross currency interest rate swaps  2,262.8  -    413.5 
Interest rate swaps  970.2  21.7  21.6 
Currency swaps  21,165.8  40.2  35.0 
Warrants  714.2  124.9  124.8 
Others  41.4  0.3  -   

 28,334.7  246.8  653.6 
PROFORMA

Year ended 30th June 2013
Foreign Exchange & Interest Rate Derivatives
Currency forwards  2,827.7  28.1  30.7 
Cross currency interest rate swaps  2,254.0  -    420.0 
Interest rate swaps  831.2  25.5  23.8 
Currency swaps  15,684.3  67.1  86.2 
Others  81.1  0.3  -  

 21,678.3  121.0  560.7 
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6. Loans

(a) Loans to and placements with banks

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

(i) Loans to and placements with banks

in Mauritius 3,212.1  93.2  408.2 

outside Mauritius 24,773.9  19,682.9  13,003.0 

27,986.0  19,776.1  13,411.2 

Less:

Loans and placements with original maturity 

   less than 3 months and included in cash and cash equivalents (19,158.0)  (13,748.7)  (9,920.5)

8,828.0  6,027.4  3,490.7 

Less:

Allowances for credit impairment (16.6)  (17.4)  (10.0)

8,811.4  6,010.0  3,480.7 

(ii) Remaining term to maturity 

Up to 3 months 4,206.8  4,161.9  2,148.7 

Over 3 months and up to 6 months 250.3  1,025.8  77.5 

Over 6 months and up to 1 year 4,018.9  588.2  43.4 

Over 1 year and up to 5 years 176.0  100.0  1,221.1 

Over 5 years 176.0  151.5  - 

8,828.0  6,027.4  3,490.7 

(iii)  Allowances for credit impairment

PROFORMA GROUP GROUP

RS'M

Portfolio Provision:

At 30th June 2012  8.0 

Provision for credit impairment for the year  2.0   

At 30th June 2013  10.0 

Provision for credit impairment for the year  7.4 

At 30th June 2014  17.4 

GROUP

At 1st July 2014  17.4 

Provisions released during the year (0.8)

At 30th June 2015  16.6
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6. Loans (Cont’d)

(b) Loans and advances to customers

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

(i) Loans and advances to customers
Retail customers:

Credit cards 662.6  690.0  752.7 

Mortgages 19,401.1  17,158.4  16,128.3 

Other retail loans 13,320.1  12,350.3  11,865.3 

Corporate customers 105,950.6  99,636.0  93,397.1 

Governments 1,209.2  1,245.9  1,316.3 

Entities outside Mauritius 28,782.4  25,227.7  28,796.7 

169,326.0  156,308.3  152,256.4 

Less:

Allowances for credit impairment (5,883.8)  (6,207.1)  (4,221.7)

163,442.2  150,101.2  148,034.7 

  Finance lease receivable included in Group loans amounts to Rs 3,585 million as at 30th June 2015 (2014 : Rs 3,220 million, 2013 : Rs 2,776 million).

(ii) Remaining term to maturity

Up to 3 months  48,781.0  48,375.2  51,439.4 

Over 3 months and up to 6 months  4,139.1  4,027.9  3,765.3 

Over 6 months and up to 1 year  5,738.7  5,837.6  3,189.5 

Over 1 year and up to 5 years  44,023.9  30,810.6  29,523.0

Over 5 years  66,643.3  67,257.0  64,339.2

 169,326.0  156,308.3  152,256.4
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6. Loans (Cont’d)

(b) Loans and advances to customers (Cont’d)

(iii) Allowances for credit impairment

 Specific  Portfolio  Total 

GROUP  RS'M  RS'M  RS'M 

At 1st July 2014 4,078.8 1,053.9 5,132.7

Exchange adjustment 121.4 - 121.4

Provision for credit impairment for the year 1,050.7 66.2 1,116.9

Provision released during the year (51.3) - (51.3)

Amounts written off (1,498.4) - (1,498.4)

At 30th June 2015 3,701.2 1,120.1 4,821.3

Interest suspense 1,062.5 - 1,062.5

Provision and interest suspense at 30th June 2015 4,763.7 1,120.1 5,883.8

PROFORMA

At 1st July 2013  2,287.4  1,023.8  3,311.2 

Exchange adjustment  (11.5)  -    (11.5)

Provision for credit impairment for the year  2,082.0  30.1  2,112.1 

Provision released during the year  (186.9)  -    (186.9)

Amounts written off  (92.2)  -    (92.2)

At 30th June 2014  4,078.8  1,053.9  5,132.7 

Interest suspense  1,074.4  -    1,074.4 

Provision and interest suspense at 30th June 2014  5,153.2  1,053.9  6,207.1 

At 1st July 2012  1,510.9  933.0  2,443.9 

Exchange adjustment  0.7  -    0.7 

Provision for credit impairment for the year  980.9  90.8  1,071.7 

Provision released during the year  (57.4)  -    (57.4)

Amounts written off  (147.7)  -    (147.7)

At 30th June 2013  2,287.4  1,023.8  3,311.2 

Interest suspense  910.5  -    910.5 

Provision and interest suspense at 30th June 2013  3,197.9  1,023.8  4,221.7 
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6. Loans (Cont’d)

(b) Loans and advances to customers (Cont’d)

(iv) Allowances for credit impairment by industry sectors

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013
Gross Non 

amount performing Specific Portfolio Total Total Total
of loans loans provision provision provision provision provision

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Agriculture and fishing  8,056.2  926.3  36.8  9.3  46.1  33.7  61.0 

Manufacturing  11,768.1  610.7  329.2  79.6  408.8  520.1  378.0 

of which EPZ  4,761.2  68.3  52.3  23.9  76.2  108.7  123.8 
Tourism  35,274.5  850.5  257.9  78.7  336.6  301.9  230.3 

Transport  4,092.9  985.3  659.7  47.1  706.8  443.7  61.3 

Construction  16,858.7  2,040.4  691.3  225.2  916.5  741.7  636.4 

Financial and business services  15,326.9  128.1  73.8  51.3  125.1  119.2  128.4 

Traders  20,825.3  1,419.1  778.6  164.2  942.8  1,175.8  506.8 

Personal  30,632.9  2,293.8  967.7  181.7  1,149.4  1,227.1  1,202.3 

of which credit cards  852.1  73.7  44.2  12.0  56.2  69.0  68.2 
of which housing  19,401.1  1,017.1  157.2  84.1  241.3  236.6  191.8 

Professional  1,120.0  317.3  172.6  18.9  191.5  56.6  52.9 

Foreign governments  1,209.2  -    -    -    -    1.5  1.6 

Global Business Licence holders  14,331.0  855.2  655.9  193.9  849.8  1,381.5  736.2 

Others  9,830.3  328.1  140.2  70.2  210.4  204.3  226.5 

 169,326.0  10,754.8  4,763.7  1,120.1  5,883.8  6,207.1  4,221.7 
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6. Loans (Cont’d)

(b) Loans and advances to customers (Cont’d)

(v) Credit concentration of risk by industry sectors

  Total credit facilities including guarantees, acceptances and other similar commitments extended by the Group to any one customer or group of 

closely-related customers for amounts aggregating more than 15% of its capital base, classified by industry sectors.

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

Agriculture and fishing 1,202.7  1,044.3  994.5 

Manufacturing 2,305.1  393.1  1,501.1 

of which EPZ 1,637.7  180.3  178.3 

Tourism 11,116.7  13,973.6  16,322.0 

Transport 108.3  119.5  110.9 

Construction 2,086.8  1,806.2  1,630.7 

Financial and business services 16,447.7  8,123.2  8,514.4 

Traders 18,964.5  8,804.4  7,792.4 

Global Business Licence holders 1,146.0  1,113.6  326.6 

Others 739.4  540.2  685.1 

54,117.2  35,918.1  37,877.7 
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7.      Investment Securities

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

At fair value through profit or loss 0.7  0.1  0.2

Held-to-maturity 42,945.5 30,780.9  18,105.4 

Available-for-sale 7,423.1  4,654.3  4,341.4 

50,369.3  35,435.3  22,447.0 

 At fair value through profit or loss comprise financial instruments including investments in unquoted overseas collective investment scheme. 

    

(a) (i)        Held-to-maturity

Government of Mauritius and Bank of Mauritius bonds 26,702.3 15,428.4 3,550.2

Treasury bills 15,491.3 14,996.0 14,294.3

Foreign bonds 722.5 327.1 29.3

Mauritius Development Loan Stocks - - 231.6
Other  29.4 29.4 -

42,945.5 30,780.9 18,105.4

 (ii) Remaining term to maturity

2015

Up to 3 - 6 6 - 12 1 - 5 Over 5

3 months months months years years Total

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

GROUP

Government of Mauritius and Bank of Mauritius bonds 68.9 200.1 1,181.5 20,250.2 5,001.6 26,702.3

Treasury bills 5,832.2 5,245.9 4,413.2  -    -   15,491.3

Foreign bonds 351.6 - 176.0 194.9  -   722.5

Other  -    -    -   29.4  -    29.4 

6,252.7 5,446.0 5,770.7 20,474.5 5,001.6 42,945.5
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7. Investment Securities (Cont’d)

(b) Available-for-sale

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

Quoted - Level 1

Official list: shares 1,638.2  811.7  533.7 

Bonds 1,228.1 30.0 -

Development and Enterprise Market: shares 628.9  490.8  341.3 

Foreign shares 723.4  488.2  745.1 

Unquoted - Level 2

Investment fund 101.0 92.1 -

Unquoted - Level 3

Shares 2,384.1  2,345.4 2,329.6

Investment fund 510.6 187.3 182.9

Inflation - indexed Government of Mauritius bonds 208.8  208.8  208.8 

7,423.1  4,654.3  4,341.4 
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8.     Investments in Associates

(a)  The Group’s interest in its principal associates are as follows:

Nature
of business

Principal
place of
business 

 Country
of incorporation    Holding %

Direct Effective

2015

Banque Française Commerciale Ocean Indien Banking & financial services Reunion France - 49.99

Promotion and Development Ltd* Investment and Mauritius Mauritius 0.13 46.50

Property development

Caudan Development Ltd* Property development, investment Mauritius Mauritius - 34.51

and provision of security services
Credit Guarantee Insurance Co Ltd Insurance services Mauritius Mauritius 40.00 40.00

2014

Banque Française Commerciale Ocean Indien Banking & financial services Reunion France - 49.99

Promotion and Development Ltd Investment and Mauritius Mauritius - 46.39

Property development

Caudan Development Ltd Property development, investment Mauritius Mauritius - 34.52

and provision of security services
Credit Guarantee Insurance Co Ltd Insurance services Mauritius Mauritius 40.00 40.00

PROFORMA
2013

Banque Française Commerciale Ocean Indien Banking & financial services Reunion France 49.99 49.99

Promotion and Development Ltd Investment and Mauritius Mauritius - 46.40

Property development

Caudan Development Ltd Property development, investment Mauritius Mauritius - 34.53

and provision of security services
Credit Guarantee Insurance Co Ltd Insurance services Mauritius Mauritius 40.00 40.00

           (i)       The above associates are accounted for using the equity method.

           (ii)       Except for Banque Française Commerciale Ocean Indien and Credit Guarantee Co Ltd which are unquoted, the other associates are 

quoted and held through a subsidiary company.
 

            * The effective percentage of the associates reflects the holding of Fincorp Investment Ltd and MCB Group Limited.  

GROUP GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

Group share of net assets 6,496.7  6,429.1  5,903.1 

Goodwill 56.9  56.9  56.9 

Subordinated loans to associate 701.0 737.3 726.1

7,254.6 7,223.3 6,686.1
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8. Investments in Associates (Cont’d)

(b)  Summarised financial information in respect of Banque Française Commerciale Ocean Indien which is 

 material to the entity : 

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

(i)  Summarised statement of financial position:

             Current assets 9,587.0  7,607.9  5,032.4 

             Non current assets 56,281.1  57,307.3  56,521.8 

             Current liabilities 19,530.8  18,817.0  19,488.6 

             Non current liabilities 40,521.2  40,500.1  37,187.8 

(ii)  Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

             Revenue 4,259.0  4,430.1  4,386.0 

             Dividend received 95.8  100.4  -   

             Profit 691.5  825.1  473.2 

             Other comprehensive income (271.7)  106.5  164.1 
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8. Investments in Associates (Cont’d)

(c)   Reconciliation of summarised financial information
            Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount recognised in the financial statements:

 Opening 
net assets Profit 

Other
Comprehensive

Income Dividend
Closing

net assets
Ownership
 Interest 

Interest in 
Associates Goodwill

Subordinated
Loan

Carrying
Value

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M % RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

2015

Banque Française Commerciale  

Ocean Indien  5,598.1 691.5 (271.7) (201.8) 5,816.1 49.99% 2,907.5 56.9 701.0 3,665.4

2014

Banque Française Commerciale  

Ocean Indien  4,877.8  825.1 106.5 (211.3) 5,598.1 49.99% 2,798.6 56.9 737.3 3,592.8

PROFORMA

2013  

Banque Française Commerciale  

Ocean Indien 4,240.5 473.2 164.1 - 4,877.8 49.99% 2,438.2 56.9 726.1 3,221.2

(d)  Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

Carrying amount of interests 3,589.2  3,630.5  3,464.9 

Share of profits 29.1  127.7  20.7 

Share of other comprehensive (expense)/income (44.7)  67.4  117.0 

AT COST

COMPANY

2015 2014

RS’M RS'M

At 1st July 2014 15.6 -

Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement (Note 37) -  12.0 

Additions 5.0  3.6 

At 30th June 2015 20.6  15.6 
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9. Investments in Subsidiaries

(a)  The Group has the following subsidiaries:

 Proportion of Proportion of

Cost of

Investment

Company

 ownership ownership

interests held interests held

Effective
by non-

controlling Effective
by non-

controlling

 Country of  Stated Holding interests Holding interests

incorporation/ Principal  capital 2015 2015 2014 2014 2015 2014

operation activities RS’M % % % % RS’M RS’M

BANKING

Direct

MCB Investment Holding Ltd Mauritius Activities of holding   

companies, without managing 6,879.6 100.00 - 100.00 - 6,879.6  2,379.6

Indirect

The Mauritius Commercial

    Bank Limited  Mauritius Banking & Financial services 6,879.6 100.00 - 100.00 - - -

MCB Seychelles Ltd  Seychelles Banking & Financial services 37.9 100.00 - 100.00 - - -

MCB Madagascar SA  Madagascar Banking & Financial services  130.1 85.00 15.00 85.00 15.00 - -

MCB Moçambique SA  Mozambique Banking & Financial services 127.7 95.00 5.00 95.00 5.00 - -

MCB (Maldives) Private Ltd
 Republic of 

Maldives 
Banking & Financial services 352.6 100.00 - 100.00 - - -

NON-BANKING FINANCIAL

Direct

MCB Equity Fund Ltd  Mauritius  Private Equity Fund  2,084.6 100.00 - 100.00 - 2,084.6  2,084.6 

MCB Capital Markets Ltd  Mauritius  Investment Holding Company  75.0 96.06 3.94 96.01 3.99 73.0  72.9 

MCB Factors Ltd  Mauritius  Factoring  50.0 100.00 - 100.00 - 50.0  50.0 

OTHER INVESTMENTS

Direct

International Card Processing 

    Services Ltd Mauritius
Providing card system facilities, card

 embossing and encoding services 100.0 80.00 20.00 80.00 20.00 80.0 80.0

Fincorp Investment Ltd Mauritius Investment Company 103.4 57.73 42.27 57.56 42.44 28.7 24.7

MCB Properties Ltd Mauritius 
Property ownership &

  development 14.6 100.00 - 100.00 - 14.6 14.6

Blue Penny Museum Mauritius Philatelic museum  1.0 97.88 2.12 97.88 2.12 1.0 1.0

MCB Consulting Services Ltd Mauritius
Consulting, advisory, support and

  maintenance services 24.6 100.00 - - - 21.5 -

9,233.0 4,707.4

           Except for Fincorp Investment Ltd which is quoted, the other above companies are unquoted.        
 

              The fair value of the Company’s interest in Fincorp Investment Ltd was Rs 1,211.2 million at 30th June 2015( 2014: Rs 1,195.8 million , 2013 : Rs 1,070.8 million).
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9. Investments in Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

COMPANY

2015 2014

RS’M RS’M

(b)     At 1st July 4,707.4 -

            Additions* 4,525.6 -

            Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement (note 37) - 2,379.6

            Acquired through dividend in specie (note 37) - 2,327.8

           At 30th June 9,233.0 4,707.4

            * Additions comprise of Rs 4.5 billion acquired through rights issue.   
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9. Investments in Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(c)  Details of Fincorp Investment Ltd which has non-controlling interests that are material to the entity.

Net Assets

 Profit attributable attributable

to non-controlling to non-controlling

interests interests

RS'M RS'M

GROUP

2015 29.1 1,587.2

PROFORMA GROUP

2014 68.2 1,595.6

2013 21.0 1,484.2

(d) Summarised financial information for Fincorp Investment Ltd which has material non-controlling interests.

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

(i)  Summarised statement of financial position: RS’M RS'M RS'M

             Current assets 576.8  414.5  435.1 

             Non current assets 7,950.5  7,688.5  7,302.1 

             Current liabilities 262.9  252.9  200.7 

             Non current liabilities 4,890.1  4,353.0  4,070.2 

(ii)  Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:
             Revenue 423.8  538.4  436.4 

             Profit 68.8  160.1  49.6 

             Other comprehensive income 19.8  133.3  124.7 

             Total comprehensive income 88.6  293.4  174.3 

             Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 19.7 13.2  11.0 

(iii)  Summarised statement of cash flows:
             Net cash flows from operating activities 42.1  (472.6)  356.1 

             Investing activities (265.3)  (42.6)  (379.6)

             Financing activities -  436.9  (26.2)

             Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (223.2)  (78.3)  (49.7)

             The summarised financial information above is the amount before intra-group eliminations.
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10. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

(a) Goodwill

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS'M RS'M RS'M

At 30th June /Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement (note 37)  52.8  52.8  52.8

(b) Other intangible assets

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS'M RS'M RS'M

Computer Software

Cost

At 1st July  2,903.3   - 2,499.3

Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement (note 37) - 2,767.9  -   

Additions 160.8 154.5 252.3

Scrap/Impairment (12.8) (14.3) (9.3)

Exchange adjustment 15.6 (4.8) (10.2)

At 30th June 3,066.9 2,903.3 2,732.1

Amortisation

At 1st July 2,044.9 - 1,575.3

Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement (note 37) - 1,988.5  -   

Scrap/Impairment (12.8) (14.3) (9.3)

Charge for the year 247.0 72.1 241.9

Exchange adjustment 0.2 (1.4) (0.8)

At 30th June 2,279.3 2,044.9 1,807.1

Net book value 787.6 858.4 925.0

TOTAL 840.4 911.2 977.8
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11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land Computer Furniture, Work

and and other fittings and in

buildings equipment vehicles progress Total

RS’M RS’M RS’M RS’M RS’M

GROUP

Deemed cost

At 2nd April 2014

Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement (note 37)  4,825.5  3,061.8  1,451.3  48.3  9,386.9 

Additions  24.6  43.0  32.6  38.7  138.9 

Disposals  (2.6)  (24.0)  (40.8)  -    (67.4)

Exchange adjustment  (2.7)  (2.1)  (2.8)  -    (7.6)

Transfer  -    9.8  12.2  (22.0)  -   

At 30th June 2014  4,844.8  3,088.5  1,452.5  65.0  9,450.8 

Additions  10.6  172.4  298.5  50.9  532.4 

Disposals  -    (71.3)  (153.2)  -    (224.5)

Exchange adjustment  22.6  8.8  (2.0)  -    29.4 

Transfer  (0.9)  81.3  10.0  (90.4)  -   

At 30th June 2015  4,877.1  3,279.7  1,605.8  25.5  9,788.1 

Accumulated  depreciation

At 2nd April 2014

Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement (note 37)  634.0  2,058.9  626.0  -    3,318.9 

Charge for the period  21.0  75.0  40.7  -    136.7 

Disposal adjustment  (0.6)  (20.3)  (25.8)  -    (46.7)

Exchange adjustment  (0.5)  (1.4)  (1.5)  -    (3.4)

At 30th June 2014  653.9  2,112.2  639.4  -    3,405.5 

Charge for the year  79.7  276.3  156.7  -    512.7 

Disposal adjustment  -    (69.4)  (100.2)  -    (169.6)

Exchange adjustment  6.1  3.0  (3.1)  -    6.0 

At 30th June 2015  739.7  2,322.1  692.8  -    3,754.6 

Net book values

At 30th June 2015  4,137.4  957.6  913.0  25.5  6,033.5 

At 30th June 2014  4,190.9  976.3  813.1  65.0  6,045.3 
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11. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

Assets under Land Computer Furniture, Work

finance and and other fittings and in

leases buildings equipment vehicles progress Total

RS’M RS’M RS’M RS’M RS’M RS’M

PROFORMA GROUP

At 1st July 2012  0.6  4,644.6  2,936.2  1,465.6  37.5  9,084.5 

Additions  -    149.5  106.2  293.9  146.9  696.5 

Disposals  -    (26.0)  (153.0)  (311.4)  -    (490.4)

Exchange adjustment  -    34.5  9.8  5.1  -    49.4 

Transfer  -    22.2  94.1  33.3  (149.7)  (0.1)

At 30th June 2013  0.6  4,824.8  2,993.3  1,486.5  34.7  9,339.9 

Additions  -    81.9  124.2  142.4  74.9  423.4 

Disposals  -    (42.6)  (44.7)  (179.9)  -    (267.2)

Exchange adjustment  -    (19.3)  (14.4)  (11.6)  -    (45.3)

Transfer  (0.6)  -    30.1  15.1  (44.6)  -   

At 30th June 2014  -    4,844.8  3,088.5  1,452.5  65.0  9,450.8 

Accumulated  depreciation

At 1st July 2012  0.6  499.1  1,652.4  616.3  -    2,768.4 

Charge for the year  -    78.6  315.6  161.6  -    555.8 

Disposal adjustment  -    (3.4)  (137.6)  (166.2)  -    (307.2)

Exchange adjustment  -    8.7  1.2  0.2  -    10.1 

At 30th June 2013  0.6  583.0  1,831.6  611.9  -    3,027.1 

Charge for the year  -    79.2  328.0  153.1  -    560.3 

Disposal adjustment  -    (4.3)  (39.4)  (120.5)  -    (164.2)

Transfer  (0.6)  -    0.6  -    -    -   

Exchange adjustment  -    (4.0)  (8.6)  (5.1)  -    (17.7)

At 30th June 2014  -    653.9  2,112.2  639.4  -    3,405.5 

Net book values

At 30th June 2014  -    4,190.9  976.3  813.1  65.0  6,045.3 

At 30th June 2013  -    4,241.8  1,161.7  874.6  34.7  6,312.8 

COMPANY

Additions  -    -    -    4.0  -    4.0 

At 30th June 2015  -    -    -    4.0  -    4.0 

Accumulated  depreciation

Charge for the year  -    -    -    0.8  -    0.8 

At 30th June 2015  -    -    -    0.8  -    0.8 

Net book values at 30th June 2015  -    -    -    3.2  -    3.2
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12. Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities)

Balance as at 

1st July  

Exchange 

adjustments

 Recognised in 

Statements of 

profit or loss

 Recognised in 

Statements of profit 

or loss and other 

comprehensive 

income

 Balance as at 

30th June

 RS’M  RS’M  RS’M  RS’M  RS’M 

GROUP

The movement on the deferred income tax account

is as follows :-

Year ended 30th June 2015

Deferred tax assets :

Provisions and post retirement benefits  254.1  -    (0.7)  (16.8)  236.6 

Provision for credit impairment  132.9  1.8  86.5  -    221.2 

Tax losses carried forward  15.7  -    (13.4)  -    2.3 

Accelerated tax depreciation  (177.0)  5.3  (1.4)  -    (173.1)

 225.7  7.1  71.0  (16.8)  287.0 

Deferred tax liabilities :

Accelerated tax depreciation  (59.1)  (0.2)  9.1  -    (50.2)

 166.6  6.9  80.1  (16.8)  236.8 

PROFORMA GROUP

Year ended 30th June 2014

Deferred tax assets :

Provisions and post retirement benefits  208.4  -    5.2  40.5  254.1 

Provision for credit impairment  5.9  -    127.0  -    132.9 

Tax losses carried forward  17.0  -    (1.3)  -    15.7 

Accelerated tax depreciation  (7.4)  0.6  (170.2)  -    (177.0)

 223.9  0.6  (39.3)  40.5  225.7 

Deferred tax liabilities :

Provision for credit impairment  94.7  -    (94.7)  -    -   

Accelerated tax depreciation  (231.4)  0.6  171.7  -    (59.1)

 (136.7)  0.6  77.0  -    (59.1)

 87.2  1.2  37.7  40.5  166.6 
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Balance as at 

1st July  

Exchange 

adjustments

 Recognised in 

Statements of 

profit or loss

 Recognised in 

Statements of profit 

or loss and other 

comprehensive 

income

 Balance as at 

30th June

 RS’M  RS’M  RS’M  RS’M  RS’M 

Year ended 30th June 2013

Deferred tax assets :

Provisions and post retirement benefits  180.3  -    4.3  23.8  208.4 

Provision for credit impairment  5.8  -    0.1  -    5.9 

Tax losses carried forward  20.0  -    (3.0)  -    17.0 

Accelerated tax depreciation  (10.9)  (3.0)  6.5  -    (7.4)

 195.2  (3.0)  7.9  23.8  223.9 

Deferred tax liabilities :

Provision for credit impairment  78.4  -    16.3  -    94.7 

Accelerated tax depreciation  (211.7)  0.3  (20.0)  -    (231.4)

 (133.3)  0.3  (3.7)  -    (136.7)

 61.9  (2.7)  4.2  23.8  87.2 

COMPANY

Year ended 30th June 2015

Deferred tax liabilities :

Accelerated tax depreciation  -    -    (0.1)  -    (0.1)

12. Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) (Cont’d)
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13. Other Assets

14. Deposits

PROFORMA

GROUP GROUP COMPANY

2015 2014 2013 2015 2014

RS’M RS’M RS’M RS’M RS’M

Mandatory balances with Central Banks  14,270.1  12,356.6  9,882.3  -    -   

Accrued interest receivable  1,365.6  1,117.8  1,089.8  -    -   

Prepayments & other receivables  987.5  785.2  574.1  1,089.2  858.9 

Receivable from Mauritius Union Assurance Co Ltd  25.0  50.0  75.0  -    -   

Credit Card Clearing  245.8  364.2  171.3  -    -   

Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of debts  57.5  55.8  51.4  -    -   

Margin deposit under Credit Support Annex  -    431.5  461.3  -    -   

Impersonal and other accounts  1,072.4  724.5  544.3  -    -   

 18,023.9  15,885.6  12,849.5  1,089.2  858.9 

PROFORMA

GROUP GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS’M RS’M

(a) Deposits from banks

Other deposits  2,156.5  1,058.8  793.6 

Money market deposits with remaining term to maturity:

   Up to 3 months  248.5  591.3  912.1 

   Over 6 months and up to 1 year  -    9.5  31.5 

 248.5  600.8  943.6 

 2,405.0  1,659.6  1,737.2 
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PROFORMA

GROUP GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS’M RS’M

(b) Deposits from customers

(i) Retail customers

Demand deposits  21,943.1  16,824.6  12,894.8 

Savings deposits  88,225.8  75,999.7  69,704.3 

Time deposits with remaining term to maturity:

     Up to 3 months  4,055.9  3,640.8  4,415.7 

   Over 3 months and up to 6 months  2,234.9  3,013.8  2,742.1 

   Over 6 months and up to 1 year  5,086.2  4,776.3  5,206.7 

   Over 1 year and up to 5 years  11,548.8  11,169.9  11,138.2 

   Over 5 years  56.5  31.9  4.9 

 22,982.3  22,632.7  23,507.6 

 133,151.2  115,457.0  106,106.7 

(ii) Corporate customers

Demand deposits  61,661.6  47,007.9  36,400.3 

Savings deposits  6,847.0  6,916.7  6,487.1 

Time deposits with remaining term to maturity:

   Up to 3 months  5,846.5  5,211.1  7,034.6 

   Over 3 months and up to 6 months  2,210.9  2,098.3  1,390.8 

   Over 6 months and up to 1 year  2,018.1  1,892.4  1,653.0 

   Over 1 year and up to 5 years  1,456.5  2,044.5  1,766.6 

   Over 5 years  2,754.8  2,896.8  2,838.2 

 14,286.8  14,143.1  14,683.2 

 82,795.4  68,067.7  57,570.6 

(iii) Government

Demand deposits 492.1 410.0 282.1

Savings deposits 28.6 19.1 84.4

Time deposits with remaining term to maturity:

     Up to 3 months 688.6 263.9 235.5

   Over 3 months and up to 6 months 108.7 110.6 21.7

   Over 6 months and up to 1 year 11.8 99.6 74.8

   Over 1 year and up to 5 years - - 0.2

809.1 474.1 332.2

1,329.8 903.2 698.7

217,276.4 184,427.9 164,376.0

14. Deposits (Cont’d)
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15. Other Borrowed Funds

(a) Other borrowed funds comprise the following:

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

Borrowings from banks:

in Mauritius 765.6  678.0  555.5 

abroad 7,004.4  5,799.2  10,976.6 

Debt securities* -  1,857.1  1,860.6 

Other 1,711.5  544.9  -   

9,481.5  8,879.2  13,392.7 

Other borrowed funds include borrowings with original maturity

   of less than 3 months as shown in note 4 1,241.1  1,318.5  6,951.3 

The carrying amounts of other borrowed funds are not materially different from their fair value.

* The debt securities consist of senior unsecured floating rate notes as follows:

ZAR 200 million maturing in January 2015 

at an average interest rate of 6.6% - 571.4 -

ZAR 100 million maturing in December 2014

at an average interest rate of 6.8% - 285.7 310.1

ZAR 350 million maturing in December 2014

at an average interest rate of 7.4% - 1,000.0 1,085.4

ZAR 150 million maturing in December 2013

at an average interest rate of 6.1% - - 465.1

- 1,857.1 1,860.6

(b) Remaining term to maturity:

On demand or within a period not exceeding 1 year 2,225.3  3,024.7  7,408.7 

Within a period of more than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years 231.2  1,416.1  2,112.2 

Within a period of more than 2 years but not exceeding 3 years 214.5  119.3  31.2 

Within a period of more than 3 years 6,810.5  4,319.1  3,840.6 

9,481.5  8,879.2  13,392.7 
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16. Subordinated Liabilities

(a)   Subordinated liabilities comprise the following:
GROUP COMPANY

2015 2014 2015 2014

RS’M RS'M RS’M RS’M

Rs4.5 billion floating rate subordinated note maturing in August 2023

  at an average interest rate of 6%  (Level 1)                                                               (i) 4,500.0 4,500.0 4,500.0 -

USD30M Subordinated debt maturing in August 2023

  at an average interest rate of 3.5 %  (Level 3)                                                           (ii) 1,055.7 909.1 - -

5,555.7 5,409.1 4,500.0 -

 The carrying amounts of the subordinated liabilities are not materially different from their fair values.    

 (i)   As part of its capital-raising plans, The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited had made an offer to the public for the issue of Rs3 billion 

worth of floating rate subordinated notes due in 2023, with an option to issue up to Rs4.5 billion, in case of oversubscription. The offer 

closed on 19th July 2013 and applications were received for a total of Rs6.3 billion from which The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited  

decided to retain the maximum amount of Rs4.5 billion.

      In order to strengthen the capital base of The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited in anticipation of future business growth and of higher 

regulatory requirements set out in Basel III,  The Board of Directors of The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited and MCB Group Limited 

have obtained the approval of the Bank of Mauritius under Section 32A of the Banking Act to transfer the assets and liabilities attached to 

the ultimate holding company, MCB Group Limited . The transfer was effected on 25th June 2015. As such, The Mauritius Commercial Bank 

Limited have been replaced by MCB Group Limited as the issuer of the Notes and the corresponding liabilities (i.e coupon payments and 

principal repayment at maturity) would be fully assumed by MCB Group Limited in exchange of a cash receipt of MUR 4.5 billion. Apart 

from the change in issuer, the existing terms and conditions of the Notes remained unchanged.

       These notes are quoted on the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd and are presently available to individual and insti-

tutional investors for secondary trading.   

 (ii)   The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited obtained a USD30M 10-year subordinated debt from the African Development Bank. This 

facility forms part of a wider package of USD150M granted by the latter to allow The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited to increase 

its foreign currency lending to clients operating in the region and in mainland Africa. 
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17. Post Employee Benefits Liabilities

 Amounts recognised in the financial statements at end of year

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

Reconciliation of net defined benefit liability

Opening balance/Acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement 1,151.0  846.2  658.8 

Amount recognised in statements of profit or loss 309.5  265.0  240.8 

Amount recognised in statements of profit or loss  and other comprehensive income (112.0)  269.9  158.4 

Less employer contributions (314.3)  (230.1)  (211.8)

Liability as shown in note 18 1,034.2  1,151.0  846.2 

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Opening balance 4,703.3  4,326.6  3,824.0 

Interest income 379.9  347.9  384.6 

Employer contributions 314.3  230.1  211.8 

Benefits paid (220.5)  (185.1)  (167.6)

Return on plan assets excluding interest income 120.9  (16.2)  73.8 

Closing balance 5,297.9  4,703.3  4,326.6 

Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation

Opening balance 5,854.3  5,172.8  4,482.8 

Current service cost 229.7  206.3  185.3 

Interest expense 459.7  406.6  440.1 

Other benefits paid (220.5)  (185.1)  (167.6)

Liability experience loss/(gain) 20.8  (31.3)  -   

Liability gain due to change in demographic assumptions -  -    (247.0)

Liability (gain)/loss due to change in financial assumptions (11.9)  285.0  479.2 

Closing balance 6,332.1  5,854.3  5,172.8 

Components of amount recognised in statements of profit or loss

Current service cost 229.7  206.3  185.3 

Net interest on net defined benefit liability 79.8  58.7  55.5 

Total 309.5  265.0  240.8 

Components of amount recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Return on plan assets (above)/below interest income (120.9)  16.2  (73.8)

Liability experience loss/(gain) 20.8  (31.3)  -   

Liability gain due to change in demographic assumptions -  -    (247.0)

Liability (gain)/loss due to change in financial assumptions (11.9)  285.0  479.2 

Total (112.0)  269.9  158.4 
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17. Post Employee Benefits Liabilities (Cont’d)

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

Allocation of plan assets at end of period % % %

Equity - Local quoted 22 22 20

Equity - Local unquoted 2 2 2
Debt - Overseas quoted 9 11 13
Debt - Local quoted 4 3 0

Debt - Local unquoted 3 4 8

Property - Local 4 4 4

Investment funds 39 37 35

Cash and other 17 17 18

Total 100 100 100

Allocation of plan assets at end of period % % %

Reporting entity’s own transferable financial instruments 6 5 5

Property occupied by reporting entity 2 3 3

Other assets used by reporting entity 11 14 17

Principal assumptions used at end of period

Discount rate 7.0% 8.0% 8.0%

Rate of salary increases 5.0% 6.5% 6.5%

Rate of pension increases 4.5% 5.5% 4.5%

Average retirement age (ARA) 62 62 62

Average life expectancy for:

  Male at ARA 18.0 years 18.0 years 18.0 years

  Female at ARA 22.5 years 22.5 years 22.5 years

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligation at end of period

Increase due to 1% decrease in discount rate 1,219.2  1,152.7 N/A

Decrease due to 1% increase in discount rate 942.7  830.9 N/A

  The above sensitivity analysis has been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligation at end of period after increasing or 

decreasing the discount rate while leaving all other assumptions unchanged. Any similar variation in the other assumptions would have shown 

smaller variations in the defined benefit obligation. It has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on net defined 

benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.

  The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 

assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

 There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing that sensitivity analysis from prior years.
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17. Post Employee Benefits Liabilities (Cont’d)
 

  The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited sponsors a defined benefit pension plan for its staff which is self-administered and funded separately 

from the bank . The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited has recognized a net defined benefit liability of Rs 1,034,237,000

 as at 30th June 2015 for the plan (2014 : Rs 1,151,026,000).

  The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited  operates a final salary defined benefit pension plan for its employees.

  The plan exposes the bank to normal risks associated with defined benefit pension plans such as investment, interest ,longevity and salary risks.

  Investment risk: The plan liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to government bond yields; if the return on 

plan assets is below this rate , it will create a plan deficit and if it is higher, it will create a plan surplus.

  Interest risk: A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this may be partially offset by an increase in the 

return on the plan’s debt investments and a decrease in inflationary pressures on salary and pension increases.

  Longevity risk: The plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate for the mortality of plan participants both during and after 

their employment . An increase in life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan liability.

 

  Salary risk: The plan liability is calculated by reference to the future projected salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary 

of the plan participants above the assumed rate will increase the plan liability whereas an increase below the assumed rate will decrease the 

liability.

 There has been no plan amendment, curtailment or settlement during the year.

 Future cash flows

 The funding policy is to pay contributions to an external legal entity at the rate recommended by the entity’s actuaries

 Expected employer contribution for the next year (Rs M)         239.5

 Weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation                    17 years

 Defined contribution scheme 

  As from 1st July 2015, The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited has introduced a Defined Contribution Cash Balanced scheme for its employees.

  Consequently , all employees joining the bank as from that date are automatically enrolled in the new scheme. Existing employees have the 

choice of either remaining in the Defined Benefit Scheme or to join the new scheme.

 Note: Employee benefits obligations have been provided for based on the report from Aon Hewitt Ltd., Actuaries and Consultants.
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18. Other Liabilities

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP
COMPANY

2015 2014 2013 2015 2014

RS’M RS'M RS'M RS’M RS'M

Accrued interest payable 874.5  1,144.9  1,089.7 4.4  -   

Post employee benefits liability (note 17) 1,034.2  1,151.0  846.2 -  -   

MCB Superannuation Fund 664.3  705.2  746.7 -  -   

Proposed dividend 892.7  797.2  796.7 892.7  797.2 

Impersonal & other accounts 3,250.7  2,896.3  2,468.0 37.8  16.6 

6,716.4  6,694.6  5,947.3 934.9  813.8 

19. Stated Capital And Reserves

Share Capital
Number

of shares

At 2nd April 2014  

Issue of shares through the Scheme of Arrangement 237,960,247

Issue of shares following the exercise of Group Employee Share Options Scheme 17,014

At 30th June 2014 237,977,261

Issue of shares following the exercise of Group Employee Share Options Scheme 68,818

At 30th June 2015 238,046,079

 The shares have no par value and rank ‘pari passu’ in all respect with the existing ordinary shares of the company.

Reserves

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investment securities until the securities are derecognised or

impaired.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve represents all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the results and financial position of foreign operations. 

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents accumulated transfers from retained earnings in accordance with relevant local banking legislations. These reserves are not

distributable.

General banking reserve 

The Group makes an appropriation to a General banking reserve for unforeseen risks and future losses. 
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20. Contigent Liabilities

GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

2015 2014 2013

RS’M RS'M RS'M

(a) Instruments
Acceptances on account of customers 275.3  92.5  203.6 

Guarantees on account of customers 16,654.8  17,261.7  17,586.5 

Letters of credit and other obligations on account of customers 16,878.9  30,774.9  19,253.1 

Other contingent items 11,888.1  15,953.8  10,985.2 

45,697.1  64,082.9  48,028.4 

(b) Commitments
Loans and other facilities, including undrawn credit facilities 4,633.0 4,660.7 5,237.8

(c) Tax assessments* 797.2 272.1 121.6

(d) Other
Inward bills held for collection 490.3  491.5  524.8 

Outward bills sent for collection 803.6  1,043.0  1,177.6 

1,293.9  1,534.5  1,702.4 

52,421.2  70,550.2  55,090.2 

*During the period December 2011 to June 2015, the subsidiary company (The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited) received income tax assessments 

relating to the years ended 30th June 2007, 30th June 2008 ,30th June 2009, 30th June 2010, 30th June 2011 and 30th June 2012 respectively against which 

The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited has objected. 

In May 2012, October 2012 and December 2014, The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited received assessments under the Value Added Tax Act for the 

periods April 2006 to December 2009, January 2010 to January 2011 and February 2011 to December 2013 respectively against which The Mauritius 

Commercial Bank Limited has also objected.

The above are pending in front of the Assessment Review Committee. The maximum liability that could arise from these assessments amounts to 

Rs 797.2 million, including penalties and interests.  
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21. Interest Income

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Loans to and placements with banks  227.9  198.4  221.4  51.9  -   
Loans and advances to customers  11,150.7  10,703.1  10,667.2  2,531.6  -   
Held to maturity investments  1,419.8  1,040.3  719.6  321.5  -   
Available-for-sale investments  35.3  0.1  -    -    -   
Other  10.6  11.8  8.1  1.7  -   

 12,844.3  11,953.7  11,616.3  2,906.7  -   

22. Interest Expense

Deposits from banks  6.3  6.2  2.2  1.4  -   
Deposits from customers  4,253.4  4,216.9  4,354.7  1,047.6  -   
Subordinated liabilities  304.9  262.7  -    77.8  4.4 
Other borrowed funds  125.5  211.6  212.3  38.1  -   

 4,690.1  4,697.4  4,569.2  1,164.9  4.4 

23. Fee and Commission Income

Retail banking fees  662.7  442.0  251.8  115.6  -   
Corporate banking fees  581.0  486.6  415.3  214.4  -   
Guarantee fees  223.2  226.3  247.4  57.7  -   
Interbank transaction fees  51.5  52.2  42.5  13.7  -   
Brokerage  22.6  33.6  14.1  8.4  -   
Asset management fees  112.5  99.9  87.3  26.7  -   
Rental income  110.8  117.1  137.4  33.1  -   
Cards and other related fees  1,391.9  1,276.3  1,082.9  331.6  -   
Trade finance fees  666.8  652.0  744.3  183.8  -   
Others  325.1  240.6  170.6  69.9  -   

 4,148.1  3,626.6  3,193.6  1,054.9  -   

24. Fee and Commission Expense

Interbank transaction fees  31.9  14.2  11.2  5.4  -   
Cards and other related fees  664.9  624.6  511.7  157.9  -   
Others  86.9  99.9  41.3  15.9  0.1 

 783.7  738.7  564.2  179.2  0.1 
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25. Net Gain/(Loss) from Financial Instruments 
Carried at Fair Value

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Net gain from derivatives  78.8  79.9  206.1  3.2  -   
Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss  69.0  (27.2)  0.2  (27.2)  -   

 147.8  52.7  206.3  (24.0)  -   

26. Dividend Income
GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended

30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M
Cash
Income from quoted investments:

  Subsidiary  -    -    -    -    35.8  -   
  Others  41.4  27.1  22.2  13.1  0.1  -   
Income from unquoted investments:
  Subsidiary  -    -    -    -    1,852.0  858.5 
  Others  44.8  34.0  14.9  3.6  -    -   

 86.2  61.1  37.1  16.7  1,887.9  858.5 
In specie
Income from unquoted investments:
  Subsidiaries  -    -    -    -    -    2,327.8 
  Associate  -    -    -    -    -    12.0 

 -    -    -    -    -    2,339.8 
 86.2  61.1  37.1  16.7  1,887.9  3,198.3 
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27. Non-Interest Expense

(a) Salaries and human resource development
GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Wages and salaries  2,246.5  1,944.0  1,833.9  445.9  51.8  9.6 
Compulsory social security obligations  60.0  52.6  54.4  11.6  -    -   
Equity settled share-based payments  1.5  6.4  1.9  2.2  -    -   
Other personnel expenses  466.9  491.5  463.8  104.0  -    -   

 2,774.9  2,494.5  2,354.0  563.7  51.8  9.6 

Number of employees  3,135  3,011  2,955  3,011  -    -   

(b) Other non-interest expense

Software licensing and other information technology cost  258.5  245.9  218.1  64.1  -    -   
Others  1,423.0  1,458.3  1,292.3  363.1  22.6  3.5 

 1,681.5  1,704.2  1,510.4  427.2  22.6  3.5 

(c) Share-based payments

As part of the scheme of arrangement, the Group proposed to all employees a Group Employee Share Option Scheme (GESOS) in replacement of the 

previous Employee Share Option Scheme(ESOS). During FY 2014, all outstanding options under ESOS were cancelled and replaced by options to subscribe 

for shares in MCB Group Limited under GESOS.

The Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5 million shares to the employees. In October 2014, a further offer of 507,223 options was made on 

similar terms.

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP
2015 2014 2013

Weighted avg Number of Weighted avg Number of Weighted avg Number of
exercise price options exercise price options exercise price options

RS RS RS
Outstanding and exercisable at 1st July  176.47  399,032  149.93  462,426  154.88  530,483 
Expired during the year  176.29  (373,659)  149.96  (434,588)  154.97  (519,141)
Granted during the year  193.85  507,223  177.52  540,456  151.36  615,428 
Exercised under ESOS  174.66  (152,248)  155.36  (164,344)
Transferred to GESOS  416,046 
Exercised during the year/period under GESOS  185.88  (68,818)  186.11  (17,014)
Outstanding and exercisable at 30th June  463,778  399,032  462,426 

The options outstanding at 30th June 2015 under GESOS have an exercise price in the range of Rs 193.25 to Rs 216.25 and a weighted average contractual 

life of  3½ months (under GESOS-2014 & ESOS-2013: 3½ months).

The weighted average share price at the date the share options were exercised under GESOS during F/Y 14/15 was Rs 203.09 (2014:Rs 215, under

ESOS-2013:Rs 180.60).    

The fair value of services in return for share options granted is based on the fair value of the share options granted measured by the average market price 

of the share of the last three months, as may be adjusted by the Board of Directors of MCB Group Limited.  The fair value at measurement date is Rs 

210.75(2014:Rs 194.50, under ESOS-2013: Rs 164).
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GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP
Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended

30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Allowance for credit impairment 1,126.8 1,989.0 1,081.0 1,018.8 

Impairment of available-for-sale 36.3 50.1 -   -   

1,163.1 2,039.1 1,081.0 1,018.8 

(a) Allowance for credit impairment
Provision for bad and doubtful debts:

 Loans to and placements with banks  -    7.4  2.0  -   

Loans and advances to customers  1,116.9  2,112.1  1,071.7  943.6 

Bad debts written off for which no provisions were made  89.3  89.7  94.1  89.7 

Provision released during the year:

Loans to and placements with banks  (0.8)  -    -    -   

Loans and advances to customers  (51.3)  (186.9)  (57.4)  (3.0)

Recoveries of advances written off  (27.3)  (33.3)  (29.4)  (11.5)

 1,126.8  1,989.0  1,081.0  1,018.8 
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29. Income Tax Expense

(a)

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Income tax based on the adjusted profits 790.3  669.4  664.6  162.1  -    -   
Deferred tax (80.1)  (37.7)  (4.2)  (28.3)  0.1  -   
Special levy on banks 362.6  332.5  185.6  90.8  -    -   
Corporate social responsibility contribution 66.9  63.0  59.1  -    -    -   
(Over)/Underprovision in previous years (10.6)  5.4  12.8  -    -    -   
Charge for the year/period  1,129.1  1,032.6  917.9  224.6  0.1  -   

The tax on the profits differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

Profit before tax  6,900.3  5,485.7  5,296.8  1,466.5  1,808.2  3,185.2 
Less share of profit of associates  (374.8)  (540.2)  (257.3)  (156.9)  -    -   

 6,525.5  4,945.5  5,039.5  1,309.6  1,808.2  3,185.2 
Tax calculated at a rate of 15%  978.8  741.8  755.9  196.4  271.2  477.8 
Effect of different tax rates  53.3  40.5  61.1  (5.4)  -    -   
Impact of:
  Income not subject to tax  (162.1)  (68.2)  (26.1)  (37.1)  (283.3)  (479.7)
  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  168.0  155.4  105.4  82.9  1.1  1.4 
Tax credits  (327.8)  (237.8)  (235.9)  (103.0)  -    -   
Special levy on banks  362.6  332.5  185.6  90.8  -    -   
Corporate social responsibility contribution  66.9  63.0  59.1  -    -    -   
Deferred tax asset not recognised  -    -    -    -    11.1  0.5 
(Over)/Under provision in previous years  (10.6)  5.4  12.8  -    -    -   
Tax charge  1,129.1  1,032.6  917.9  224.6  0.1  -   

(b)
GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Remeasurement of defined benefits pension plan (112.0) 269.9 158.4 269.9 
Deferred tax 16.8 (40.5) (23.8) (40.5)

(95.2) 229.4 134.6 229.4 

30. Dividend

COMPANY

2015 2014
RS'M RS'M

737.8  -   
Paid on 22nd December 2014 at Rs 3.10 per share 892.7 797.2 
Paid on 31st July 2015 at Rs 3.75 per share( FY 2014: Rs 3.35 per share) 1,630.5 797.2 
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31. Earnings Per Share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of   
  ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the weighted average number of ordinary shares purchased by the Group and held as treasury shares.   

  
GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent 5,722.0 4,365.0 4,344.7 1,217.7 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (thousands) 238,014 237,977 237,718 237,977 

Basic earnings per share (Rs) 24.04 18.34 18.28 5.12 

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of       
  ordinary shares outstanding during the year after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  

The Company has only one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares which is share options.

For share options, the proceeds from these instruments shall be regarded as having been received from the issue of ordinary shares at the average
  market price of ordinary shares during the period.  The difference between the number of ordinary shares issued and the number of ordinary shares
  that would have been issued at the average market price of ordinary shares during the period shall be treated as an issue of ordinary shares
  for no consideration.

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP
Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended
30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent  5,722.0  4,365.0  4,344.7  1,217.7 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares basic (thousands)  238,014  237,977  237,718  237,977 

Effect of share options in issue (thousands)  49  69  90  69 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares diluted (thousands) at year end  238,063  238,046  237,808  238,046 

Diluted earnings per share (Rs)  24.04  18.34  18.27  5.12 
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32. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments GROUP
PROFORMA 

GROUP

Year ended

 30th June

2015

RS’M

Year ended

 30th June

2014

RS’M

Year ended

 30th June

2013

RS’M

Expenditure contracted for but not incurred  117.6  79.8  77.1 

Expenditure approved by the Board but not contracted for  304.4  25.9  22.7 

(b) Securities pledged

The Group has pledged Government of Mauritius bonds as collateral for the purpose of overnight facility from the Bank of Mauritius:

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP

2015 2014 2013
RS'M RS'M RS'M

Government of Mauritius bonds  2,941.3  2,442.7 2,064.8

33. Net Cash Flows from Trading Activities

GROUP  PROFORMA GROUP GROUP COMPANY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended
 30th June 30th June 30th June  30th June  30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014 2015 2014
RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Operating profit  6,525.5  4,945.5  5,039.5  1,309.6  1,808.2  3,185.2 

Increase in interest receivable and other assets  (2,032.8)  (3,179.8)  (1,281.5)  (1,256.9)  (230.3)  (858.9)

Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities  12.6  473.5  300.3  (739.9)  25.6  13.0 

Dividend in specie  -    -    -    -    -    (2,339.8)

Net (increase)/decrease in derivatives  (523.0)  (32.9)  136.9  39.5  -    -   

(Increase)/Decrease in investment securities at fair value

  through profit or loss  (0.6)  0.1  78.3  -    -    -   

Group employee share option expenses  -    3.9  1.6  -    -    -   

(Release)/Additional provision for employee benefits  (4.8)  34.9  29.0  34.9  -    -   

Charge for credit impairment  1,116.9  2,119.5  1,073.7  943.6  -    -   

Release of provision for credit impairment  (52.1)  (186.9)  (57.4)  (3.0)  -    -   

Exchange loss/(profit)  109.6  (158.4)  (401.9)  15.1  -    -   

Depreciation  512.7  560.3  555.8  136.7  0.8  -   

Amortisation of intangible assets  247.0  266.3  241.9  72.1  -    -   

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (6.0)  (41.5)  (38.4)  (3.7)  -    -   

Impairment of available-for-sale investments  36.3  50.1  -    -    -    -   

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investments  (97.3)  (611.3)  (23.9)  (597.6)  -    -   

Gain on a bargain purchase  (4.5)  -    -    -    -    -   

 5,839.5  4,243.3  5,653.9  (49.6)  1,604.3  (0.5)
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34. Net Cash Flows from Other Operating Activities

GROUP PROFORMA GROUP GROUP

Year ended Year ended Year ended Period ended

30th June 30th June 30th June 30th June

2015 2014 2013 2014

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Net increase in deposits  32,959.9  20,742.5  14,504.9  2,551.4 

Net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances  (16,861.9)  (7,016.0)  (13,848.0)  1,358.9 

Increase in held to maturity investment securities  (12,098.2)  (12,833.6)  (5,714.9)  (3,754.1)

Net increase/(decrease) in other borrowed funds  2,537.7  1,122.2  2,780.6  (1,011.7)

 6,537.5  2,015.1  (2,277.4)  (855.5)
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35. Operating Segments

Operating segments are reported in accordance with the internal reporting provided to the Board, which is responsible for allocating capital and resources to 

the reportable segments and assessing their performance.  All operating segments used by the Group meet the definition of a reportable segment under IFRS 8.
 

 Year ended 30th June 2015

Non-Banking Other

GROUP Banking Financial Investments Eliminations

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Income:

External gross income  18,688.0  18,028.2  1,032.2  298.4  (670.8)

Expenses  (10,999.4)  (10,483.3)  (625.5)  (308.2)  417.6 

Operating profit before impairment  7,688.6  7,544.9  406.7  (9.8)  (253.2)

Net impairment of financial assets  (1,163.1)  (1,156.7)  (6.4)  -    -   

Operating profit  6,525.5  6,388.2  400.3  (9.8)  (253.2)

Share of profit of associates  374.8  345.7  0.7  28.4  -   

Profit before tax  6,900.3  6,733.9  401.0  18.6  (253.2)

Income tax expense  (1,129.1)

Profit for the year  5,771.2 

Other segment items:

Segment assets  271,630.8  271,329.9  8,738.3  765.8  (9,203.2)

Investments in associates  7,254.6  3,665.4  15.1  3,590.0  (15.9)

Goodwill and other intangible assets  840.4 

Deferred tax assets  287.0 

Total assets  280,012.8 

Segment liabilities  235,292.3  234,485.3  7,124.5  1,167.0  (7,484.5)

Unallocated liabilities  7,038.3 

Total liabilities  242,330.6 
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35. Operating Segments (Cont’d)

PROFORMA GROUP

 Year ended 30th June 2014

Non-Banking Other

GROUP Banking Financial Investments Eliminations

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Income:

External gross income 17,711.0 17,212.6 973.6 182.7 (657.9)

Expenses (10,726.4) (10,288.8) (561.9) (194.5) 318.8

Operating profit before impairment 6,984.6 6,923.8 411.7 (11.8) (339.1)

Net impairment of financial assets (2,039.1) (1,985.0) (54.1)  -    -   

Operating profit 4,945.5 4,938.8 357.6 (11.8) (339.1)

Share of profit of associates 540.2 412.5 0.8 126.9  -   

Profit before tax 5,485.7 5,351.3 358.4 115.1 (339.1)

Income tax expense (1,032.6)

Profit for the year 4,453.1

Other segment items:

Segment assets 232,526.2 235,231.0 5,980.5 946.5 (9,631.8)

Investments in associates 7,223.3 3,592.8 14.5 3,631.9 (15.9)

Goodwill and other intangible assets 911.2

Deferred tax assets 225.7

Total assets 240,886.4

Segment liabilities 201,517.7 201,136.0 4,995.6 1,075.2 (5,689.1)

Unallocated liabilities 6,664.4

Total liabilities 208,182.1
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35. Operating Segments (Cont’d)

PROFORMA GROUP

 Year ended 30th June 2013

Non-Banking Other

GROUP Banking Financial Investments Eliminations

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Income:

External gross income  16,156.8  15,690.1  697.3  152.6  (383.2)

Expenses  (10,036.3)  (9,618.0)  (532.3)  (181.6)  295.6 

Operating profit before impairment  6,120.5  6,072.1  165.0  (29.0)  (87.6)

Net impairment of financial assets  (1,081.0)  (1,076.8)  (4.2)  -    -   

Operating profit  5,039.5  4,995.3  160.8  (29.0)  (87.6)

Share of profit of associates  257.3  236.5  2.0  18.8  -   

Profit before tax  5,296.8  5,231.8  162.8  (10.2)  (87.6)

Income tax expense  (917.9)

Profit for the year  4,378.9 

Other segment items:

Segment assets  208,639.8  208,307.4  4,957.1  840.2  (5,464.9)

Investments in associates  6,686.1  3,221.2  13.7  3,469.5  (18.3)

Goodwill and other intangible assets  977.8 

Deferred tax assets  223.9 

Total assets  216,527.6 

Segment liabilities  185,217.2  184,799.2  4,159.0  1,040.3  (4,781.3)

Unallocated liabilities  1,183.0 

Total liabilities  186,400.2 
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35. Operating Segments (Cont’d)

 Year ended 30th June 2015

GROUP

RS'M

External gross income:

Banking  18,028.2 

Non-Banking Financial  1,032.2 

Other Investments  298.4 

Eliminations  (670.8)

 18,688.0 

Net interest Net fee and Dividend Forex profit

GROUP income/(expenses) commissions income  and others

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Operating income:

Banking  12,714.4  8,051.1  3,096.6  284.4  1,282.3 

Non-Banking Financial  736.0  141.3  437.5  51.6  105.6 

Other Investments  243.6  (38.2)  (7.9)  3.3  286.4 

Eliminations  (479.8)  -    (161.8)  (253.1)  (64.9)

 13,214.2  8,154.2  3,364.4  86.2  1,609.4 

Segment assets  242,202.8  236,828.2  5,374.6 

Investments in associates  7,254.6 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  840.4 

Deferred tax assets  287.0 

Unallocated assets  29,428.0 

Total assets  280,012.8 
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35. Operating Segments (Cont’d)

PROFORMA GROUP

 Year ended 30th June 2014

GROUP

RS'M

External gross income:

Banking  17,212.6 

Non-Banking Financial  973.6 

Other Investments  182.7 

Eliminations  (657.9)

 17,711.0 

Net interest Net fee and Dividend Forex profit

GROUP income commissions income  and others

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Operating income:

Banking  11,915.3  7,170.4  2,634.7  359.2  1,751.0 

Non-Banking Financial  664.4  85.9  353.9  47.4  177.2 

Other Investments  174.2  -    -    -    174.2 

Eliminations  (479.0)  -    (100.7)  (345.5)  (32.8)

 12,274.9  7,256.3  2,887.9  61.1  2,069.6 

Segment assets  205,542.0  201,405.9  4,136.1 

Investments in associates  7,223.3 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  911.2 

Deferred tax assets  225.7 

Unallocated assets  26,984.2 

Total assets  240,886.4 
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35. Operating Segments (Cont’d)

PROFORMA GROUP

 Year ended 30th June 2013

GROUP

RS'M

External gross income:

Banking  15,690.1 

Non-Banking Financial  697.3 

Other Investments  152.6 

Eliminations  (383.2)

 16,156.8 

Net interest Net fee and Dividend Forex profit

GROUP income commissions income  and others

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M RS'M

Operating income:

Banking  10,701.7  6,975.6  2,420.1  91.7  1,214.3 

Non-Banking Financial  406.6  71.5  293.9  29.7  11.5 

Other Investments  144.1  -    8.9  -    135.2 

Eliminations  (229.0)  -    (93.5)  (84.3)  (51.2)

 11,023.4  7,047.1  2,629.4  37.1  1,309.8 

Segment assets  184,003.9  180,054.2  3,949.7 

Investments in associates  6,686.1 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  977.8 

Deferred tax assets  223.9 

Unallocated assets  24,635.9 

Total assets  216,527.6 
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36. Related Party Transactions 

(a) The Group

Associated

companies

Directors and Key

Management

Personnel

 Enterprises in which 

Directors and Key

Management Personnel 

have significant interest 

 Defined benefit

plan

RS'M RS'M RS'M RS’M
Loans and Advances
Balance at year end:
30th June 2014  2,704.1  70.4  614.5  -   
30th June 2015  3,217.0  73.7  616.5  -   

Leases receivable
Balance at year end:
30th June 2013 (proforma)  -    -    0.4 -
30th June 2014  -    -    - -
30th June 2015  -    -    0.6  -

Deposits
Balance at year end:
30th June 2013 (proforma)  512.7  177.8  90.7  746.7 
30th June 2014  457.8  210.1  25.9  705.2 
30th June 2015  170.3  241.3  41.6  664.3 

Amounts due from
Balance at year end:
30th June 2013 (proforma)  3.4  -    -    -   
30th June 2014  4.1  -    -    -   
30th June 2015  3.9  -    -    -   

Off Balance sheet items
Balance at year end:
30th June 2013 (proforma)  -    0.3  337.6  -   
30th June 2014  -    -    10.5  -   
30th June 2015  -    -    5.4  -   

Interest income
For the year ended:
30th June 2013 (proforma)  151.0  1.8  2.7  -   
30th June 2014  135.6  2.4  8.4  -   
30th June 2015  106.8  2.6  10.2  -   

Interest expense
For the year ended:
30th June 2013 (proforma)  11.5  3.2  1.1  25.3 
30th June 2014 (proforma)  6.8  3.3  1.1  24.7 
30th June 2015  4.2  2.8  0.4  22.5 

Other income
For the year ended:
30th June 2013 (proforma)  9.6  0.4  3.5  -   
30th June 2014 (proforma)  10.0  0.5  3.6  -   
30th June 2015  9.6  0.5  0.5  2.6 

All the above related party transactions were carried out at least under market terms and conditions with the exception of loan to Key Management

  Personnel who benefited from preferential rates as applicable to staff. 



224 MCB Group Limited Annual Report 2015

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30th June 2015

36. Related Party Transactions (Cont’d)

(a) The Group (Cont’d)

  The figure for “other income” from Associated Companies includes an element, representing management fees charged to associated 

companies in respect of salaries, notional rental of office space and provision of technical, administrative and other assistance to local Group 

companies. It also includes an amount of Rs 3.9 M, Rs 4.1M and Rs 4.1 M respectively for 2015, 2014, and 2013 in respect of management fees 

charged to BFCOI.

  IT and Systems support to two of the above companies is provided by BFCOI who has claimed EUR 49,910 and EUR 276,950 from MCB 

Seychelles Ltd and MCB Madagascar SA respectively. These amounts have been charged to our subsidiaries’ profit or loss and consolidated in 

Group non-interest expense.         

                                                                                   

  During the year, 7,588 share options were exercised by key management personnel, including executive directors, for an amount of Rs 1.5 M 

(FY2013/2014 50,110 share options for Rs 9.7M, FY 2012/13: 55,587 share options for Rs 9.1M).

(b) The Company
In addition to the amounts disclosed in (a) above, the following information relate to subsidiaries and associate of the Company:  

(i) Balances as at 30th June: Amount owed by Amount owed to

Subsidiaries RS'M RS'M

2014 862.1 16.7
2015  1,138.0  12.8

(ii) Income and expenses for the period ended:
Dividend income Other expense

Subsidiaries RS'M RS'M

30th June 2014  3,198.3  3.5 

30th June 2015  1,887.8  13.2 

Associate

30th June 2015 0.1 -

(c) Key Management Personnel compensation
                                  PROFORMA

GROUP GROUP COMPANY
2015 2014  2013  2015  2014 
RS'M  RS'M  RS'M  RS'M RS'M

Remuneration and other benefits relating to Key Management 

Personnel, including Directors, were as follows:

Salaries and short term employee benefits  154.8  143.0  126.2  38.3  6.6 
Post employment benefits  18.4  12.7  15.4  4.2  1.0 

 173.2  155.7  141.6  42.5  7.6 
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37.   SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT (“the Scheme”)

(a)  Following the resolutions voted by the shareholders of The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited (“MCB”) at the Special Meeting held in 
December 2013, The Supreme Court (Bankruptcy Division) has approved the Scheme of Arrangement (the “Scheme”) on 17th February 
2014 under Sections 261 to 264 of the Companies Act 2001, effective on 21st February 2014. Accordingly, the shareholders of The Mauritius 
Commercial Bank Limited (“MCB”)  exchanged their ordinary shares held in MCB for ordinary shares in MCB Group Limited (“MCBG”) on a 
1:1 ratio. Following the above exchange MCBG exchanged all its shares held in MCB for ordinary shares in MCB Investment Holding Limited  
(MCBIH).

  MCB Investment Holding Limited (MCBIH) received by way of a distribution in specie from MCB, the shares held by the latter in the non-
banking subsidiaries and associates of the Group for a total value of Rs. 2,339,811,823.44. These shares were immediately redistributed by way 
of distribution in specie from MCBIH to MCBG, the company for a similar amount.

Group 2014
 RS'M

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed :  
Cash and cash equivalents  19,164.2 
Derivative financial instruments  183.7 
Loan and advances  158,786.3 
Investment securities  32,128.7 
Investments in associates  6,900.7 
Goodwill and intangible assets  832.2 
Property, plant and equipment  6,068.0 
Deferred tax assets  128.7 
Other assets  14,648.9 
Total assets  238,841.4 

Deposits  183,945.1 
Derivative financial instruments  157.6 
Other borrowed funds  9,241.4 
Subordinated liabilities  5,404.6 
Current tax liabilities  293.1 
Deferred tax liabilities  42.8 
Other liabilities  6,728.5 
Total liabilities  205,813.1 

Total identifiable net assets  33,028.3 
Non-controlling interests  (1,725.9)

 31,302.4 

Represented by:  
Equity attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent 31,302.4

 
Company

Investments in subsidiaries and associates following the Scheme of Arrangement and distribution in specie are as follows:  

Through the Scheme of Arrangement:
Investment in MCBIH 2,379.6
Dividend in specie:  
Investment in subsidiaries: Non-banking financial 2,207.5
                                     : Other investments 120.3

2,327.8
Investment in associate   : Non-banking financial 12.0

 2,339.8 
4,719.4

(b) Net cash and cash equivalents acquired through the Scheme of Arrangement is made up of:
Cash and cash equivalents  19,164.2 
Other borrowed funds  (674.8)

 18,489.4 
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38. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

  Our subsidiary company, The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited has on 18th March 2015, subject to regulatory approval, entered into an 
investment agreement with Societe Generale whereby the latter would subscribe to additional capital in MCB Mozambique SA.  Completion 
on this agreement will result in MCB’s stake in that company being reduced to a minority shareholding. 

 The financial effect is not expected to be significant on the Group’s results.
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JIOI 2015

2015 in retrospect

MCB Group was the top sponsor of the 2015 Indian

Ocean Island Games held in Reunion Island. It also

supported the national teams of Mauritius, Seychelles

and Maldives
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Make A Wish
Grand River South East Government School won the 2015 edition 

of Make A Wish and will dedicate a classroom to the rich history 

of their village

Innoved
Keats College was one of the winners of 

the INNOVED 2015 competition fostering 

innovation in education with a redesigned 

laptop bag

MCB Foundation 
Scholarship 
MCB Foundation Scholarship 2015 

was awarded to Omar Auleear

2015 in retrospect

Bubka
Pole vault legend Sergei Bubka was at MCB Saint Jean to boost the morale 

of Mauritian athletes participating at the 2015 Indian Ocean Island Games
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JUICE Casting
After casting more than 500 persons 

invited via MCB’s Facebook page, MCB 

Cards chose 12 persons to promote the 

new version of Juice

Duo
40 school leavers were recruited through 

Duo, the dual traineeship programme 

run in collaboration with the Mauritius 

Chamber of Commerce & Industry 

and the Ministry of Labour, Industrial 

Relations, Employment and Training

SEMYIA
Loreto College Curepipe won the first 

prize of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius 

Young Investor Award
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Rodrigues Scholarship
MCB Rodrigues Scholarship: The 2015 Rodrigues Scholarship was 

awarded to Jean Westley Collet

Refill Winners
Thanks to MCB Refill, three customers won an all-inclusive 

trip to the Indian Ocean Island Games in Réunion

Ginola 
Former English Premier League 

star and current Canal + 

broadcaster David Ginola coached 

the kids of the MCB Football 

Academy at Poste de Flacq

2015 in retrospect

Finlease
Finlease was a major attraction at the annual Engen Motor Show
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MCBFA Rodrigues
A new football acaemy was opened at 

Patate Théophile in Rodrigues

MCB Tour 
Paul Wesselingh successfully defended 

his title in the MCB Tour Championship, 

overcoming Barry Lane in an epic finale

MCB Rodrigues 25 years
MCB celebrated 25 years of presence in Rodrigues with a fun run 

and a road relay
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Administrative information

MCB GROUP LTD
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 208 0248
Email: contact@mcbgroup.mu
Website: www.mcbgroup.com

Banking

THE MAURITIUS COMMERCIAL BANK LTD
HEAD OFFICE – PORT LOUIS
PO Box 52 – 9-15, Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 208 7054
Swift Code: MCBLMUMU
Email: contact@mcb.mu
Website: www.mcb.mu

F

PARIS – FRANCE
29 Boulevard Haussmann – 75009 Paris
Tel: (33) 1 41 45 95 95 – Fax: (33) 1 41 45 99 88
Email: fdesvaux@bfcoi.com

JOHANNESBURG – SOUTH AFRICA
th Floor, The Firs 

Corner Cradock & Biermann Avenues
Rosebank – Johannesburg 2116
Tel: (27) 11 759 4099 
Email: jean.rey@mcb.mu 

NAIROBI - KENYA
Bloom Centre – 7th Floor, KMA Centre 
Upper Hill – Nairobi
Tel: (254) 020 493 1000 
Email: jan.morren@mcb.mu

Foreign banking subsidiaries

THE MAURITIUS COMMERCIAL BANK 
(MADAGASCAR) SA
HEAD OFFICE – ANTANANARIVO
Rue Solombavambahoaka Frantsay 77 – Antsahavola
BP 197 – Antananarivo 101 
Republic of Madagascar
Tel: (261) 20 22 272 62 – Fax: (261) 20 22 322 82 
Swift Code: MCBLMGMG
Email: contact@mcbmadagascar.com  
Website: www.mcbmadagascar.com

THE MAURITIUS COMMERCIAL BANK 
(MALDIVES) PRIVATE LTD
H. Sifa Building, Boduthakurufaanu Magu – Malé
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (960) 330 5656 – Fax: (960) 330 5757
Swift Code: MCBLMVMV
Email: contact@mcbmaldives.com
Website: www.mcbmaldives.com

THE MAURITIUS COMMERCIAL BANK 
(MOÇAMBIQUE) SA 
HEAD OFFICE – MAPUTO
400 Ave Friedrich Engels – CP 1568 – Maputo 
Republic of Mozambique
Tel: (258) 21 49 99 00 and (258) 21 48 19 00 
Fax: (258) 21 49 86 75
Swift Code: MCBLMZMA
Email: contact@mcbmozambique.com
Website: www.mcbmozambique.com

THE MAURITIUS COMMERCIAL BANK
(SEYCHELLES) LTD
HEAD OFFICE – VICTORIA
Caravelle House – Manglier Street
PO Box 122 – Victoria – Mahé 
Republic of Seychelles
Tel: (248) 4284 555 – Fax: (248) 4322 676
Swift Code: MCBLSCSC
Email: contact@mcbseychelles.com
Website: www.mcbseychelles.com
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Foreign banking associate

BANQUE FRANÇAISE COMMERCIALE 
OCÉAN INDIEN

HEAD OFFICE – RÉUNION
60 Rue Alexis de Villeneuve – BP 323 – 97466 Saint Denis
Tel: (262) 262 40 55 55 – Fax: (262) 262 21 21 47
Swift Code: BFCORERX
Email: reunion@bfcoi.com
Website: www.bfcoi.com

PARIS BRANCH – FRANCE
29 Boulevard Haussmann – 75009 Paris
Tel: (33) 1 41 45 95 95 – Fax: (33) 1 41 45 99 88
Swift Code: BFCOFRPP
Email: paris@bfcoi.com
Website: www.bfcoi.com

MAYOTTE
Route de l’Agriculture – BP 222 – 97600 Mamoudzou
Tel: (269) 269 61 10 91 – Fax: (269) 269 61 17 40
Swift Code: BFCOYTYT
Email: mayotte@bfcoi.com
Website: www.bfcoi.com

MCB CAPITAL MARKETS LTD
9th Floor MCB Centre
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 213 5961
Email: mcbis@mcbcm.mu 
Website: www.mcbcapitalmarkets.mu

MCB INVESTMENT SERVICES LTD
9th Floor MCB Centre
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 213 5961
Email: mcbis@mcbcm.mu
Website: www.mcbcapitalmarkets.mu

MCB REGISTRY & SECURITIES LTD
9th Floor MCB Centre
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 208 1167
Email: mcbrs@mcbcm.mu
Website: www.mcbcapitalmarkets.mu

MCB STOCKBROKERS LTD
9th Floor MCB Centre
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 208 9210
Email: mcbsb@mcbcm.mu
Website: www.mcbcapitalmarkets.mu

MCB CAPITAL PARTNERS LTD
9th Floor MCB Centre
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 213 5961
Email: mcbcp@mcbcm.mu
Website: www.mcbcapitalmarkets.mu

MCB INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CO. LTD
9th Floor MCB Centre
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 210 5260
Email: mcbim@mcbcm.mu
Website: www.mcbcapitalmarkets.mu

MCB EQUITY FUND LTD
c/o MCB Capital Partners Ltd
9th Floor MCB Centre
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 213 5961
Email: mcbcp@mcbcm.mu
Website: www.mcbcapitalmarkets.mu
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* Local associate

CAUDAN DEVELOPMENT LTD*

8th Floor Dias Pier Building
Le Caudan Waterfront
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 211 9430 – Fax: (230) 211 0239
Email: corporate@promotionanddevelopment.com 
Website: www.caudan.com

INTERNATIONAL CARD PROCESSING
SERVICES LTD
Rue Anse Courtois
Les Pailles – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 405 0850 – Fax: (230) 286 0232
Email: roshan.kulpoo@icps.mu

MCB CONSULTING SERVICES LTD
3rd Floor Harbour Front Building
President John Kennedy Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 7284 – Fax: (230) 208 7427
Email: mcbcsadmin@mcbcs.mu
Website: www.mcbconsulting.mu

MCB FORWARD FOUNDATION
3rd Floor Harbour Front Building
President John Kennedy Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 
Email: mcb.forwardfoundation@mcb.mu

BLUE PENNY MUSEUM
Le Caudan Waterfront
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 210 8176 and (230) 210 9204
Fax: (230) 210 9243
Email: shop@bluepennymuseum.mu
Website: www.bluepennymuseum.com

MCB FACTORS LTD
MCB Centre
9-15 Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5701 – Fax: (230) 208 5082
Email: mcb.factors@mcb.mu
Website: www.mcbfactors.mu

CREDIT GUARANTEE INSURANCE CO. LTD* 
Suite 255 – Barkly Wharf
Le Caudan Waterfront 
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 213 2741 – Fax: (230) 213 2689
Email: customer.relations@cgi.mu 
Website: www.cgi.mu

FINLEASE COMPANY LTD
5th Floor Travel House
Corner Royal & Sir William Newton Streets
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5504 – Fax: (230) 208 9056

Other investments

FINCORP INVESTMENT LTD
MCB Centre
9-15 Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 208 0248

PROMOTION AND DEVELOPMENT LTD*

8th Floor Dias Pier Building
Le Caudan Waterfront
Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius
Tel: (230) 211 9430 – Fax: (230) 211 0239
Email: corporate@promotionanddevelopment.com
Website: www.promotionanddevelopment.com

Administrative information
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Key contact information

SHAREHOLDER AND NOTEHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Registrar and Transfer Agent
MCB Registry & Securities Ltd

Sir William Newton Street

Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius

Tel: (230) 202 5000 – Fax: (230) 208 1167

Email: mcbrs@mcbcm.mu

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Sir William Newton Street

Port Louis – Republic of Mauritius

Tel: (230) 202 5134 and (230) 202 5558

Email: investorrelations@mcbgroup.mu
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